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The Management Body of The Cyprus Development Bank Public Company Limited (the “Bank”) presents 

to the members its annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Bank and its 

subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiary companies, which remained unchanged from last 

year, are the provision of banking and financial services. 

All subsidiary companies are set out in notes 22 and 23 to the financial statements.   

FINANCIAL RESULTS  

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 32. 

The Group, after provisions for impairment has reported a pre-tax loss from continuing operations of 

€1,3 million for 2018 compared to a loss of €2,3 million in 2017.  After losses of €0,2 million from 

discontinued operations, relating to the Russian subsidiary JSC cdbbank, and taxes of €0,7 million, the 

Group reported after tax losses of €2,2 million for 2018 compared to losses of €4,1 million reported in 

2017. 

The increase of net interest income compared to last year is attributed to a change in the Bank’s policy 

regarding interest recognition implemented during 2018 so as to be in line with IFRS 9.  This change in 

methodology does not affect in any way the overall profitability of the Bank or the Group because it is 

only a change in presentation which reduces interest suspension and increases the impairment charge.  

When adjusted like for like, net interest income of €9,9 million for 2018 is 5% below 2017 mainly 

because of the lower loan yields and the contraction of the loan portfolio.   

Net fee income for 2018 amounts to €2,9m, showing an increase of 9% compared to 2017 (€2,6m). 

Group staff costs of €6,8 million for 2018 increased by 12% compared to €6,0 million in 2017, mainly 

due to the effect of (a) annual increments estimated at c 5%; (b) termination benefits making up 4% of 

the increase and (c) new recruitments making up 3% of the increase.  

Other operating expenses for 2018 amounted to €3,4 million, 18% lower compared to €4,2 million for 

2017.  The decrease is mainly attributed to the increased costs of 2017 as a result of the administrative 

fine of €0,6 million imposed by the Central Bank of Cyprus.   

Provisions for impairments during 2018 amounted to €4,4 million, 4% below the provision charge of 

€4,6 million reported in 2017.   

The Group’s gross loan portfolio as at 31 December 2018 amounted to €313 million decreasing slightly 

by 2% compared to 31 December 2017.  On a net basis the loan portfolio amounted to €246 million on 

31 December 2018, a decrease of 4% compared to 31 December 2017. 

Customer deposits increased by 7% to €516 million at 31 December 2018 compared to €481 million at 

31 December 2017. Customer deposits accounted for 88% of total assets at 31 December 2018 and 

Loan to Deposit ratio stood at 48% at 31 December 2018.  
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FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued) 

During the year the Bank continued its efforts towards improving the quality of the loan portfolio.  At 31 

December 2018 NPEs amounted to €125 million a decrease of 24% compared to €165 million at 31 

December 2017.  The NPE ratio stood at 40% at 31 December 2018 a decrease of 12 percentage points 

from 52% at 31 December 2017.  The NPEs provision coverage ratio stood at 53% at 31 December 2018, 

a considerable increase compared to 38% at 31 December 2017.   

The Bank remains committed in pursuing the further decrease of NPEs, by deploying the entire toolkit 

available under current legislation, namely restructurings, amicable settlements, legal measures, debt-

for-asset swaps and foreclosures. At the same time the Group remains focused to growth through new 

lending and maintaining and strengthening client relationships. 

GOING CONCERN 

The Directors have made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 

period of 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements.  The conditions that 

existed during 2018, the developments up to the date of approval of these financial statements and 

Management’s projections have been considered by the Directors in the going concern assessment and 

they believe that the Group and the Bank are taking all necessary measures to ensure their viability and 

the development of their business in the current economic environment. 

The Directors, in making their assessment, have paid particular attention to the regulatory 

requirements relating to capital and liquidity, the financial performance of the Group and the risks 

emanating from the environment in which the Group operates and consider that the going concern 

principle is appropriate. The going concern assessment is presented in note 2.1 to the financial 

statements. 

DIVIDEND 

The Management Body does not recommend the payment of dividend. 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

As a financial organisation the Group is exposed to risks, the most significant of which are credit risk, 

market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk.  The Group monitors and manages these risks through 

the Risk Management unit, the Bank's ALCO committee, the Management Body's Risk Management 

Committee and the Management Body. Description of the Group's risk management framework is set 

out in note 38 to the financial statements. 

SHARE CAPITAL 

On 12 March 2019 an Extraordinary General Meeting of the shareholders of the Bank was held, 

whereby a resolution for an increase of the Bank’s Capital by €4,3 million was approved.  On 22 March 

2019 the Bank’s shareholders subscribed to an amount of €3,3 million towards the Bank’s capital.  The 

remaining unallocated capital of €1 million was committed and subscribed through a private placement 

by a local institutional investor on 12 June 2019.  As a result of the share capital increase the Bank’s 

capital position is now strengthened.  The share capital composition after the increase is set out in note 

33 to the financial statements. 
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SHAREHOLDERS 

Following clearances obtained from the authorities, namely the European Central Bank and the Cyprus 

Securities and Exchange Commission, as well as the rejection on 30 April 2018 by the District Court of 

Nicosia, of the application of shareholders Loramina Trading Ltd and Dayarona Trading Ltd for an 

interim order restraining the transfer of their 9.728.869 Class B shares to other shareholders, the Bank 

proceeded with the registration of the transfer of 8.755.982 Class B shares of Loramina Trading Ltd and 

972.887 Class B shares of Dayarona Trading Ltd to the existing shareholders Path Holdings Ltd, Leon 

Investment S.A., Constantinos Shiacolas, Delphis Investments Ltd, Leonidas Ioannou, Intergaz Ltd, 

Panikos Katsouris and Antonios Yerolemou.   

The shareholding structure as at 31 December 2018 is presented in note 40 to the financial statements. 

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

For 2018 the Group was required to maintain on a consolidated basis, a minimum CET 1 ratio of 

11,575% (12,20% from 1 January 2019) and an overall capital adequacy ratio of 15,075% (15,70% from 1 

January 2019).   

The Group's CET 1 ratio stood at 12,34% at 31 December 2018 and was within the minimum 

requirement whereas the overall capital ratio at 31 December 2018 stood at 13,95% and was below the 

minimum total capital requirement of 15,075% for 2018.  The Directors and Management are closely 

monitoring and managing the capital of the Group and take actions to optimize capital usage and bring 

ratios above minimum requirements.  To this end, Management developed a Financial and Capital Plan 

(the ‘Plan’), which was approved by the Management Body in March 2019.  The main objectives of the 

Plan were to enhance the Group’s capital adequacy through a rights issue and a number of 

management actions to ensure that it maintains sufficient resources and capital to support its current 

activities.  In line with the Plan, the Group is expected to continue its de-risking strategy and efforts to 

successfully resolve the residual NPEs.  The IFRS 9 impact on a fully phased-in basis is also considered 

within the Plan.   

On 12 March 2019, an Extraordinary General Meeting of the shareholders of the Bank was held, 

whereby a resolution for an increase of the Bank’s Capital by €4,3 million was approved.  On 22 March 

2019, the Bank’s shareholders subscribed to an amount of €3,3 million towards the Bank’s capital.  The 

remaining unallocated capital of €1 million was committed and subscribed through a private placement 

by a local institutional investor on 12 June 2019.   

Currently the Group is ahead of its Capital Plan with better than anticipated financial performance 

which may be attributed to an improved macroeconomic and legal environment regarding NPEs which 

facilitates the resolution of legacy assets as well as the lower than anticipated losses from discontinued 

operations. The combined effect of the 2019 capital increase and the profitability of the Group to this 

date, have contributed towards the improvement of the Group’s overall capital adequacy ratio to c. 

16,7%.   

Details on capital management are shown in note 38.5 to the financial statements. 

STRATEGY AND PRIORITIES 

The Group has set its strategic priorities for 2019 which focus on increasing its operating profitability 

through the prudent increase of its loan portfolio, the strengthening and enhancement of its 

investment banking operations and the diversification of income streams by optimising its fee income 
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STRATEGY AND PRIORITIES (continued)  

from related activities.  At the same time the reduction of NPEs and improvement of the Bank’s loan 

portfolio through the implementation of sustainable restructuring solutions remains a top priority for 

the Group.  The Group will also focus on the provision of quality assets management and investment 

and advisory services, through its subsidiary company Global Capital Securities and Financial Services 

Ltd. 

The Group continues to manage its deposit base prudently in order to maintain healthy liquidity ratios 

and at the same time manage the cost of funding taking advantage of the improved macro-economic 

conditions and the increased customer confidence towards the banking sector.  
 

The Group places emphasis on ensuring the effectiveness of its risk management and compliance 

frameworks through prudent risk policies and measures, focusing on the growth of a healthy loans and 

advances portfolio and expanding its good client base. 

The Group continues to invest in upgrading its technologies and systems that support the 

implementation of its business strategy and its digital transformation objectives. The upgrade of the 

core banking system, the introduction of debit and credit cards as well as enhancement of digital 

channels and compliance with PSD2 requirements, have progressed significantly and remain amongst 

CDB’s top priorities. 

In line to the stated strategy of disengaging from its Russian operations, the Bank proceeded in October 

2018 with an application to Central Bank of Russian Federation (CBRF) for a voluntary wind up, which 

was approved in December 2018.  The wind-up process has progressed significantly and is expected to 

be completed within the third quarter of 2019.   

BRANCHES 

The Bank carries out its activities through its head office and two business centres, one in Nicosia and 

one in Limassol. 

MANAGEMENT BODY 

The names of the members of the Management Body (MB) as at the date of this report (alternatively 

referred to as “Directors” and “Board of Directors” in the financial statements) are set out on page 3. 

Directors George Loizou, Neoclis Nicolaou, Andreas Loizou, Menelaos Shiacolas, George Pavlides, Costas 

Argyrides and Andri Georghiou served on the Management Body throughout the year 2018.  Mr. 

Kyriacos Christofi, the Chairman of the Management Body, resigned on 16 November 2018.  Mr. George 

Loizou was elected as Acting Chairman on 1 December 2018.  Mrs. Andri Georghiou resigned from the 

Management Body on 31 December 2018 and Mr. Sergey Novikov resigned on 26 May 2018.   

Messrs. Wahid Chammas and Costas Poullis were appointed members of the Management Body on 26 

June 2018 and 26 February 2019 respectively.  Messrs Avgoustinos Papathomas and Christodoulos 

Plastiras were appointed members of the Management Body on 7 May 2019.   

The members of the Management Body express their thanks to Messrs. Kyriacos Christofi, Andri 

Georghiou and Sergey Novikov for their valuable contribution. 
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MANAGEMENT BODY (continued) 

In accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association, at the Bank's Annual General Meeting for 2019, 

one third of the directors serving (those with longest service since their last appointment) will be due 

for retirement and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. 
  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

1.   Introduction 

Good Corporate Governance safeguards an organization’s long term viability and is a key factor for the 

achievement of shareholder value maximization. An effective Corporate Governance framework 

facilitates communication between the key stakeholders of the organization and ensures strategic 

objectives are achieved. 

Another key objective of the Corporate Governance Framework is to ensure compliance with the 

applicable legal and regulatory requirements. The Group is subject to the Directive on Governance and 

Management Arrangements of the Central Bank of Cyprus (the ‘CBC Governance Directive’).  

Details on how the Group has applied the provisions of the CBC Corporate Governance Directive are 

provided in this report.  

The Board aims to adopt a robust corporate governance framework with clearly defined lines of 

responsibility which promote segregation of duties and limit conflicts of interest as well as effective 

processes to identify, manage, monitor, control and report the risks to which the Group is or might be 

exposed to. In this respect, the Group has adopted the three lines of defence framework for risk 

management and risk oversight. The Board has delegated the authority to committees of the Board to 

support its oversight of risk and control. The Committees are the Audit Committee (‘the AC’), the Risk 

Committee (‘the RC’), the Nominations and Remunerations Committee (‘the NRC’), the Credit 

Committee (‘the CC’), and the Technology Committee (‘the TC’). Details of these Committees are 

provided in the sections to follow. The Chairperson of each committee reports on matters discussed 

during committee meetings to the subsequent scheduled meetings of the Board. The Committees terms 

of reference are available on the Bank’s website www.cdb.com.cy. 

The Group is currently in the process of reviewing its Corporate Governance Framework as part of its 

monitoring and review process.  

2.   Management Body  

The authorities of the members of the Board derive from the Articles of Association of the Bank and are 

specified by Banking Laws and the Directives of the CBC.  

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the management maintains an appropriate system of internal 

controls which provides assurance for effective operations, internal controls and compliance with rules 

and regulations. It has the overall responsibility for the Group and approves and oversees the 

implementation of the Group’s strategic objectives, risk strategy and internal governance.  

2.1.  The role of the Management Body 

The Board is the management body of the Group and it has the primary responsibility for setting the 

strategic objectives of the Group and to ensure that the necessary human and financial resources are in 

place to meet the strategic and operational objectives.  
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The Board has the overall responsibility for:  

• Setting and overseeing the values and standards of the Group 

• Setting and overseeing the strategy of the Group 

• Setting and overseeing the business model of the Group  

• Maintaining an effective system of controls to ensure the effective operation of the Group and 

compliance with applicable laws and regulations.  

• Setting the framework and policy for effective governance and oversight of the Group.  

• Monitoring business performance against strategic objectives, risk appetite and expected 

standards. 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Board and Committees composition and organization are 

appropriate.  

The Board is a decision - making body for all matters of importance because of their strategic, financial 

or reputational implications or consequences. Specific decisions and matters are reserved for approval 

by the Board. Such matters include, inter alia, setting of the Group’s strategy and targets, approval of 

the annual budget, approval of capital and funding plans, decisions on important matters and material 

transactions, transactions with Board Members and Senior Executives or Shareholders, the 

appointment, replacement, transfer and removal from office of the heads of internal control functions, 

matters concerning the composition and organization of the Board and Board Committees, governance 

matters.  

In addition, the Board is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the principal risks the 

Group is willing to assume in achieving its strategic objectives and ensuring the maintenance of an 

effective risk management and oversight framework across the Group.  

Furthermore, the Board has the responsibility to present a fair, balanced and understandable 

assessment of the Group’s position and prospects, including in relation to the annual financial 

statements, other public reports and reports required by regulators and by law.  

2.1.1.  Information Support  

The Board meets on a regular basis and has a formal schedule of matters of consideration which is 

reviewed annually. The Board receives regular reports and presentations from the Group Chief 

Executive Officer (‘the Group CEO’) and other senior management on strategy and developments in the 

operations of the Group. The Board is regularly provided with reports on the Group’s risk exposure, risk 

management, credit exposures and the Group’s loan portfolio, NPE management, liquidity, financial 

position as well as compliance issues.  

2.2.  Composition of the Management Body  

As at 31 December 2018 the Board comprised of seven Directors: one executive Director and six 

non-executives. In November 2018, Mr. Kyriakos Christofi, the Group’s Chairman resigned after having 

completed a service of nine consecutive years on the Board.  Board elected Mr. George Loizou as Acting 

Chairman of the Group. In December 2018, the Board appointed three independent non-executive 

Directors, pending approval by CBC.  

The names and brief biographical details including each Director’s background, experience and status 
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are set out in section 4 below. 

The NRC is responsible to ensure that the composition of the Board is appropriate in terms of structure, 

size, tenure, skills, knowledge, experience and diversity (e.g. age, gender, etc) and that the Board and its 

Committees comprise of Directors who have a broad perception of the Group’s activities and the risks 

associated with them.   

The Members of the Board are required to confirm, on an annual basis, any changes in their 

circumstances in respect of their compliance with the CBC Directive on the Assessment of the Fitness & 

Probity of the members of the management body and managers of authorized credit institutions (‘CBC 

Fitness & Probity Directive’). 

Non- Executive Directors are not employees of the Group and do not participate in the daily 

management of the Group. They are responsible for monitoring executive activity and contributing to 

the development of strategy. Their role is to constructively challenge the Group’s existing strategy, 

contribute to the development of new strategies, oversee and challenge the performance of senior 

management in meeting agreed targets and objectives as well as to satisfy themselves on the integrity 

of financial information and that the systems of internal controls, compliance and risk management are 

robust.   

2.2.1.  Meetings of the Management Body 

During 2018 the Board held 16 meetings. Details on the number of meetings of the Board and its 

committees and attendance of individual Directors are set out below. 

 

 MB Risk Audit NRC Credit Technology 

Total Meetings - 2018  16   5   8   9   11   1  

Kyriacos Christofi  14         8        

Neoclis Nicolaou  14   4      6   11   1  

Andreas Loizou  13   3   7      8     

George Loizou  15   4     8   9   1  

Sergey Novikov  4   2   2      0     

George Pavlides  14      8           

Melis Shiacolas  12   3      7   9     

Andri Georghiou  12         5   10   1  

Costas Argyrides  16               1  

Wahid Chammas  5            4     

 
Mr. Sergey Novikov resigned on 26.5.2018  

Mr. Wahid Chammas was appointed on 26.6.2018 

Ms. Andri Georghiou resigned on 31.12.2018 
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Agendas and papers are circulated to each meeting and all members of the Board are informed in 

writing of forthcoming Board meetings to allow them sufficient time to review the relevant information 

and to enable them to fully discharge their duties.  

The Company Secretary is closely involved in preparing the schedule of all Board and committee 

meetings and the agendas of these meetings, in conjunction with the Chairman, ensuring that relevant 

information is circulated timely to all members of the Board.  

The Company Secretary’s responsibilities include facilitating the flow of information within the Board 

and its committees, between Senior Management and non-executive Directors and between Heads of 

internal control functions and non-executive Directors, as well as, facilitating the induction, 

development and evaluation of members of the Board. 

All Directors have access to the advice and support of the Company Secretary. Independent advice is 

also available to the Directors at the Group’s expense if and when required. Committees of the Board 

have similar access and are provided with sufficient resources to undertake their duties. All Directors 

have the benefit of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of legal actions against them.  

2.2.2.  Conflicts of interest 

The Group’s conflict of interest policy which also applies to Directors, sets out how conflicts of interest 

are to be identified, reported and managed to ensure that the Directors as well as all officers and 

employees of the Group, act at all times in the best interests of the Group. The policy also sets out their 

duty to avoid, manage and disclose actual, potential or perceived conflicts of interest. The policy is 

reviewed on a regular basis and is communicated throughout the Group. Related party transactions are 

disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements. 

2.2.3.  Time commitment  

The Group expects non-executive Directors to devote sufficient time to discharge their duties. Time 

devoted to the Group can vary considerably depending on Directors serving on Board committees.  

The NRC considers whether the potential Director is able to devote the requisite time and attention to 

the Group’s affairs prior to the Board’s approval of the individual’s appointment.  

The CBC Fitness and Probity Directive which incorporates the provisions on the management body of 

credit institutions in Article 91 of the European Capital Requirements Directive (‘CRD IV’), determines 

that a Director cannot hold more than one of the following combinations:  

• One executive directorship and two non-executive directorships 

• Four non-executive directorships 

Executive or non-executive directorships held within the same group, count as a single directorship. 

Directorships in organizations which do not pursue predominately commercial objectives do not count 

for the purpose of the above guidelines.  
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2.2.4.  Group Chairman 

The Chairman ensures the effective functioning of the Board on all aspects of its role including: 

• Providing leadership to the Board. 

• Ensuring that the Board determines the nature and extent of the significant risks the Group is 

willing to embrace in the implementation of its strategy. 

• Ensuring that the members of the Board have sufficient time to consider strategic and other 

critical issues and obtain answers to any questions or concerns they may have and are not faced 

with unrealistic deadlines for decision making. 

• Encouraging the active participation of members of the Board. 

• Ensuring conflicts of interests are disclosed and members abstain from participating in the 

decision making and voting on any matter on which they may have a conflict of interest. 

• Ensuring that adequate time is allowed for discussion of complex or contentious or strategic 

issues and, where appropriate, arranging for informal meetings beforehand to enable thorough 

preparation for the Board discussion. 

• Promoting high standards of corporate governance.  

During 2018 the Chairman of the Group resigned after having completed a service of nine consecutive 

years on the Board. Mr. George Loizou was elected by the Members as the Acting Chairman. The 

Chairman commits a substantial amount of time to the Group. There were no changes to the other 

significant commitments of the Chairman during the year ended 31 December 2018.  

2.2.5.  Group CEO 

The Group CEO is responsible: 

• To develop and present to the Board the strategy of the Group. 

• To execute the approved strategy. 

• To lead the senior management team in the day-to-day running of the business. 

• To make decisions on matters affecting the operations, performance and strategy of the 

Group’s business with the exception of those matters reserved for the Board. 

2.2.6.  Senior Independent Director 

The Senior Independent Director (‘SID’) is available to shareholders and Directors if they have concerns 

that are not resolved through normal communication channels. He provides support to the Chairman in 

delivering his objectives. He chairs a session of the non-executive Directors to assess the performance 

of the Chairman as part of the annual evaluation of Board performance provided for in the CBC 

Governance Directive. 

2.3.  Board Balance and Independence  

The CBC Governance Directive defines the minimum requirements for Board Members independence 

so that no individual or small group of individuals can dominate the Board’s decision-taking. 

The NRC and the Board consider the independence status of each Director on appointment. In addition, 

the independence status of each Director is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that the 

determination regarding independence remains appropriate. 
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In 2018 the Board considered the principles relating to independence contained in the CBC Fitness and 

Probity Directive and concluded that the status of each Director as determined remained appropriate. 

The status of each Director is presented in the biographical details in section 4 of this report. 

The Board considers that each non-executive Director brings independent challenge and judgement to 

the workings of the Board, through their character, objectivity and integrity. 

2.3.1.  Appointments to the Board 

The Board recognizes the need to identify the best qualified and available people to serve on the Board. 

It is responsible for the appointment of Directors. All appointments are made on merit against objective 

criteria (including skills and experience) with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. 

In assessing potential candidates, the Board considers in addition to the skills and experience required 

for the role, the ability of the candidate to devote sufficient time to the role as well as possible conflicts 

of interest. The assessment process and the due diligence process includes external checks of various 

publicly available sources.  

At the time of appointment non-executive Directors are provided with a letter setting out the terms of 

his/ her appointment, including the time commitment expected. Directors are required to devote 

adequate time to the business of the Group, which includes attendance at regular meetings, training 

sessions and briefings and preparation time for meetings. In addition, non-executive Directors are 

normally required to sit on at least one committee of the Board, which involves the commitment of 

additional time.  

2.3.2.  Directors inductions and ongoing development  

Induction programs, with particular emphasis on risk management and internal control systems are 

arranged for newly appointed Directors. The programs also include a series of meetings with senior 

executives and other Directors to enable new Directors to familiarize themselves with the business, 

management and governance structure including the function of the Board and the role of the 

committees.  

In addition, the Company Secretary is responsible, under the supervision of the Chairman, to develop 

programs based on the Director’s individual needs. Following appointment, each Director receives a 

relevant package and undergoes an induction program. 

Focused training of the Board is also arranged where information is provided to ensure that Directors 

receive adequate insight into a particular area through presentations by Group Businesses and briefings 

with senior management. Dedicated training sessions also take place on particular issues usually 

identified by the Directors themselves and the Company Secretary.  

All the members of the Board are provided on appointment with an information pack which includes, 

among others, key policies as well as key legislation, directives and regulations and the Company’s 

Articles of Association. 

During 2018, training sessions were conducted with the contribution of senior managers of the Group 

and/ or external advisors and covered issues relating to existing and new regulations. The training 

material is distributed to all Directors regardless of attendance.  
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Directors are also offered the option of attending suitable external educational courses, events or 

conferences designed to provide an overview of current issues of relevance to Directors. The Company 

Secretary ensures all Directors are provided with relevant information on a timely basis to enable them 

to consider issues for decision-making and discharge of their oversight responsibilities.  

The Directors also have access to the advice of the Group external legal advisors and to independent 

professional advice, at the Group’s expense, if and when required. Board committees have similar 

access and are provided with sufficient resources to undertake their duties. The Directors also receive 

comprehensive guidance from the Company Secretary on Board procedures as well as guidance on 

duties and obligations. 

In the performance of their roles, executive Directors develop and refresh their skills and knowledge of 

the Group’s business and operations through regular interactions, meetings and briefings with senior 

management and through presenting on the Group’s business to investors and analysts. They remain 

abreast of developments affecting the financial services sector and banking by representing the Group’s 

interests at conferences, advisory groups and other events and meetings with regulators and other 

authorities. 

2.3.3.  Loans to Directors and other transactions 

Details of loans to Directors and other transactions with the Group are set out in note 41 to the 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. 

The Banking Law currently forbids the extension of any credit to independent members of the Board, 

but the CBC may exempt certain exposures from time to time having regard to the exceptionally low 

risk arising from the exposures concerned. Furthermore, any credit to be extended to non-independent 

members of the Board must comply with the following provisions of the Law: 

• be approved by a resolution of the Board carried by a majority of two-thirds of the members that 

participated in the relevant Board meeting and the member concerned should neither be present 

during the discussion nor vote on the resolution, 

• the exposure granted should be on the same commercial terms as would apply to customers for 

similar exposures in the ordinary course of banking practice, 

• the total value of exposures in respect of all members of the Board should not exceed at any time 

10% of CDB Banks’s own funds, or such other lower percentage as the CBC may determine from 

time to time, 

• the total value of any unsecured exposures granted to all members of the Board should not exceed 

at any time 1% of the CDB Bank’s own funds or such other lower percentage as the CBC may 

determine from time to time, 

• the total value of exposure to any member of the Board should not exceed at any time the amount 

of €500,000 or such other lower amount as the CBC may determine from time to time, and 

• no financing is permitted to any executive member of the Board that does not comply with the 

commercial terms or exceeds the limits that apply to all staff or such other lower amount as the 

CBC may determine from time to time. 

All members of the Board complied with the relevant provisions of the Banking Law as at 31 December 

2018. 
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3.   Internal controls  

The Board is responsible for the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls in the 

Group. This system aims to ensure: 

• The effectiveness of the governance framework is monitored, and periodically assessed and 

appropriate steps are taken to timely address any deficiencies. 

• The appropriate compliance framework is in place. 

• The integrity of the accounting and financial reporting systems, including financial and operational 

controls and compliance with legal and supervisory requirements and relevant standards, is 

adequate. 

• The appropriate information security framework for the protection of confidential information is in 

place. 

• The system of internal controls has been designed in accordance with the nature, scale and 

complexity of the Group’s operations in order to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance 

against material misstatements, errors, losses, fraud or breaches of laws and regulations. 

The overall internal control systems of the Group include: 

• A transparent organisational structure with clear reporting lines to Senior Management and the 

Board. 

• Three lines of defence model for the management of risks across the Group. 

• Board and Executive Committees with clear responsibilities. 

• Policies and procedures. 

• Monthly reporting by business lines to enable progress to be monitored, trends to be evaluated 

and variances to be acted upon. 

• Monthly meetings of ExCo (Executive Committee) to review performance. 

• A Code of Conduct setting out the standards expected of all officers and employees, and 

• A Whistleblowing Policy including processes and procedures to be followed for independent 

investigation of concerns raised by staff 

The Board through the AC and the RC, receives the results of reviews conducted by internal and 

external parties through which it assesses the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and 

information systems, as well as in relation to the procedures used to ensure the accuracy, completeness 

and validity of the information used for internal and regulatory reporting. The reviews cover financial, 

operational and compliance systems of internal controls, as well as risk management systems. In 

addition, the AC and RC receive business and operational risk assessments, regular reports from the 

Group’s Internal Auditor, the Chief Compliance Officer and Chief Risk Officer, internal and external audit 

reports, as well as regulatory reports. 

The Board, through the AC and RC, is informed on a regular basis about the actions taken by executive 

management to remedy the weaknesses identified through the operation of the Group’s framework of 

internal controls. 

Based on the internal audit work carried out in 2018, significant steps have been made, which further 

strengthened the Group’s system of internal controls. In particular, progress was made in the NPE 

management and the arrears management process, areas which pose the most important risks for the 

Group. 
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Moreover, there is still room for improvement in certain areas within governance, the information 

systems and information security environment and compliance with new regulations such as MiFID II. 

The Group’s financial reporting process is controlled using documented accounting policies and 

procedures supported by instructions and guidance on reporting requirements. The internal control 

system also ensures that the integrity of the accounting and financial reporting systems, including 

financial and operational controls and compliance with legal and supervisory requirements and relevant 

standards, is adequate. 

The Group has in place an effective financial statement closing process by which transactions and 

events reflected in the Group’s accounting records are processed to produce the financial statements, 

related disclosures and other financial reports. 

Τhe Annual Report prior to its submission to the Board is reviewed and approved by the ExCo (Executive 

Committee). The Board, through the AC scrutinizes and approves the financial statement and the 

Annual Report and ensures that appropriate disclosures have been made. This governance process 

ensures that both management and the Board are given sufficient opportunity to challenge the Group’s 

financial statements and other significant disclosures before their publication. 

3.1.  Group code of conduct and whistleblowing policy  

The Group has set out the standards that are expected from all the employees and Directors of the 

Group in a Code of Conduct along with guidance on how these standards should be applicable. 

The Group also has a Whistleblowing Policy in place for all staff, including Directors, which is in 

accordance with international practice. The policy is reviewed annually. Its general principles are: 

• Concerns in good faith, about wrongdoing or malpractice can be raised in confidence without 

fear of victimisation, discrimination, disadvantage or dismissal. 

• Procedures for the reporting of any matters of concern are clearly provided. The persons 

concerned must be able to bypass the main channels for whistleblowing if these prove 

inappropriate and use the anonymous reporting line. 

• Disclosures are managed in a timely, consistent and professional manner. 

The Board and Group CEO are committed to this policy, which encourages staff to raise concerns. 

4.   Members of the Management Body  

4.1.  Non-Executive Directors  

Andreas Loizou  

Born in 1964. He holds a BSc in Management Sciences from the University of Manchester Institute of 

Science & Technology. In 1991 he became member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England 

and Wales and subsequently a Fellow. He also holds a Certificate and a Diploma from the Institute of 

Directors (UK), and is a member of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Cyprus. He is the 

Managing Director of the Dutch subsidiary company of Medochemie Ltd, FAL B.V. and as such he has 

the overall responsibility for the success of this Dutch factory. Additionally, he is the Medochemie 

Licensing Manager which includes the licensing out with a supply obligation of the pharmaceutical 

dossiers owned by Medochemie.  
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Andreas Loizou (continued) 

Term of Office: Appointed to the Management Body on 7 February 2008 

Independent: No 

Member of a Board Committee:  

− Chairman of the Audit Committee (until 8 May 2019 and member thereafter) 

− Credit Committee 

George A. Loizou (Acting Chairman) 

Born in 1953. He is an experienced banker and risk management professional with extensive experience 

in operational risk management. He is a graduate of the Dale Carnegie Leadership Course with 

specialisation in Management. He is also an Associate of the London Institute of Banking and Finance, 

and a Professional Member of the Institute of Operational Risk Management (PIOR), UK as well as a 

Certified Trainer by the HRD. In 1973 he joint Barclays Bank PLC (Cyprus) where he worked at various 

positions. From 1996 to 2013 he was employed by Hellenic Bank PLC’s where he served at various 

managerial positions before becoming the Group’s Operational Risk Manager. He also served as a 

member of the Risk Management Committee of the JCC Payment Systems. Following his retirement 

from Hellenic Bank he assumed consultancy and training projects for renowned institutions in Cyprus, in 

the areas of Banking and Risk Management.   

Term of Office: Appointed to the Management Body on 8 April 2015 

Independent: Yes 

Member of a Board Committee:  

− Served as Chairman of the Risk Committee until December 2018. Currently serves as Member of 

the Risk Committee.  

− Chairman of the Nominations and Remunerations Committee.  

− Credit Committee  

George Pavlides 

Born in 1953. He is a UK qualified Chartered Accountant of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 

England and Wales since 1977. He spent his earlier career with top 4 audit firms Deloitte & Touche and 

Ernst & Young. Subsequently he moved into the business sector where he held senior managerial 

positions with several large international organisations including the AG Leventis Group, Agip (Hellas) 

and Raychem Corp. (US). Between 2000 and 2008 he was employed as Deputy General Manager and 

subsequently Branch Manager at DEPFA Bank PLC (Cyprus Branch). He is currently a Financial 

Administrator for the Leonidas Ioannou family. 

Term of Office: Appointed to the Management Body on 8 April 2015 

Independent: No 

Appointed as the member of the MB responsible of the Prevention and Suppression of Money 

Laundering Activities Laws of 2007 to 2018  until 9 May 2019 

Member of a Board Committee:  

− Chairman of the Risk Committee 

− Audit Committee  
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Menelaos Shiacolas  

Born in 1971. He is a Barrister in Law and an experienced business professional. He serves as a director 

of a number of companies of the CNS Group (a Cyprus based group of companies with various sectors 

of activity in Cyprus) such as The Cyprus Trading Corporation Ltd, Ermes Department Store Ltd, F. W. 

Woolworth Ltd, Charalambides Christis, Cablenet Communication Systems Ltd, Cyprus Phassouri 

Plantations Group. He holds an LLB at Law from the University of Kent and an LLM Barrister at Law of 

Kings College, London.  

Term of Office: Appointed to the Management Body on 7 February 2008 

Independent: No 

Member of a Board Committee:  

− Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

− Risk Committee 

− Credit Committee 

Neoclis Nicolaou (Vice Chairman) 

Born in 1959. He is Specialist in Corporate and Investment Banking.  He has extensive experience in 

investment Management, capital raising, project and investment financing, financial engineering, 

valuations and mergers and acquisitions.  Extensive experience in corporate strategy work.  Over the 

years he has made Investment Banking services available to a large number of local and overseas 

companies both private and public. He has also acted as an expert advisor on governmental projects.  

He acted as the lead manager on behalf of the Eurogate consortium which was successful in acquiring 

the concession for the Limassol Container Terminal.  He has served as a non-executive director in a 

number of institutions including TFI Public Co. Ltd, The Argus Lamda Fund Ltd, The Argus Stockbrokers 

Ltd, IronFX Global Ltd, The Cyprus International Institute of Management, Global Capital Securities and 

Financial Services Ltd etc.  Currently he is the Managing Director of Neoconsult Ltd. He holds a Bachelor 

in Econometrics from the Manchester University and an MBA from the Manchester Business School.  

Term of Office: Appointed to the Management Body on 7 February 2008 

Independent: No 

Member of a Board Committee:  

− Chairman of the Credit Committee  

− Chairman of the Technology Committee 

− Nominations and Remunerations Committee 

− Risk Committee 

Wahid Chammas  

Born in 1975.  He is an experienced investment management professional with over two decades of 

financial industry experience.  He is the Founder and Chief Investment Officer of TyreGate Capital 

Holdings Ltd, a private equity business with over 40 owned companies.  Previously, he was with Janus 

Capital Group for 11 years where he served as a Managing Director, Portfolio Manager and Head of the 

developed and emerging EMEA investment franchise and strategies, and where he established Janus’ 

investment presence in Europe in 2008.  He was recognized in Financial News (Dow Jones) as a Rising 

Star, 40 Under 40 in Asset Management, and has been highly rated on numerous occasions by Citywire.  

Prior to joining the Janus in January 2005, he spent eight  years  at Goldman, Sachs & Co., where he was 
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Wahid Chammas (continued) 

a Vice President and sell-side Equity Securities Analyst, covering the media sector.  He joined Goldman 

Sachs’ Investment Research Division as a Vice President in 2002 from Goldman Sachs Asset 

Management, where he served as the Chief-of-Staff for the U.S. distribution group, supporting strategic 

planning and management activities across the asset management division.  He received his Bachelor of 

Arts degree in Biology from Amherst College in 1997. 

Term of Office: Appointed to the Management Body on 26 June 2018 

Independent: No 

Member of a Board Committee:  

− Credit Committee 

Costas Poullis 

Born in 1948. He holds a BSc in Economics from the University of London and an MSc in Agricultural 

Economics from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne, UK.  After a brief spell at the Statistics 

Department of the Ministry of Finance in Cyprus, he joined the Central Bank of Cyprus (CBC) in 1973.  At 

the CBC he served in the International Division, the Economic Research Department and the Supervision 

and Regulation of Credit Institutions Division.  He retired as a Senior Director in 2012. 

Term of Office: Appointed to the Board of Directors on 26.02.2019 

Independent: Yes 

Member of a Board Committee: 

− Audit Committee  

− Nominations and Remunerations Committee 

Avgoustinos Papathomas  

Born in 1963. He holds a BSc and BEng in Engineering Manufacture and Management from the 

University of Manchester Institute of Science & Technology. He is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England and Wales, a member of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Cyprus 

and a licensed Insolvency Practitioner. Avgoustinos is the senior partner of a recently established 

Advisory and Audit firm, APP Advisory/Audit. Augoustinos has served as a director on various 

organizations and is currently the chairman of the Famagusta Chamber of Commerce and Industry.  

Term of Office: Appointed to the Board of Directors on 07.05.2019 

Independent: Yes 

Appointed as the member of the MB responsible of the Prevention and Suppression of Money 

Laundering Activities Laws of 2007 to 2018 on 9 May 2019 

Member of a Board Committee: 

− Chairman of the Audit Committee (from 8 May 2019) 

− Nominations and Remunerations Committee 
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Christis Plastiras  

Born in 1984. He is an enthusiastic entrepreneur with extensive knowledge in Banking, Technology, 

Finance and Business and holds a Bachelor’s degree in Computer Science from the University of 

Cambridge and a Master’s degree in Finance from Imperial College. He is the co-founder and non-

executive Director of Melior Capital, a technology company which develops and runs some of the 

country’s most successful e-commerce projects and serves as a director of a number of other 

technology companies. Christis has led the Digital Transformation of many large corporations in a 

variety of industries and participates as a mentor or judge in many start-up initiatives in Cyprus and 

abroad. 

Term of Office: Appointed to the Board of Directors on 07.05.2019 

Independent: Yes 

− Audit Committee  

− Risk Committee 

4.2.  Executive Directors  

Costas Argyrides (Group CEO) 

Born in 1967. He is an experienced Chief Executive Officer and financial services professional having 

served in various senior roles for over 20 years in financial institutions. He serves as Chief Executive 

Officer and Executive Director of Cyprus Development Bank PCL since July 15, 2017 and July 25, 2017. 

Previously, he served as Director of Wealth, Asset Management and Brokerage at Bank of Cyprus Public 

Company Limited since December 6, 2013. During the period 1993-2008, he was employed by the 

Cyprus Popular Bank where he served in various managerial positions including Group Treasurer, 

General Manager UK and Director Wealth Management. He studied Economics at Queen Mary College, 

University of London and then acquired an M.Sc in Shipping Trade & Finance from Cass Business School. 

He is also a member of the Chartered Institute for Securities and Investments. 

Term of Office: Appointed to the Management Body on 25.7.2017 

Independent: No 

Member of a Board Committee: None 
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5.   Board Committees  

In order to exercise proper oversight of risk and control, the Board has delegated certain responsibilities 

to committees of the Board. The principal committees are the AC, the RC, the N&RC and the CC. The 

key roles of the Board committees are provided in the sections that follow. The terms of reference of 

the main statutory committees are based on the relevant provisions of the CBC Governance Directive 

and are available on the Group’s website (www.cdb.com.cy) or by request to the Company Secretary.  

The overall responsibility for approving and monitoring the Group’s strategy, risk appetite and policies 

for managing risks lies with the Board, which exercises this responsibility through two of its main 

committees, namely the RC and the AC. 

The chairperson of each committee reports on matters discussed during committee meetings to the 

subsequent scheduled meetings of the Board and minutes of these meetings are tabled at the Board as 

soon as possible for noting and/or discussion, as necessary. This linkage is important between the 

committees as it ensures alignment of the work conducted by the various committees.  

In 2018, the Board set up a Technology Committee to drive the technological and digital transformation 

of CDB Bank. As at 31 December 2018, the Committee comprised of 3 non-executive members. 

5.1.  Nominations and remunerations committee (NRC) 

The NRC comprised three non-executive Directors at 31 December 2018, one of whom was 

independent. It is chaired by the Chairman of the Board, except when the NRC is dealing with the 

appointment of a successor to the role of chairperson.  

Biographical details, including each member’s background, experience and independence status are set 

out in section 4 of this report. 

The Committee held 9 meetings in 2018. The Chairman and members of the Committee together with 

their attendance at meetings are shown in section 2.2.1.  

The key responsibilities of the NRC are set out in its terms of reference, which are available on the 

Group’s website (www.cdb.com.cy) and have been approved by the Board. 

The role of the Committee is to ensure that the Board is comprised of members who are best able to 

discharge the duties and responsibilities of Directors and to support and advise the Board in relation to: 

• Board recruitment (including regularly reviewing, reporting on and taking into account, when 

making further appointments, the composition and effectiveness of the Board), 

• Vice-Chairperson, Director and CEO development (under the overall responsibility and 

supervision of the Chairperson of the Board), 

• Chairperson development (under the overall responsibility and supervision of the SID), 

• The ongoing evaluation of the structure, size, composition and performance of the Board, its 

committees and individual Directors, and 

• Succession planning for Directors and senior management 

• To ensure that the Group is equipped with the human capital necessary for the achievement of 

its strategic goals, whose reward will be based on personal performance and Group results. 
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• To propose adequate remuneration considered necessary to attract and retain high 

value-adding professionals. Therefore, remuneration has to be satisfactory vis-a-vis peer 

companies. 

• To set the overarching principles and parameters of compensation and benefits policies across 

the Group and exercise oversight for such issues. 

• To consider the remuneration arrangements of the executive Directors of the Group, other 

identified staff and the employee Remuneration Policy bearing in mind the European Banking 

Authority (‘EBA’) Guidelines on remuneration policies and practices and the CBC Governance 

Directive. 

The Chairman of the Committee reports to the Board after each meeting to ensure all Directors were 

fully informed of the Committee’s activities. 

5.2.  Audit committee (AC) 

As at 31 December 2018, the AC comprised of two non-executive Directors. Biographical details, 

including each member’s background, experience and independence status are set out in section 4 of 

this report. 

The Committee held 8 meetings in 2018. The Chairman and members of the Committee together with 

their attendance at meetings are shown in section 2.2.1.  

The key responsibilities of the AC are set out in its terms of reference, which are available on the 

Group’s website (www.cdb.com.cy) and have been approved by the Board. 

The role of the Committee, inter alia, is: 

• To oversee the system of internal controls including reviewing its effectiveness; 

• To monitor the integrity of the Group's financial statements; 

• To monitor the effectiveness of the internal audit function; 

• To advise the Board on appointment of the external auditors and be responsible for oversight 

and remuneration of the external auditor; 

• To review the Group’s and Company’s financial and accounting policies and practices; 

• To monitor the effectiveness of the anti-money laundering function of the Company and all 

other aspects of regulatory/ethics compliance; and 

• To make recommendations to the Board on such matters. 

The role of the Committee is fundamental to ensuring the financial integrity and accuracy of the 

Company’s financial reporting. Good, open relationships between the Committee, the Finance Director, 

the Group Internal Audit Director and the Director of Group Compliance as well as the external 

auditors, are essential to adding value to the organisation. This is achieved by holding management to 

account for the implementation of all audit recommendations (internal and external). In addition to 

providing assurance within the governance and accountability structures of the Group, it is essential 

that the Committee contributes, delivers results and adds value to the Group. 

The Chairman of the Committee reports to the Board after each meeting to ensure all Directors were 

fully informed of the Committee’s activities. 
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5.2.1.  Internal audit independence  

The Group Internal Audit and Group Compliance Divisions report directly to the Board through the AC. 

They are organisationally independent of units with executive functions and are not subordinated to 

any other unit.  

The Committee’s activities include considering reports submitted by the Group Internal Audit and 

Group Compliance Divisions as well as regular meeting with the Internal Auditor and the Compliance 

Officer through which the Committee assesses Internal Audit unit and Compliance Unit effective and 

adequately resourcing. Management’s responses to Group Internal Audit’s findings and 

recommendations are also reviewed and monitored by the Committee. The reports issued by the 

Internal Auditor and the Compliance Officer enable the Committee to focus discussion on specific areas 

of concern and root causes and to track remediation progress over time. 

5.3.  Risk committee (RC) 

The RC is responsible for advising the Board on high-level risk related matters and risk governance and 

for non-executive oversight of risk management and internal controls (other than financial reporting). 

The RC on 31 December 2018 comprised three non-executive Directors. Biographical details, including 

each member’s background, experience and independence status are set out in section 4 of this report. 

The Committee held 5 meetings in 2018. The Chairman and members of the Committee together with 

their attendance at meetings are shown in section 2.2.1.  

The main purpose of the Committee is to review, on behalf of the Board, the aggregate risk profile of 

the Group, including performance against risk appetite for all risk types and to ensure that both the risk 

profile and risk appetite remain appropriate. Specifically, it: 

• Advises the Board on risk appetite and alignment with strategy. 

• Monitors the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems except 

from financial reporting and compliance internal control systems. 

• Monitors the Group’s risk appetite and risk profile against key performance/risk indicators as set 

out in the Group’s Risk Appetite Statement. 

• Identifies the potential impact of key issues and themes that may impact the risk profile of the 

Group. 

• Ensures that the Group’s overall risk profile and risk appetite remain appropriate given the 

external environment, any key issues and themes impacting the Group and the internal control 

environment. 

• Seeks to identify and assess future potential risks which, by virtue of their uncertainty, of low 

probability and unfamiliarity may not have been factored adequately into review by other Board 

Committees. 

The Group, like all other financial institutions, is exposed to risks, the most significant of which are 

credit risk, liquidity and funding risk, market risk, operational risk and property price risk. The Group 

monitors and manages these risks through various control mechanisms and reviews the mitigating 

actions proposed by management. 

Information relating to Group Risk Management is set out in note 38 to the financial statements. 
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The Chairman of the Committee reports to the Board after each meeting to ensure all Directors were 

fully informed of the Committee’s activities. 

5.4.  Credit Committee (CC) 

The CC is responsible for advising the Board on significant credit risk exposures.  

The CC on 31 December 2018 comprised 5 non-executive Directors. Biographical details, including each 

member’s background, experience and independence status are set out in section 4 of this report. 

The Committee held 11 meetings in 2018. The Chairman and members of the Committee together with 

their attendance at meetings are shown in section 2.2.1.  

The main purpose of the Committee is to review, on behalf of the Board, individually significant  

exposures for both new lending and restructuring within approval authorities reserved by the Board 

and to ensure that the risk profile of such exposures is in line with the risk appetite for credit risk, risk 

strategy and credit risk policies. 

The Chairman of the Committee reports to the Board after each meeting to ensure all Directors were 

fully informed of the Committee’s activities. 

5.5.  Technology Committee (TC) 

The TC was established in 2018 and is responsible for advising the Board on the IT and Digital Strategy 

of the Group and oversee and monitor its implementation.  

The TC on 31 December 2018 comprised 2 non-executive Directors. Biographical details, including each 

member’s background, experience and independence status are set out in section 4 of this report. 

The Committee held 1 meeting in 2018. The Chairman and members of the Committee together with 

their attendance at meetings are shown in section 2.2.1.  

The main purpose of the Committee is to review, on behalf of the Board, and advice the Board on the 

appropriate IT and digital strategy of the Group, and to ensure its alignment to the Group’s business 

strategy. In addition, it is responsible to approve and prioritise major technology-related projects and 

ensure that all necessary resources for the implementation of the strategy are made available.  

The Chairman of the Committee reports to the Board after each meeting to ensure all Directors were 

fully informed of the Committee’s activities. 

6.   Remuneration policy  

In developing its Remuneration Policy, the Group takes into account the provisions that are included in 

the CBC Directive on Governance and Management Arrangements of Credit Institutions (the ‘CBC 

Governance Directive’) which came into effect in August 2014 and incorporated the requirements for 

Remuneration Policies included in the European Capital Requirements Directive (‘CRD IV’) and the EBA 

Guidelines on sound remuneration policies issued in December 2015, as well as regulatory restrictions 

pertinent to the banking sector currently. 

The remuneration of non-executive Directors is determined and approved by the Board. Neither the 

Chairman nor any Director participates in decisions relating to their own personal remuneration. 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT  
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

 

  2018 2017 

 Note 
€'000 €'000 

Continuing Operations    

Turnover   17.977   18.176  

    

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method 5  13.555   12.067  

Interest expense calculated using the effective interest method 6  (3.629)   (4.700)  

Net interest income   9.926   7.367  

Fee and commission income 7  3.229   2.929  

Fee and commission expense 8  (334)   (282)  

Net foreign exchange gains 9  849   1.267  

Other income 10  344   1.913  

Total net income   14.014   13.194  

Staff costs 11  (6.773)   (6.026)  

Other operating expenses 12  (3.374)   (4.164)  

Depreciation 13  (730)   (634)  

Profit before provisions for impairment   3.137   2.370  

Provisions for impairment 13  (4.433)   (4.637)  

Loss before tax from continuing operations   (1.296)   (2.267)  

Tax 14  (694)   (675)  

Loss for the year after tax from continuing operations   (1.990)   (2.942)  

Discontinued Operations    

Loss after tax from discontinued operations 15                (163)  (1.129)  

Loss for the year             (2.153)  (4.071)  

 

Loss for the year attributable to:    

Owners of the Bank – continuing operations   (1.980)   (2.928)  

Owners of the Bank – discontinued operations                 (163)  (1.129)  

   (2.143)   (4.057)  

Non-controlling interests                   (10)  (14)  

Loss for the year             (2.153)  (4.071)  

    

Basic and fully diluted loss per share (cent) 16  (8,25)   (15,63)  

Basic and diluted loss per share (cent) from continuing 

operations 16  (7,63)   (11,28)  



  

 

  

 

The notes on pages 43 to 134 form an integral part of the financial statements 

Annual report 2018 | 33  

INCOME STATEMENT 
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

 

  2018 2017 

 Note 
€'000 €'000 

Turnover   17.655   17.847  

    

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method 5  13.853   12.192  

Interest expense calculated using the effective interest method 6  (3.626)   (4.695)  

Net interest income   10.227   7.497  

Fee and commission income 7  2.798   2.541  

Fee and commission expense 8  (310)   (257)  

Net foreign exchange gains 9  884   1.288  

Other income 10  120   1.826  

Total net income   13.719   12.895  

Staff costs 11  (6.504)   (5.782)  

Other operating expenses 12  (3.104)   (3.998)  

Depreciation 13  (716)   (620)  

    

Profit before provisions for impairment   3.395   2.495  

Provisions for impairment 13  (4.516)   (4.684)  

Loss before tax   (1.121)   (2.189)  

Tax 14  (673)   (669)  

    

Loss for the year after tax   (1.794)   (2.858)  

 

Basic and fully diluted loss per share (cent) 16  (6,91)   (11,01)  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME  
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

  2018 2017 

 
Note 

€'000 €'000 

    

Loss for the year   (2.153)   (4.071)  

Other comprehensive income (OCI)    

    

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

Foreign currency reserve    

  Exchange (losses)/gains arising on the retranslation of foreign 

  subsidiary’s financial statements              (200)            (216) 

              (200)            (216) 

Revaluation reserve (debt instruments)    

  Net losses on investments in debt instruments measured at fair 

  value through OCI (FVOCI) 21 (134)       40 

  Transfer to the income statement on disposal 21             (106)                    - 

              (240)                 40 

Total OCI that may be reclassified in the income statement in 

subsequent periods              (440)             (176) 

    

OCI items not to be reclassified in the income statement in subsequent periods  

Revaluation reserve (equity investments)    

  Net gains on investments in equity instruments designated at FVOCI 20   18        369 

  Transfer to the income statement on disposal 20                     -                    2  

                   18               371 

Property revaluation    

  Gains from revaluation of premises   97  642  

  Tax                     1            (135) 

                   98               507  

Total OCI not to be reclassified in the income statement in 

subsequent periods                116                 878    

    

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year net of taxation              (324)               702  

Total comprehensive loss for the year          (2.477)         (3.369) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to:    

  Owners of the Bank - continuing operations   (2.107)   (2.021)  

  Owners of the Bank - discontinued operations              (362)         (1.345)  

   (2.469)   (3.366)  

  Non-controlling interests                  (8)                 (3)  

Total comprehensive expenses for the year          (2.477)          (3.369)  
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

 

  2018 2017 

 
Note 

€'000 €'000 

    

Loss for the year          (1.794)         (2.858)  

Other comprehensive income (OCI)    

    

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

Revaluation reserve (debt instruments)    

  Net losses on investments in debt instruments measured at fair 

  value through OCI (FVOCI) 21 (134)       40 

  Transfer to the income statement on disposal 21            (106)                    - 

Total OCI that may be reclassified in the income statement in 

subsequent periods             (240)                40 

    

OCI items not to be reclassified in the income statement in subsequent periods  

Revaluation reserve (equity investments)    

  Net gains on investments in equity instruments designated at FVOCI 20   2        300 

  Net losses from revaluation of subsidiaries             (504)        (1.375) 

             (502)        (1.075) 

Property revaluation    

  Gains from revaluation of premises   -   642  

  Reversal of negative valuation (audit adjustment)         97  

  Tax                    1            (135) 

                 98                507  

Total OCI not to be reclassified in the income statement in 

subsequent periods            (404)               (568)    

    

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year net of taxation            (644)            (528) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year 
 

       (2.438)        (3.386) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the year ended 31 December 2018 
           

 
Attributable to the parent company's owners   

2018 

Share capital Share premium 

Non 

redeemable 

capital account 

Non  

distributable 

reserve 

Revaluation 

reserve 

Foreign 

currency  

reserve 

Revenue 

 reserve Total 

Non 

controlling 

interests Total 

  €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Balance 1 January 2018     35.164  11.211          4.000            90         1.990        (2.826)  (7.563)   42.066   184         42.250 

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 

(note 4)  -   -   -   -   -   -   (3.516)                  (3.516)   -   (3.516)  

Restated balance 1 January 2018       35.164        11.211         4.000            90         1.990        (2.826)       (11.079)        38.550           184        38.734 

           

Total comprehensive income/(loss) after taxation          

  Loss for the year  -   -   -   -   -   -                   (2.143)   (2.143)       (10)  (2.153)  

  Other comprehensive income/(loss)  -   -   -   -     (223)                    (200)                          97  (326)   2  (324)  

           

Total comprehensive income  -   -                               -                               -                       (223)                     (200)                (2.046)                (2.469)                         (8)                 (2.477) 

           

Transfer of excess depreciation on           

revaluation surplus                             -                             -                             -                            -                         17                            -                     (17)                            -                            -                            - 

           

Balance 31 December 2018  35.164   11.211   4.000                          90   1.784                  (3.026)               (13.142)                  36.081                       176                  36.257  

           

Non-redeemable capital account 

On 4 August 2017, an agreement was signed between the Bank and a prospective investor.  As per the terms of the said agreement, an amount of €4 million was paid by the prospective investor in a non-redeemable 

“capital account” which could only be employed as common equity by the issue of share capital for the Bank, and in case the prospective investor did not participate in the Bank’s share capital, there is a commitment by 

four of the Bank’s existing shareholders to acquire his rights to the funds in the said account.  

Share capital increase in 2019 

On 12 March 2019 an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) of the shareholders of the Bank was held, whereby a resolution for an increase of the Bank’s Capital by €4,3 million was approved.  On 22 March 2019 the Bank’s 

shareholders subscribed to an amount of €3,3 million towards the Bank’s capital.  The remaining unallocated capital of €1 million was committed and subscribed through a private placement by a local institutional investor 

on 12 June 2019.  Details of the share capital increase are set out in note 33 to the financial statements. 

Non-distributable reserve 

The non-distributable reserve comprises of amounts transferred from revenue reserve by the foreign subsidiary to cover possible future losses in accordance with Russian legislation.  

Revaluation reserve 

The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of investments at FVOCI and revaluation of premises. The revaluation reserve is not distributable. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the year ended 31 December 2018 
           

 Attributable to the parent company's owners   

2017 

Share capital Share premium 

Non 

redeemable 

capital account 

Non 

distributable 

reserve 

Revaluation 

reserve 

Foreign 

currency 

 reserve 

Revenue 

 reserve Total 

Non-controlling 

interests Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Balance 1 January 2017  35.164   11.211   -   90   1.088   (2.610)   (3.402)   41.541   186   41.727  

           

Total comprehensive income/(loss) after taxation          

  Loss for the year  -   -   -   -   -   -   (4.057)   (4.057)   (14)   (4.071)  

             Other comprehensive income/(loss)  -   -   -   -                        906                    (216)                            1                       691                         12                       703 

           
Total comprehensive income  -   -                              -                             -                        906                    (216))                 (4.056)                (3.366)                        (2)                  (3.368) 

           

Transfer of excess depreciation on           

revaluation surplus                             -                            -                             -                             -                         (4)                             -                            4                            -                            -                            - 

           

Transactions with owners of the Bank 

Contributions and distributions           

New capital  -   -   4.000   -   -   -   -   4.000   -   4.000  

Defence Tax on deemed dividend 

distribution  -   -   -   -   -   -   (109)   (109)   -   (109)  

           
Total contributions and distributions  -   -   4.000   -   -   -   (109)   3.891   -   3.891  

           
Balance 31 December 2017  35.164   11.211   4.000   90   1.990   (2.826)   (7.563)   42.066   184   42.250  

Non-redeemable capital account 

On 4 August 2017, an agreement was signed between the Bank and a prospective investor.  As per the terms of the said agreement, an amount of €4 million was paid by the prospective investor 

in a non-redeemable “capital account” which could only be employed as common equity by the issue of share capital for the Bank, and in case the prospective investor did not participate in the 

Bank’s share capital, there is a commitment by four of the Bank’s existing shareholders to acquire his rights to the funds in the said account.  

Non-distributable reserve 

The non-distributable reserve comprises of amounts transferred from revenue reserve by the foreign subsidiary to cover possible future losses in accordance with Russian legislation.  

Revaluation reserve 

The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of investments at available for sale and revaluation of premises. The revaluation reserve is not distributable. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the year ended 31 December 2018 
 

Share 

capital 

Share 

premium 

Non-redeem

able capital 

account 

Revaluation 

reserve 

Revenue 

reserve Total 

2018 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Balance 1 January 2018  35.164   11.211   4.000    (3.021)   (5.306)   42.048  

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 (note 4)  -   -   -    -   (3.516)         (3.516) 

Restated balance 1 January 2018  35.164   11.211   4.000    (3.021)   (8.822)   38.532  

       
Total comprehensive income/(loss) after taxation       

  Loss for the year  -   -   -   -   (1.794)   (1.794)  

  Other comprehensive income  -   -   -   (741)    97   (644)  

       
Total comprehensive income  -   -   -   (741)   (1.697)   (2.438)  

       
Transfer to revenue reserve excess depreciation on 

revalued premises net of deferred tax  -   -   -   17   (17)   -  

       

Balance 31 December 2018  35.164   11.211   4.000   (3.745)   (10.536)   36.094  

Non-redeemable Capital account 

On 4 August 2017, an agreement was signed between the Bank and a prospective investor.  As per the terms of the said agreement, an 

amount of €4 million was paid by the prospective investor in a non-redeemable “capital account” which could only be employed as common 

equity by the issue of share capital for the Bank, and in case the prospective investor did not participate in the Bank’s share capital, there is a 

commitment by four of the Bank’s existing shareholders to acquire his rights to the funds in the said account.  

Share capital increase in 2019 

On 12 March 2019 an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) of the shareholders of the Bank was held, whereby a resolution for an increase of 

the Bank’s Capital by €4,3 million was approved.  On 22 March 2019 the Bank’s shareholders subscribed to an amount of €3,3 million towards 

the Bank’s capital.  The remaining unallocated capital of €1 million was committed and subscribed through a private placement by a local 

institutional investor on 12 June 2019.  Details of the share capital increase are set out in note 33 to the financial statements. 

Revaluation reserve 

The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of investments at FVOCI and revaluation of premises. The revaluation reserve is not 

distributable. 
 

 

Share 

capital 

Share 

premium 

Non-redee

mable 

capital 

account 

Revaluation 

reserve 

Revenue 

reserve Total 

2017 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Balance 1 January 2017  35.164   11.211   -   (2.489)   (2.345)   41.541  

       

Total comprehensive income/(loss) after taxation       

  Loss for the year  -   -   -   -    (2.858)  (2.858)  

  Other comprehensive income  -   -   -              (528)                 -          (528) 

       
Total comprehensive income  -   -   -              (528)     (2.858)      (3.386) 

       
Transfer to revenue reserve excess depreciation on 

revalued premises net of deferred tax  -   -   -   (4)   4   -  

       
Total comprehensive income  -   -   -   (4)   4                  -  

       

Transactions with owners of the Bank 

Contributions and distributions       

  New capital  -   -   4.000   -   -   4.000  

  Defence tax on deemed dividend distribution  -   -   -   -   (107)   (107)  

Total contributions and distributions  -   -   4.000   -   (107)   3.893  

       
Balance 31 December 2017  35.164   11.211   4.000   (3.021)   (5.306)   42.048  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

 

  2018 2017 

 
Note 

€'000 €'000 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Group loss for the year from continuing operations   (1.990)   (2.942)  

Group loss for the year from discontinued operations   (163)   (1.129)  

Adjustments for:    

Interest from debt securities 5  (855)   (536)  

(Gain)/loss on disposal of premises and equipment 13  -   9  

Depreciation of premises and equipment 13  447   431  

Depreciation of intangible assets 13  283   203  

Net foreign exchange gains   (849)   (1.267)  

Impairment losses and provisions to cover credit risk 13  4.433   4.637  

Tax 14  694   675  

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in working capital and 

other items of the statement of financial position   2.000   81  

Increase in balances with Central Banks   (455)   (229)  

(Increase)/decrease in placements with other banks   (44)   2.820  

Increase in loans and advances   (676)   (1.782)  

Decrease in equity investments   -   30  

Increase in client deposits   35.352   21.257  

Increase in bank borrowings   2.012   2.001  

Increase/(decrease) in working capital and other items of the statement of 

financial position   4.365   (3.616)  

Net cash from operating activities before tax   42.554   20.562  

Taxes and special contributions paid   (683)   (646)  

Net cash from operating activities   41.871   19.916  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Additions of premises and equipment 25  (281)   (434)  

Additions of intangible assets 26  (732)   (202)  

Net (additions)/disposals/maturity of investments in debt and equity 

securities   (29.188)   (6.380)  

Interest from debt securities 5  855   536  

Proceeds from disposal of premises and equipment   -   -  

Net cash used in investing activities   (29.346)   (6.480)  

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from non-redeemable capital account   -   4.000  

Issue of loan capital   -   5.000  

Net cash from financing activities   -   9.000  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   12.525   22.436  

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents   2.477   (7.462)  

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   210.885   195.911  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 37  225.887   210.885  
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

 

 

  2018 2017 

 
Note 

€'000 €'000 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Loss for the year   (1.794)   (2.858)  

Adjustments for:    

Income from investments in debt and equity securities 5  (855)   (536)  

Loss on disposal of premises and equipment 13  -   9  

Depreciation of premises and equipment 13  433   417  

Depreciation of intangible assets 13  283   203  

Net foreign exchange gains   (884)   (1.288)  

Impairment losses and provisions to cover credit risk 13  4.516   4.684  

Tax 14  673   669  

Operating profit before working capital changes   2.372   1.300  

Increase in balances with Central Banks   (455)   (229)  

(Increase)/decrease in placements with other banks   (44)   2.820  

Increase in loans and advances   (676)   (1.782)  

Increase in equity investments   -   (20)  

Increase in client deposits   35.352   21.257  

Increase in bank borrowings   2.012   2.001  

Increase/(decrease) in working capital and other items of the statement of 

financial position   3.920   (4.749)  

Net cash from operating activities before tax   42.481   20.598  

Taxes and special contributions paid   (661)   (640)  

Net cash from operating activities   41.820   19.958  

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Additions of premises and equipment 25  (280)   (434)  

Additions of intangible assets 26  (722)   (202)  

Net (additions)/disposals/maturity of investments in debt and equity 

securities   (29.188)   (6.380)  

Interest from debt securities 5  855   536  

Proceeds from disposal of premises and equipment   -   18  

Net cash to investing activities   (29.335)   (6.462)  

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from non-redeemable capital account   -   4.000  

Issue of loan capital   -   5.000  

Net cash from financing activities   -   9.000  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   12.485   22.496  

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents  2.477  (7.462)  

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   210.790   195.756  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 37  225.752   210.790  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

1.  INCORPORATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES  

The Cyprus Development Bank Public Company Limited (the “Bank”) was incorporated in the Republic 

of Cyprus in 1963. The Bank's business name is “cdbbank” and it is the parent company of the cdbbank 

Group.  

The principal activities of the Bank, which remained unchanged from last year, are commercial banking 

operations. 

The Russian subsidiary company, Joint Stock Company cdbbank, whose principal activities involved the 

provision of commercial banking operations is under voluntary wind up. The process of winding up the 

Russian subsidiary is expected to be completed by the third quarter of 2019.  Details are set out in 

Notes 23 and 24 to financial statements.   

The principal activities of the subsidiary company, Global Capital Securities and Financial Services Ltd, 

which remained the same as in the previous year, are portfolio management as well as the provision of 

financial advisory, investment banking and brokerage services. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are available at the registered office of the Cyprus 

Development Bank Public Company Ltd and on the Bank’s website www.cdb.com.cy. 

2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION 

2.1    Going concern 

The Directors have made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 

period of 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements.  The conditions that 

existed during 2018, the developments up to the date of approval of these financial statements and 

Management’s projections have been considered by the Directors in the going concern assessment and 

they believe that the Group and the Bank are taking all necessary measures to ensure their viability and 

the development of their business in the current economic environment. 

The Directors, in making their assessment, have paid particular attention to the regulatory 

requirements relating to capital and liquidity, the financial performance of the Group and the risks 

emanating from the environment in which the Group operates and consider that the going concern 

principle is appropriate for the reasons set out below: 

2.1.1  Funding and liquidity 

The Group enjoys a strong liquidity position and is compliant with all the regulatory liquidity ratios.  The 

LCR ratio stood at 253% at 31 December 2018 and is well above the minimum requirement of 100%.  

Based on the projections of the Management of the Group, it is expected that the Group will continue 

to maintain a strong liquidity position and will be compliant with minimum regulatory requirements. 

2.1.2  Capital 

The minimum Pillar I total capital requirement is 8,0% which should be met by at least 6,0% Tier 1 

capital of which 4,5% minimum Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) capital.  The Group is also subject to 

additional capital  requirements  for risks  which are  not covered  under Pillar I capital requirements. In  
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2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

2.1    Going concern (continued) 
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2.1.2  Capital 

February 2017, in its Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) for 2016, the Central Bank of 

Cyprus determined the additional capital requirements to be 5,2% of the Group’s risk weighted assets, 

to be met by CET 1 capital.  In addition to the total SREP capital requirements, the Group is also 

required to maintain a capital conservation buffer of 1,875% from 1 January 2018 increasing to 2,5% 

from 1 January 2019.  Based on the above the Group was required to maintain on a consolidated basis, 

a total capital ratio of 15,075% in 2018, increasing to 15,70% from 1 January 2019.   

As at 31 December 2018 the Group's total capital adequacy ratio stood at 13,95%.  Over the first half of 

2019 up to the date of approval of these financial statements, a number of actions have been 

implemented which have resulted to an overall capital ratio (OCR) of c.16,7%.  

The Directors and Management of the Group closely monitor and manage its capital through actions 

that optimise capital usage. To this end, Management developed a Financial and Capital Plan (the 

‘Plan’), which was approved by the Management Body in March 2019. The main objectives of the Plan 

were to enhance the Group’s capital adequacy through a rights issue and a number of management 

actions to ensure that it maintains sufficient resources and capital to support its current activities. In 

line with the Plan, the Group is expected to continue its de-risking strategy and efforts to successfully 

resolve the residual NPEs. The IFRS 9 impact on a fully phased-in basis is also considered within the 

Plan.   

On 12 March 2019, an Extraordinary General Meeting of the shareholders of the Bank was held, 

whereby a resolution for an increase of the Bank’s Capital by €4,3 million was approved.  On 22 March 

2019, the Bank’s shareholders subscribed to an amount of €3,3 million towards the Bank’s capital.  The 

remaining unallocated capital of €1 million was committed and subscribed through a private placement 

by a local institutional investor on 12 June 2019.   

2018 was a loss making year for the Group, reporting a bottom-line loss of €2,2 million. This was 

attributed mainly to the efforts to de-risk its balance sheet and more specifically the resolution of 

legacy NPEs, the enhancement of its loan book quality and the voluntary winding-up of its Russian 

operations. The loss making situation is now reversing. Until 31 May 2019, the Group generated after 

tax profits of €3 million, arising from operating profitability, the successful disposal of REOs and the 

resolution of NPE cases. Furthermore, at 31 May 2019 its NPE ratio reduced to 42% while its coverage 

ratio increased to 52% compared to 52% and 38%, respectively in December 2017, while the process for 

the winding-up of the Russian operations is at the final stages and is expected to be completed in July, 

2019. 

Currently the Group is ahead of its Capital Plan with better than anticipated financial performance 

which may be attributed to an improved macroeconomic and legal environment regarding NPEs which 

facilitates the resolution of legacy assets as well as the lower than anticipated losses from discontinued 

operations. The combined effect of the 2019 capital increase and the profitability of the Group to this 

date, have contributed towards the improvement of the Group’s overall capital adequacy ratio to c. 

16,7% 

In this context, Management believes that the Group will be in a position to meet its minimum 

regulatory requirements within the period of assessment.   
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2.2    Statement of compliance 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and the requirements of the Cyprus 

Companies Law, Cap.113 and are for the year ended 31 December 2018. 

2.3    Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except from derivatives, 

investments classified at fair value through other comprehensive income and properties for own use 

which are measured at fair value. Stock of properties are measured at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value.  

2.4 Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and 

Interpretations 

As from 1 January 2018, the Bank adopted all changes to International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRSs) as adopted by the EU which are relevant to its operations.  

The following Standards, Amendments to Standards and Interpretations have been issued by 

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) but are not yet effective for annual periods 

beginning on 1 January 2018. Those which may be relevant to the Bank are set out below. The Bank 

does not plan to adopt these Standards early.  

2.4.1  Standards and Interpretations adopted by the EU 

The Group does not expect that the adoption of these standards, amendments and interpretations will 

have a material effect on the financial statements of the Group and of the Bank. 

  IAS 28 (Amendments) “Long-term Interest in Associates and Joint Ventures” (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019) 

  The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, including its 

impairment requirements, to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture that form part 

of the net investment in the associate or joint venture.  

  IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” (effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019) 

 IFRIC 23 explains how to recognise and measure deferred and current income tax assets and 

liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment. More specifically, it clarifies the 

application of IAS 12 to accounting for income tax treatments that have yet to be accepted by tax 

authorities, in scenarios where it may be unclear how tax law applies to a particular transaction 

or circumstance, or whether a taxation authority will accept an entity’s tax treatment. 
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2  BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

2.4 Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and 

Interpretations (continued) 

2.4.1  Standards and Interpretations adopted by the EU (continued) 
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  IFRS 9 (Amendments) “Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation” (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019) 

  In October 2017, the IASB issued “Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 

(Amendments to IFRS 9)”. The amendments address the issue that under pre-amended IFRS 9, 

financial assets with such features would probably not meet the SPPI criterion and as such would 

be measured at fair value through profit or loss. The IASB believes that this would not be 

appropriate because measuring them at amortised cost provides useful information about the 

amount, timing and uncertainty of their future cash flows. Financial assets with these 

prepayment features can therefore be measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 

comprehensive income provided that they meet the other relevant requirements of IFRS 9. The 

final amendments also contain a clarification in the accounting for a modification or exchange of 

a financial liability measured at amortised cost that does not result in the derecognition of the 

financial liability. Based on the clarification, an entity recognises any adjustment to the amortised 

cost of the financial liability arising from a modification or exchange in profit or loss at the date of 

the modification or exchange.  

 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2019) 

 In December 2017, the IASB published Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015–2017 Cycle, 

containing the following amendments to IFRSs: 

• IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”. The amendments to IFRS 3 

clarify that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, then the 

transaction is a business combination achieved in stages and the acquiring party remeasures 

the previously held interest in that business at fair value. The amendments to IFRS 11 clarify 

that when an entity maintains (or obtains) joint control of a business that is a joint operation, 

the entity does not remeasure previously held interests in that business. 

• IAS 12 “Income Taxes”: the amendments clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends 

(i.e. distribution of profits) are recognised consistently with the transactions that generated the 

distributable profits – i.e. in profit or loss, OCI or equity. 

• IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”: the amendments clarify that if any specific borrowing remains 

outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes 

part of the funds that an entity borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation rate on 

general borrowings. 

• IFRS 11 "Joint Arrangements": the amendments clarify that the party obtaining joint control of a 

business that is a joint operation should not remeasure its previously held interest in the joint 

operation. 
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IFRS 16 “Leases” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019) 

IFRS 16 "Leases" has an effective date for annual periods beginning or on after 1 January 2019 

and replaces existing leases guidance including IAS 17 "Leases", IFRIC 4 "Determining whether 

an Arrangement contains a Lease", SIC 15 "Operating Leases Incentives" and SIC 27 "Evaluating 

the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease". The new standard results in 

lessees accounting for most leases within the scope of the standard in a manner similar to the 

way in which finance leases are currently accounted for under IAS 17 “Leases” and includes all 

contracts that convey the right to use an asset for a period of time in exchange for 

consideration. 

The new standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 

disclosure of leases. All leases result in the lessee obtaining the right to use an asset at the start 

of the lease and, if lease payments are made over time, also obtaining financing. Accordingly, 

IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases as is 

required by IAS 17 and, instead, introduces a single lessee accounting model. 

The Group is required to recognise: (a) assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more 

than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value; and (b) depreciation of lease assets 

separately from interest on lease liabilities in the income statement. The initial recognition of 

the right of use asset and lease liability will be based on the discounted payments required 

under the lease, taking into account the lease term as determined by the new standard. Also, all 

lease liabilities are to be measured with reference to an estimate of the lease term, which 

includes optional lease periods when an entity is reasonably certain to exercise an option to 

extend (or not to terminate) a lease. 

IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, 

the Group will continue to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to 

account for those two types of leases differently. 

As permitted by the Standard, the Group intends to apply the modified retrospective approach, 

which means that it will apply the standard without restatement of comparatives where the 

cumulative effect of initial application is recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of 

retained earnings. In addition, the Group intends to take advantage of the short-term lease 

exemption under IFRS 16 for those contracts whose lease term as of the date of initial 

application of the standard is 12 months or less. For those contracts that contain options to 

terminate or extend the lease term, the Group will consider its intention as of the end of year in 

determining the lease term. 

The expected impact that the application of IFRS 16 will have on the financial statements of the 

Group is yet to be finalised. The assessment is expected to result in an increase of assets and 

financial liabilities with no material impact on retained earnings.  
 



  

 

  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

2  BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

2.4 Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and 

Interpretations (continued) 

2.4.1  Standards and Interpretations adopted by the EU (continued) 

 

Annual report 2018 | 48  

 IAS 19 (Amendments) “Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement” (effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019) 

  In February 2018, the IASB issued amendments to the guidance in IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”, 

in connection with accounting for planned amendments, curtailments and settlements. 

2.4.2   Standards and Interpretations not adopted by the EU  

The Group does not expect that the adoption of these standards, amendments and interpretations will 

have a material effect on the financial statements of the Group and of the Bank. 

  “Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards” (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020) 

  In March 2018 the IASB issued a comprehensive set of concepts for financial reporting, the revised 

“Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting” (Conceptual Framework), replacing the previous 

version issued in 2010. The main changes to the framework’s principles have implications for how 

and when assets and liabilities are recognised and derecognized in the financial statements, while 

some of the concepts in the revised Framework are entirely new (such as the “practical ability” 

approach to liabilities”. To assist companies with the transition, the IASB issued a separate 

accompanying document “Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS 

Standards”. This document updates some references to previous versions of the Conceptual 

Framework in IFRS Standards, their accompanying documents and IFRS Practice Statements 

  Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2020) 

  The amendments narrow and clarify the definition of a business. They also permit a simplified 

assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is a group of assets rather than a 

business. The amended definition emphasises that the output of a business is to provide goods and 

services to customers, whereas the previous definition focused on returns in the form of dividends, 

lower costs or other economic benefits to investors and others.   

Amendments to IAS 1: "Presentation of financial statements" and IAS 8: "Definition of Material" 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020) 

In October 2018, the IASB issued the 'Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)' to 

clarify the definition of ‘material’ and to align the definition used in the Conceptual Framework and 

the standards themselves. The amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should be 

applied, stating that “Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could 

reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial 

statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information 

about a specific reporting entity”.  
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Amendment in IFRS 10 "Consolidated Financial Statements" and IAS 28 "Investments in 

Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture" 

The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 

and those in IAS 28, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its 

associate or joint venture. The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is 

recognised when a transaction involves a business (as defined in IFRS 3). A partial gain or loss is 

recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business. In December 

2015, the IASB postponed the effective date of this amendment indefinitely pending the outcome 

of its research project on the equity method of accounting.  

2.4.3  Recently adopted IFRSs and Interpretations  

IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments" (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) 

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in 

July 2014 with a date of transition of 1 January 2018, which resulted in changes in our accounting 

policies for recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 

and impairment of financial assets. The Group did not early adopt any of IFRS 9 requirements in 

the previous periods.  The impact on the Group from the implementation of the IFRS 9 is presented 

in note 4 to the financial statements.  

IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers" (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2018) 

IFRS 15 establishes a single, comprehensive revenue recognition model for determining when and 

how much revenue to recognise and replaced existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 

18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 ‘Construction Contracts’ and IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programs’. IFRS 15 

applies to all contracts with customers, except those in the scope of other standards such as: 

• Financial instruments and other contractual rights or obligations within the scope of IFRS 9 

‘Financial Instruments’, IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’, IFRS 11 ‘Joint 

Arrangements’, IAS 27 ‘Separate Financial Statements’ and IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates 

and Joint Ventures’; 

• Lease contracts within the scope of IAS 17 ‘Leases’ (or IFRS 16 ‘Leases’); and 

• Insurance contracts within the scope of IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’. 

 

Therefore, interest and fee income integral to financial instruments will continue to fall outside the 

scope of IFRS 15.  
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2.4.3  Recently adopted IFRSs and Interpretations  (continued) 
 

IFRIC 22 "Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration" (effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) 

The interpretation clarifies how to determine the "date of transaction" for the purpose of 

determining the exchange rate to be used on initial recognition of an asset, expense or income, 

when consideration for that item has been paid or received in advance in a foreign currency 

which resulted in the recognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability (e.g. a non-

refundable deposit or deferred revenue). IFRIC 22 specifies that the transaction date is the date 

on which the entity initially recognises the prepayment or deferred income arising from the 

advance consideration. For transactions involving multiple payments or receipts, each payment 

or receipt gives rise to a separate transaction date. The interpretation did not have a material 

impact on the financial statements of the Group. 

2.5  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 

The Group and the Bank have applied the new definition of fair value as set out in note 34. The change 

had no significant impact on the measurements of the Group's and the Bank's assets and liabilities, but 

the Group and the Bank have included new disclosures in the financial statements, which are required 

under IFRS 13. 

The Group and the Bank use the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing fair value: 

Level 1: financial investments valued using quoted prices in active markets. 

Level 2: investments valued using models for which all inputs which have a significant effect on fair 

value are market observable. 

Level 3: investments valued using models for which inputs which have a significant effect on fair 

value are not based on observable market data. 

2.6  Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements of the Group and of the Bank are for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 

are presented in Euro (€), which is the functional currency of the Bank and its subsidiaries in Cyprus. 

The functional currency of the foreign subsidiary held for sale is Russian Roubles. 

2.7  Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRSs requires from Management the 

exercise of judgment, to make estimates and assumptions that influence the application of accounting 

principles and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and 

underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are deemed 

to be reasonable based on knowledge available at that time.  Actual results may deviate from such 

estimates. 
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2.7  Use of estimates and judgments (continued) 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on a regular basis.  Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 

period or in the period of the revision and in future periods if the revision affects both current and 

future periods. 

The accounting policies which involve significant estimates and judgments are set out under note 3.  
 

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The accounting policies followed in respect of items which are considered material for the results for 

the year and the reporting of the financial condition of the Group and the Bank, are stated below. 

3.1   Consolidated financial statements 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company, and of its 

subsidiary companies, which together are referred to as the “Group”. 

All inter-company transactions and balances and any unrealised income and expenses between the 

parent company and the subsidiary companies of the Group are eliminated on consolidation. 

3.2   Foreign currency 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the Group at 

the rates ruling at the date of the transaction. Other assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated into Euro at the rates of exchange ruling at the end of the year. Exchange 

differences arising from the above are dealt with in the income statement. 

The income statement of the foreign subsidiary company is translated into Euro using the mid-rate of 

exchange of the year. The assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiary are translated into Euro at the 

rate of exchange ruling at the end of the year. The exchange difference arising from the above is dealt 

with directly in exchange difference reserves. 

3.3   Turnover 

The Group's and the Bank's turnover comprises interest income, fee and commission income, foreign 

exchange gains, dividends and profits on disposal of equity investments, fees from services rendered 

and other income. 
  

3.4   Interest income and interest expense   

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 

The Group calculates interest income by applying the effective interest rate (EIR) to the gross carrying 

amount of financial assets, unless the asset is credit-impaired.  
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3.4   Interest income and interest expense (continued) 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued) 

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired and is therefore classified as Stage 3, interest income is 

calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of the financial asset, being the gross carrying 

amount of the financial asset less any loss allowance. If the financial asset cures and is no longer credit-

impaired, the Group reverts to calculating interest income on the gross carrying amount. In such cases, 

the Group reverses the unwinding of the discount on the expected credit losses (ECL) through the 

'Provisions for impairment” line in the Income Statement. 

For purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) financial assets, interest income is recognised by 

applying a credit adjusted EIR (CAEIR) on the amortised cost of the financial asset.  
 

Interest expense on financial liabilities held at amortised cost is calculated using the EIR method which 

allocates interest over the expected life of the financial liabilities. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or 

receipts though the expected life of the financial asset or liability to the net carrying amount of the 

financial asset or liability. 

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 

Interest income is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate method.  

Interest income on impaired loans and advances (up to the amount of the total increase of impairment 

amount) is suspended and included in the accumulated impairment losses on the value of loans and 

advances. 

Interest expense on financial liabilities held at amortised cost is calculated using the EIR method which 

allocates interest over the expected life of the financial liabilities. 

3.5   Fee and commission income and expense  

The Group applies the IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” five-step revenue recognition 

model to recognise commissions and fee income, under which income is recognised when control of 

goods and services is transferred, hence the contractual performance obligations to the customer has 

been satisfied. 

As a first step, the Group identifies the contract with the customer and subsequently the performance 

obligation. The amount of income is measured on the basis of the contractually agreed transaction price 

and is allocated to the performance obligations defined in the contract. Income is recognised in profit or 

loss when the identified performance obligation has been satisfied. 

Fee and commission expense is recognised in the income statement on an accruals basis, as the related 

services are performed. 

3.6   Dividend  

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
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3.7   Profit/(loss) from disposal of stock of property  

Net profit/(loss) on disposal of stock of property is recognised in the income statement when the buyer 

accepts delivery and the control of property is transferred to the buyer. 

3.8   Retirement benefits to staff 

The Bank operates a defined contributions plan for its permanent employees. This plan provides for 

employer contributions of 9% (2017: 9%) and employee contributions of 3% - 10% of the employees’ 

gross salaries. The Bank's contributions are charged to the income statement.  The plan is managed by a 

Committee appointed by the members. 

3.9   Taxation 

Provision for taxation is made in accordance with the tax legislation and tax rates applicable in Cyprus 

and the Russian Federation, where the Group carries on operations. Corporation tax in Cyprus is 

calculated at the rate of 12,5%. Corporation tax in the Russian Federation is calculated at the rate of 20%. 

Provision for deferred taxation is also made for all temporary differences between the carrying values of 

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base. Deferred taxation is calculated 

using the tax rates that were applicable at the end of the year. Any deferred tax assets arising from 

deductible temporary differences are recognised only to the extent that it is expected that taxable profits 

will be available in the future. Taxation is recognised in the income statement unless it relates to items 

recognised directly in equity or in the statement of comprehensive income. Tax assets and liabilities are 

offset if they relate to taxes imposed by the same tax authority provided it allows such settlements and 

provided the intention of the Group is to either settle the net amount or realise the asset and settle the 

obligation simultaneously.    

3.10  Special Levy 

According to the “Special Levy on Credit Institutions Law of 2011 to 2017”, special levy is imposed on 

credit institutions on a quarterly basis, at the rate of 0,0375% on qualifying deposits held by each credit 

institution on 31 December of the previous year for the quarter ending on 31 March, on 31 March of the 

same year for the quarter ending on 30 June, on 30 June of the same year for the quarter ending on 30 

September and on 30 September of the same year for the quarter ending on 31 December. Based on an 

amendment to the Law effective as from 6 October 2017, an amount corresponding to the annual 

contribution of each credit institution to the Resolution Fund or to the Single Resolution Fund as the case 

may be, is deducted from the balance of special levy payable, up to the maximum amount of special levy 

for the same year. 

3.11  Financial instruments  

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 

The Group applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to the recognition, classification and measurement, and 

derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities and the impairment of financial assets. 
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3.11  Financial instruments (continued) 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 

i. Classification  

Business model assessment 

The Group classifies financial assets based on the business model for managing those assets and their 

contractual cash flow characteristics. Accordingly, financial assets are classified into one of the following 

measurement categories:  

• amortised cost;  

• fair value through other comprehensive income; or  

• fair value through profit or loss.  

The business model assessment determines how the Group manages a group of assets to generate cash 

flows. That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect contractual cash flows from the assets, to 

realize cash flows from the sale of assets, or both to collect contractual cash flows and cash flows from 

the sale of assets. In addition, the business model is determined after aggregating the financial assets into 

groups (business lines) which are managed similarly rather than at an individual instruments level. 

Accordingly, in making the above assessment, the Group will consider a number of factors including the 

risks associated with the performance of the business model and how those risks are evaluated and 

managed and the frequency, volume and reasons of past sales, as well as expectations about future sales 

activity. 

ii. Measurement categories 

Financial Assets measured at Amortised Cost (AC) 

The Group classifies and measures a financial asset at AC only if both of the following conditions are met 

and is not designated as a FVTPL: 

a) the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash 

flows (hold-to-collect business model); and 

b) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI). 

Financial assets that meet these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus direct and incremental 

transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the EIR method. Interest 

income, realised gains and losses on de-recognition and changes in expected credit losses from assets 

classified at AC, are included in the income statement. 

The classification relates to cash and balances with Central Bank, placements with other banks and loans 

and advances to customers that pass the SPPI test. 

Financial Assets measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) 

The Group classifies and measures a financial asset at FVOCI only if both of the following conditions are 

met and is not designated as a FVTPL: 

a) the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets (hold-to-collect-and-sell business model); and 

b) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI. 
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3.11  Financial instruments (continued) 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued) 

ii.  Measurement categories (continued) 

Financial Assets measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) (continued) 

Financial assets that meet these criteria are debt instruments and are measured initially at fair value, 

plus direct and incremental transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition FVOCI debt instruments 

are re-measured at fair value through OCI except for interest income, related foreign exchange gains or 

losses and expected credit losses which are recognised in the income statement. Cumulative gains and 

losses previously recognised in OCI are transferred from OCI to the income statement when the debt 

instrument is derecognised. 

Equity Instruments designated at FVOCI 

The Group may make an irrevocable election to designate an equity instrument that is not held for 

trading at FVOCI. This designation, if elected, is made at initial recognition and on an instrument-by-

instrument basis. Gains and losses on these instruments, including when derecognised, are recorded in 

OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to the income statement. Dividends received are recorded in 

the income statement. 

Financial Assets measured at Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FVTPL) 

A financial asset that has been originated, acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of trading or 

that is not managed within a "hold to collect" or a "hold to collect and sell" business model shall be 

measured at FVTPL. Additionally, instruments for which the contractual cash flows do not meet the SPPI 

assessment must be measured at FVTPL even if they are managed within a business model whose 

objective is "hold to collect" or "hold to collect and sell".  

Upon subsequent measurement of FVTPL a gain or loss on financial asset shall be recognised in profit or 

loss. 

Derivatives 

Derivatives include mainly forward exchange rate contracts and currency swaps. Derivatives are 

recognised initially and are subsequently measured at fair value. Derivatives are classified as assets 

when their fair value is positive or as liabilities when their fair value is negative. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities include deposits by banks, customer deposits and other customer accounts. Financial 

liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
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3.11  Financial instruments (continued) 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued) 

iii. Derecognition 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 

which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in 

which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and 

it does not retain control of the financial asset. The Group derecognises a financial liability when its 

contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.  

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 

i. Classification 

The Group classifies its financial assets that comprise of balances with Central Banks, placements with 

other banks, loans and advances to customers, investments in debt securities and investment in equity 

securities, under the following categories. Financial assets are classified in these categories upon their 

initial recognition based on their characteristics and the purpose for which they were acquired. 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following IAS 39 categories:  

• held-to-maturity financial assets; 

• loans and receivables;  

• available-for-sale financial assets; 

• at fair value through profit or loss. 

Management determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. 

Held-to-maturity investments 

Held to maturity investments are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 

maturity that the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity and they do not meet the 

loans and receivables definition. If the Group were to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-

maturity assets, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. 

At the beginning of the year 2017 the Group classified debt securities as held-to-maturity but following 

the sale of a significant amount of assets under this category the entire category was reclassified as 

available-for-sale. 

Loans and receivables 

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and that the Group does not intend to 

sell immediately or in the near term. 

Cash and balances with Central Banks, placements with other banks and loans and advances to 

customers are classified under this category.  Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables 

are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less provisions for impairment 

losses. 
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3.11  Financial instruments (continued) 

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 

i. Classification (continued) 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available for sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period 

of time or may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market risks (interest rates, 

exchange rates or prices).  

Debt securities are classified under the available-for-sale category.  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

This category comprises two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and financial assets 

designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.  

The Group does not classify any financial asset at fair value through profit or loss. 

ii. Measurement 

Loans and advances originated by the Bank are recognised when cash is advanced to the borrowers. 

Purchases and sales of all other financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the 

Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus 

transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss.   

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains and losses arising from 

changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised directly in equity, until the 

financial asset is derecognised or impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 

recognised in equity is recognised in income statement. However, interest calculated using the effective 

interest rate method is recognised in the income statement. 

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method.  

Dividends on equity instruments are recognised in the income statement when the Group’s right to 

receive payment is established. 

iii. Derecognition 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows expire, or when 

it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in 

which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.  

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligation is discharged, cancelled or 

expired. 
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3.12  Impairment of financial assets 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model under IAS 39 with a forward-looking ‘expected credit loss’ 

(ECL) model. Under the new forward looking approach the estimation of ECL requires more judgement, 

estimates, and assumptions in considering information for current as well as future events and 

conditions.  

The new impairment model applies to financial assets that are not measured at FVTPL including loans, 

lease receivables, debt securities, financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments issued. Under 

IFRS 9 no impairment losses need to be recognised on equity investments.  

IFRS 9 requires a loss allowance to be recognised at an amount equal to either 12 month ECL or lifetime 

ECL. At initial recognition, an impairment allowance is required for expected credit losses (ECL) resulting 

from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (12 month ECL). In the event of a 

significant increase in credit risk, an allowance is required for ECL resulting from all possible default 

events over the expected life of the financial instrument (lifetime ECL). IFRS 9 requires the classification 

of facilities/customers in three stages, according to the increases in credit risk level, considering certain 

criteria: 

• Stage 1: Financial Instruments are classified as stage 1 when the credit risk has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition. The Group recognises a credit loss allowance at an amount 

equal to 12 month expected credit losses. 

• Stage 2: Financial Instruments are classified as stage 2 when the credit risk has increased significantly 

since initial recognition but not to the point that the asset is credit impaired. The Group recognises a 

credit loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. 

• Stage 3: Financial Instruments are classified as stage 3 when the credit quality of a financial asset 

deteriorates to the point that the asset is credit impaired. The Bank aligned Stage 3 classification 

with the NPE classification, consistent with the definition used for internal credit risk management 

purposes. The Group recognises a credit loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected 

credit losses. 

Upon initial recognition of instruments in scope of the new impairment principles, the Group will record 

a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, being the ECL that results from default events that are possible 

within the next twelve months unless assets are considered as Purchased or originated as Credit 

Impaired (POCI).  When the criteria for stage 2 classification are no longer met, and the financial asset is 

not credit impaired, it will be reclassified to stage 1. In addition, subsequent transfers from stage 3 to 

stage 2 will take place when the financial asset ceases to be credit impaired as defined further below. 

The loss allowance for POCI financial assets will always be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.  

POCI financial assets include assets purchased at a deep discount and substantially modified assets 

arising from de-recognition of the original asset that are considered originated credit impaired.  POCI 

financial assets remain a separate category until derecognition and are classified either as stage 3 or 

stage 2.  For POCI financial assets, cumulative changes in lifetime ECLs since initial recognition are 

recognised in the loss allowance. 
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3.12 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued) 

Interest revenue recognition 

The Group will recognise interest income of financial assets at stage 1 or 2, by applying the effective 

interest rate (EIR) on their gross carrying amount, while for financial assets at stage 3 by applying EIR on 

their net carrying amount.  

Significant increase in credit risk 

As noted above financial assets that experience a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition will be classified under stage 2 and the loss allowance calculation will change from 12 

month ECLs to lifetime ECLs. In assessing whether a financial asset has experienced a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group uses a combination of qualitative and backstop 

criteria including:  

• Previous arrears over 30 days within the last 12 months. 

• Actual or expected forbearance measures, as per the EBA definition. 

• Individual assessment of significant increase in credit risk for significant exposures to ensure that 

the following indicators are taken into consideration:  

� Actual or expected significant change in operating results of the borrower; 

� Significant adverse changes in business, financial and/or economic conditions in which the 

borrower operates; 

� Significant change in collateral value which is expected to increase risk of default; 

� Early warning signs of cashflow/liquidity problems such as delay in servicing trade creditors.  

Backstop 

As required by IFRS 9, the Group considers as a backstop criterion that a significant increase in credit 

risk occurs when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due (past due materiality is 

applied). The materiality levels applied are set in accordance with the CBC Directives. 

Significant increase in credit risk for financial instruments other than loans and advances to customers 

IFRS 9 low credit risk exception has been adopted by the Group for debt security instruments, 

balances with banks and balances with central banks that are assigned an investment grade rating by 

an external credit rating agency. For these exposures the Group considers that significant 

deterioration in credit risk has occurred in the event of two notches or more downgrade of the credit 

rating at initial recognition (unless the credit rating remains within the investment grade category). 

Credit-impaired exposures 

As noted above credit-impaired exposures are allocated to stage 3 and lifetime ECLs are estimated. The 

Group considers as credit-impaired and hence in default all non-performing exposures (NPE) as per 

regulatory guidance.  According to the European Banking Authority (EBA) standards and European 

Central Bank’s (ECB) Guidance to Banks on NPE of March 2017, NPEs are defined as those exposures 

that satisfy one of the following conditions: 
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3.12  Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued) 

Credit impaired exposures (continued) 

• The borrower is assessed as unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full without the realisation of the 

collateral, regardless of the existence of any past due amount or of the number of days past due. 

• Defaulted or impaired exposures as per the approach provided in the Capital Requirement 

Regulation (CRR), which would also trigger a default under specific credit adjustment, distress 

restructuring and obligor bankruptcy.  

• Material exposures as set by the Central Bank of Cyprus, which are more than 90 days past due. 

• Performing forborne exposures under probation for which additional forbearance measures are 

extended. 

• Performing forborne exposures under probation that present more than 30 days past due within 

the probation period. 

When the exit criteria from the NPE status defined in the EBA standards are met and the exposure 

ceases to be an NPE, it is transferred out of stage 3. At such time if the conditions for stage 2 

classification are met the exposure is transferred to stage 2 otherwise it is classified as stage 1. 

Debt Securities, loans and advances to banks and balances with central banks 

Debt Securities, loans and advances to banks and balances with central banks are considered defaulted 

and transferred to stage 3 if the issuers have failed to pay either interest or principal for a period of 90 

consecutive days. In addition, a number of other criteria are considered to determine whether there 

has been a significant deterioration that could result in unlikeliness to pay. 

Measurement of expected credit losses 

As described above, if the credit risk of a financial instrument that is not classified as POCI has not 

increased significantly at the reporting date compared to its origination date, the loss allowance will be 

measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs. The 12-month ECLs represent a portion of lifetime 

losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12 months after the reporting 

date and is equal to the expected cash shortfalls over the life of the instrument or group of instruments, 

due to loss events probable within the next 12 months. 

In cases where a significant increase in credit risk on a financial instrument has been identified at the 

reporting date since initial recognition date, the measurement of ECLs will be conducted on a lifetime 

basis. Lifetime ECLs represent the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over 

the expected life of the financial instrument.  

The measurement of ECLs will be an estimate of credit losses that will reflect the time value of money. 

A credit loss is the difference between the cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the 

contractual terms of the instrument and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive (i.e. cash 

shortfalls) discounted at the original effective interest rate (EIR) of the same instrument, or the 

credit-adjusted EIR in case of purchased or originated credit impaired assets (POCI). In measuring ECL, 

information about past events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future 

conditions is considered.  
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3.12  Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued) 

Measurement of expected credit losses (continued) 

For the purposes of measuring ECL, the Group estimates expected cash shortfalls, which reflect the cash 

flows expected from all possible sources including collateral and other credit enhancements that are 

part of the contractual terms and are not recognised separately. In the case of a collateralised financial 

instrument, the estimated expected cash flows related to the collateral reflect the amount and timing 

of cash flows that are expected from foreclosure on the collateral less the discounted costs of obtaining 

and selling the collateral, irrespective of whether foreclosure is probable.  

ECLs on financial guarantee contracts are estimated as the difference between the expected payments 

to reimburse the holder of the guarantee less any amounts that the Group expects to recover. 

The Group calculates ECLs either on an individual basis or a collective basis depending on the nature of 

the underlying portfolio of exposures. ECLs on individually large credit-impaired loans, above 

pre-defined materiality thresholds set in accordance with the Group’s risk management policy are 

measured individually. This incorporates borrower and collateral specific information, collective 

historical experience of losses and forward-looking macroeconomic information. All customer 

exposures that are not individually assessed, are assessed on a collective basis. For this purpose, the 

exposures are grouped into segments with similar risk characteristics/ behaviour. 

ECL Key inputs 

The ECL calculations are based on the term structures of the probability of default (PD), the loss given 

default (LGD), the exposure at default (EAD) and other input parameters such as the credit conversion 

factor (CCF). Generally, the Group derives these parameters from internally developed statistical 

models and observed point-in-time and historical data. ECLs are calculated based on three-weighted 

scenarios.  

The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligations either on the next 

twelve months or over the remaining lifetime. The group calculates the PDs using internal statistical 

models for different segments. The estimation of PDs is based on point-in-time unbiased PDs that are 

derived from TTC PDs through the application of a scaling factor that reflects the current economic 

conditions and incorporates forward-looking information and macroeconomic inputs. For certain 

segments the PDs are estimated at the debtor level while for retail portfolios are estimated at the 

facility level. 

EAD represents the exposure that the Group expects to be owed at the time of default. In estimating 

the EAD of each exposure at each point in time for the period over which the ECL will be estimated, 

historical observations and forward looking forecasts to reflect payments or overpayments of principal 

and interest and any potential drawdowns on lending commitments are utilised. EAD estimation is 

different for the following categories: term exposures, revolving exposures, credit-impaired exposures 

and guarantees and trade finance products. For term exposures the contractual term of the exposure is 

considered to reflect repayments of principal and interest. For revolving exposures the projected EAD is 

the carrying amount plus the credit conversion factor applied to the undrawn amount. For CCFs the 

factors provided in European regulation 575/2013 are used. For credit -impaired exposures, the EAD is  
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3.12  Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued) 

ECL Key inputs (continued) 

equal to the on-balance sheet amount as at the reporting date. For guarantees and trade finance 

products the CCFs for unutilised commitments are utilised.  

LGD represents the Group’s expectation of the extent of loss if a default occurs at a given time and is 

the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Group expects to receive 

including any amounts from collateral liquidation. LGD varies by type of counterparty, type and 

seniority of claim, availability of collateral or other credit support, and is usually expressed as a 

percentage of EAD. The LGD model structure considers two outcomes in the event of default: curing 

and non-curing. Probability of curing is estimated based on historical observations for different 

segments based on time in default and risk status. In the event of non-curing LGD estimates are based 

on recovery expectation under different recovery strategies such as cash recoveries from sources other 

than collateral realisations and realisation of collateral. In collectively assessed exposures a minimum 

LGD is imposed. 

Forward-looking inputs  

The Group incorporates forward-looking information when measuring ECL. This involves the use of 

external forecasts to formulate both a ‘baseline’ view of key economic variables (e.g. GDP Growth, 

unemployment, house prices) as well as two additional economic scenarios representing a pessimistic 

and an optimistic macroeconomic outcome to estimate ECLs by linking economic variables to default 

and loss rates. For PDs this is achieved through regression equations while for LGDs forward-looking 

information is factored in through the evolution of property indices. The ECLs that result under each 

scenario are weighted to achieve an unbiased estimate of ECL. The weights applied are 50% for the 

baseline scenario and 25% for the pessimistic and optimistic scenarios, respectively. 

The table below shows the macroeconomic variables for each scenario and the respective scenario 

weights: 

Cyprus Economy – Macroeconomic Parameters 

Scenarios   2019 2020 2021 Probability 

weight % 

Optimistic 

Real GDP change  % 2,81 2,11 1,36  

Unemployment rate % 7,32 7,04 6,98 25% 

House Price index change % 3,88 2,92 2,39  

Baseline 

Real GDP change % 1,63 1,33 1,14  

Unemployment rate % 7,72 7,55 7,43 50% 

House Price index change % 2,77 1,56 1,70  

Pessimistic 

Real GDP change % -2,76 -2,48 1,77  

Unemployment rate % 10,03 12,42 12,89 25% 

House Price index change % -0,18 -2,82 -0,45  
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3.12  Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018  

Loans and advances to customers 

At the end of each reporting period the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that loans 

and receivables are impaired.   

Loans and advances are considered doubtful when there are objective indications that the Group will 

not collect all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms of the agreement, unless such 

loans and advances are secured by tangible collateral or other indications exist that the amounts due 

will be collected. 

Objective evidence that loans and advances are impaired include significant financial difficulty of the 

borrower, default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on 

terms that the Group would not consider otherwise or indications that the borrower will enter 

bankruptcy.  

The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances at both a specific and collective 

level. Loans and advances are individually assessed for specific impairment. Those found not to be 

individually impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not 

reported yet (IBNR).  

Provisions are made to reduce doubtful accounts to their estimated recoverable amount. The amount 

of the specific provision is the difference between the book value and the estimated recoverable 

amount of the loan taking into account the estimated recoverable amounts from tangible collateral and 

guarantees. In assessing collective impairment, the Group applies probabilities of default and loss given 

defaults, based on management's judgment of the current economic and credit conditions. The 

emergence period which indicates the approximate time required for non-performance to be identified 

is also considered in the calculation of collective impairment. Loans and advances are written off to the 

extent that their recovery is no longer feasible. Doubtful accounts are monitored continuously and 

provisions for doubtful accounts are released through income statement, only when events and factors 

make the collection of doubtful amounts feasible. 
 

Available-for-sale investments 

When there is objective evidence that an available for sale investment is impaired, the cumulative loss 

that has been recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the income statement. The 

amount of the cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive income to the income 

statement is the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment 

loss on that investment previously recognised in the income statement. 

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available for sale investment increases and the 

increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in 

the income statement, the impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised in 

other comprehensive income. 
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3.12  Offsetting 

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount is presented in the statement of financial 

position only when the Group has a legal right to set off the amounts and intends either to settle on a 

net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  Income and expenses are 

presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards, or for gains and losses 

arising from a group of similar transactions. 
 

3.14  Subsidiary companies 

Subsidiary companies are investees controlled by the Group. The Group “controls” an investee if it is 

exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability 

to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 

included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the 

date when control ceases. 

The subsidiary companies are consolidated using the acquisition method of accounting. Any excess of 

the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired, is 

recognised as goodwill on the consolidated statement of financial position. The investments in the 

subsidiary companies are fully eliminated on consolidation in the consolidated financial statements of 

the Group.   

Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 

as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners. Adjustments to non-controlling interests are 

based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary. No adjustments are made to 

goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised in the income statement.  

The investments in the subsidiary companies are stated in the Bank's separate financial statements at 

their assessed fair value. The Group designates investments in subsidiary companies at FVOCI.  Any 

gains or losses on subsidiary companies, are recorded in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to 

the income statement upon derecognition. Dividends received are recorded in the income statement. 

3.15  Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, non-obligatory balances with central banks, deposits with 

banks and other securities that are highly liquid and readily convertible into known amounts of cash or 

are repayable within three months from the date of their acquisition. 

3.16  Premises and equipment 

Freehold premises are used in the operations of the Group and are stated at valuation on the basis of 

open market value for existing use as assessed by independent professional valuers less accumulated 

depreciation. Revaluation surpluses or deficits are credited or debited to the revaluation reserve. Any 

deficit not covered by accumulated revaluation surpluses in the revaluation reserve for the specific 

asset, is written off to the income statement. 
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3.16  Premises and equipment (continued) 

Equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation. Material expenses which add future 

economic benefit are capitalised whereas other expenses are written off to the income statement. 

Depreciation on premises is provided on the straight-line method in equal annual instalments over a 

period of 33 years. No depreciation is provided on land. 

Depreciation on equipment is provided on the straight-line method in equal annual instalments over 

their estimated useful life, which ranges from five to ten years. 

On disposal of premises and equipment, the difference between the net proceeds and the net book 

value is transferred to the income statement. Any related balance in the revaluation reserve is 

transferred to revenue reserve. 

3.17  Intangible assets 

Intangible assets include computer software and goodwill.  

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation on computer software 

is provided on the straight-line method in equal annual instalments over their estimated useful life, 

which ranges from three to five years.  

Maintenance expenses of computer software are written off to the income statement in the year in 

which they are incurred. 

3.18  Stock of properties 

The Bank in its normal course of business acquires properties in exchange of debt, which are held either 

directly or by special purpose entities (SPEs) set up and controlled by the Bank for the sole purpose of 

managing these properties with an intention to be disposed of.   

Stock of properties is recognised in the statement of financial position and is included under 

“receivables and other assets”, reflecting the substance of these transactions. The initial measurement 

of the acquired property is based on the carrying amount of the debt settled. Subsequently to initial 

recognition, stock of properties is measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value (NRV). Any 

write-down to NRV is recognised as an expense in the income statement in the period in which the 

write down occurs.  Profit or loss from disposal of stock of properties held for sale, is the difference 

between the net consideration amount and the carrying value of the asset and is recognised in the 

income statement when the asset is disposed. 
 

3.19  Client deposits 

Client deposits are initially measured at the fair value of the consideration received, which equals the 

amount deposited by the client minus incremental direct transaction costs. Subsequently, client 

deposits are measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
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3.20  Loan capital  

Loan capital issued by the Bank is initially recorded at fair value, which equals the amount received less 

transaction costs directly attributable to the issue, and subsequently is measured at its amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method. 

3.21  Share capital 

The Bank's own shares are stated as equity. 

3.22  Derivatives 

Derivatives consist of forward exchange rate contracts and foreign exchange swaps. 

Derivatives are initially recorded at cost and then revalued at their assessed fair value. Changes in the 

fair value of derivatives are recognised in the income statement. The assessed fair value is estimated on 

the basis of current prices and of discounted cash flows. Derivatives are classified as assets when their 

value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. 

All derivatives are recorded as trading derivatives and adjustments to their assessed fair value are 

included in the income statement under net foreign exchange gains. 

3.23  Guarantees 

Guarantees issued comprise performance and tender guarantees and other letters of guarantee given 

to clients and represent irrevocable obligations of the Bank to pay a specific amount to the beneficiary 

only if the terms of the specific contractual obligation are not adhered to. 

Liabilities arising from guarantees are initially measured at fair value and the initial fair value is 

amortised over the life of the guarantee. The liability is subsequently carried at the higher of this 

amortised amount and the present value of any expected payment to settle the liability when a 

payment under the contract has become probable.  

3.24  Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 

determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's 

recoverable amount is estimated.  

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds 

its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair 

value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 

of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

The loss from impairment of goodwill is not reversible. The loss from impairment of other non-financial 

assets is reversible only to the extent that the carrying value does not exceed net carrying value that 

the non-financial asset would have if the impairment loss was not recognised 
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3.25  Discontinued operations 

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of 

which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which: 

• represents a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations; 

• is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographic 

area of operations; or 

• is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to re-sale. 

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation meets 

the criteria to be classified as held-for-sale. 

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of profit or loss 

and OCI is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative 

year.  

Net profit or loss from discontinued operations includes the net total of operating profit and loss after 

tax from discontinued operations. 

3.26  Assets held for sale 

The Group classifies assets as held for sale if the carrying amount will be recovered principally through a 

sale transaction rather than through continuing use. The condition is regarded as met only when the 

sale is highly probable, and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition. 

Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a 

completed sale within one year from the date of classification. When the Bank is committed to a sale 

plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, the total assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are 

classified as held for sale, regardless of whether non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after 

the sale is retained.  Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their 

carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Impairment losses on initial classification and gains or 

losses from subsequent measurement are recognised in the income statement. A gain is only 

recognised to the extent that it is not in excess of the cumulative impairment loss that has been 

recognised. 

The Group classifies as held-for-sale the Russian subsidiary JSC cdbbank under voluntary wind-up. 

3.27  Comparatives 

Comparatives presented in the financial statements are restated, where considered necessary, to 

conform with changes in the presentation of the current year. 
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4.  TRANSITION TO IFRS 9 – IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND ANALYSIS  

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early adoption permitted. It replaces IAS 39 ‘Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. IFRS 9 includes revised requirements on the classification 

and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, impairment of financial assets, and hedge 

accounting as detailed further below. 

In October 2017, the IASB issued ‘Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’ (amendments to 

IFRS 9) effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 but not yet endorsed by the 

EU. The amendment changes IFRS 9 requirements in order to allow measurement of a financial asset at 

amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), depending on the 

business model, even in the case of prepayment options which could result in the party that triggers the 

early termination receiving compensation from the other party (negative compensation). The 

amendment also confirms the modification accounting of financial liabilities under IFRS 9. Adoption of 

the amendment is not expected to impact the financial statements. 

The Group adopted IFRS 9 as issued in July 2014 initially on 1 January 2018.  

Comparative information on transition  

The classification and measurement and impairment requirements of IFRS 9 were applied 

retrospectively by adjusting the opening balance sheet at the date of the initial adoption. As permitted 

by IFRS 9 the Group has not restated comparative periods. The impact on the adoption date on 1 

January 2018 which amounted to €3.516 thousand, was therefore recognised through the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity in the opening retained earnings and other components of equity, as 

appropriate.  As permitted by IFRS 9, in the financial statements the Group’s 2017 comparative figures 

have not been restated but rather presented on an IAS39 basis and is therefore not comparable to the 

information presented for 2018 under IFRS 9. 
  

Regulatory capital transitional arrangements 

The Group has elected to apply the provisions of EU Regulation 2017/2395 for gradual phase-in over a 

five year period of the impact on regulatory capital arising from the difference between the impairment 

amount as calculated on initial application of IFRS 9 with the amount recognised as at 31 December 

2017 in accordance with IAS 39. The amount to be added back to regulatory own funds each year will 

decrease based on weighting factors specified in the said EU Regulation. For the year 2018 the impact 

on the capital ratios will be 5% of the aforementioned difference in impairment amounts.  
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Impact assessment 

For the purpose of the transition to IFRS 9, the Group carried out a business model assessment across 

various portfolios and a review of the contractual terms (SPPI review) for its loans and advances and 

debt instruments portfolios to determine any potential changes to the classification and measurement.  

The business model assessment and the SPPI review did not result in any significant changes compared 

to how financial assets were measured under IAS 39. In particular: 

• Loans and advances to banks and customers that were classified as loans and receivables and 

measured at amortised cost under IAS 39, are also measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9; 

• Debt securities classified as available for sale under IAS 39, are measured at FVOCI; 

• Held to maturity investment securities were measured at amortised cost under IAS 39, are 

measured at amortised cost or FVOCI depending on the business model within which they are held; 

• Trading and derivative assets that were measured at FVTPL under IAS 39 are measured at FVTPL 

under IFRS 9; 

• Equity securities classified as available for sale under IAS 39 are measured at FVTPL under IFRS 9. 
 

 

(a) Classification and measurement of financial instruments 

Οn adoption of the standard on 1 January 2018, the impact of the changes related to the classification 

and measurement of financial assets held as at 1 January 2018 is analysed as follows: 

    The Group The Bank 

 Note  

 

 

 

Classification 

under IAS 39 

 

 

New 

classificatio

n under 

 IFRS 9 

 

 

 

Carrying 

amount  

IAS 39 

New 

carrying 

amount 

IFRS 9 

(before 

ECLs)  

 

 

 

Carrying 

amount IAS 

39 

New 

carrying 

amount 

IFRS 9 

(before 

ECLs)  

    €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 

Financial assets        

Cash and balances with 

Central Banks 17 

Loans and 

receivables 

Amortised 

cost 
                       

96.853  

                

96.853  

               

96.853  

               

96.853  

Balances with other 

banks 17 

Loans and 

receivables 

Amortised 

cost 
                    

119.452  

              

119.452  

             

119.357  

             

119.357  

Loans and advances 19 

Loans and 

receivables 

Amortised 

cost 
                    

255.540  

              

255.540  

             

255.540  

             

255.540  

Equity investments 20 AFS** FVOCI* 978  978  671   671  

Debt securities 21 AFS** FVOCI*  50.671  50.671  50.671        50.671  

Financial Liabilities 
   

    

Provision for financial 

guarantees and 

commitments  

 

 

31 

 

 

n/a 

 

 

n/a 310 310 310 310 

*FVOCI: Fair value through other comprehensive income 

** AFS: Available for Sale       

***FVTPL: Fair value through profit and loss 

There were no other changes to the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. 
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(b) Reconciliation of statement of financial position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9  

The following table reconciles the carrying amounts of financial assets from their previous 

measurement category in accordance with IAS 39 to their new measurement categories upon transition 

to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.    
 

THE GROUP 

   

IAS 39 

Carrying 

amount Reclassifications  Remeasurements 

IFRS 9 

carrying 

amount 

  2017   

1 January 

2018 

  €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Fair Value through profit or loss (FVTPL)      

DERIVATIVES      

Opening balance under IAS 39  - - - - 

Closing balance under IFRS 9  - - - - 

Total financial assets measured at FVTPL  - - - - 

      

Available for sale (AFS)           

EQUITY INVESTMENTS           

Opening balance under IAS 39  978 - - - 

Subtraction: To FVOCI (A)       -    (978)       -       - 

Closing balance under IFRS 9        - -       -       - 

DEBT SECURITIES           

Opening balance under IAS 39  50.671   - - 

Subtraction: To FVOCI (B)       - (50.671) - - 

Closing balance under IFRS 9  - - - - 

Total financial assets classified as AFS   51.649 (51.649) - - 

      

Fair Value through Other Comprehensive 

Income (FVOCI)           

EQUITY INVESTMENTS           

Opening balance under IAS 39  - - - - 

Addition: From AFS (A) - 978 - - 

Closing balance under IFRS 9  - - -      978  

DEBT SECURITIES           

Opening balance under IAS 39  - - - - 

Addition: From AFS (B) - 50.671 - - 

Remeasurement: ECL Allowance  - - (70) - 

Closing balance under IFRS 9  - - -   50.601  

Total financial assets measured at FVOCI   - 51.649  (70) 51.579 
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(b) Reconciliation of statement of financial position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 (continued)  

 

  

IAS 39 

Carrying 

amount Reclassifications  Remeasurements 

IFRS 9 

carrying 

amount 

  2017   

1 January 

2018 

  €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Loans and receivables           

CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL 

BANKS           

Opening balance under IAS 39  96.853  - - - 

Remeasurement: ECL Allowance  - - - - 

Closing balance under IFRS 9  - - - 96.853  

BALANCES WITH OTHER BANKS          

Opening balance under IAS 39  119.452  - - - 

Remeasurement: ECL Allowance  - - (39) - 

Closing balance under IFRS 9  - - - 119.413  

LOANS AND ADVANCES           

Opening balance under IAS 39  255.540  - - - 

Remeasurement: ECL Allowance  - - (3.155) - 

Closing balance under IFRS 9  - - - 252.385  

Total Loans and receivables    471.845  - (3.194) 468.651  

      
PROVISIONS TO COVER CREDIT RISK 

RESULTING FROM COMMITMENTS AND 

GUARANTEES           

Opening balance under IAS 39  (310) - - - 

Remeasurement: ECL Allowance  - - (252) - 

Closing balance under IFRS 9  - - - (562) 

TOTAL   523.184 - (3.516) 519.668 
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Reconciliation of statement of financial position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 (continued) 

  IFRS9 

 Carrying Carrying 

 Amount Amount 

  1 January 

 2017 2018 

 €'000 €'000 

Cash and balances with Central Banks     96.853  96.853  

Balances with other banks 119.452  119.412  

Loans and advances 255.540  252.385  

Equity investments 978  978  

Debt securities 50.671  50.600  

Derivatives 128 128 

Financial guarantees and loan commitments issued 310 562 

The total re-measurement loss of €3,5m which was recognised in opening reserves, consists of an 

increase in allowances.  There was no remeasurement gain or loss from reclassifications from IAS 39 to 

IFRS 9. 

The Group’s accounting policies on the classification and measurement and impairment under IFRS 9 

(after 1 January 2018) and IAS 39 (before 1 January 2018) are set out in note 3 to the financial 

statements.  

5.  INTEREST INCOME  

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Loans and advances at amortised cost  11.974   10.584   12.273   10.711  

Balances with banks at amortised cost  726   947   725   945  

Debt securities at FVOCI  855   536   855   536  

  13.555   12.067   13.853   12.192  

Interest from loans and advances includes interest on net carrying amount of impaired loans and 

advances amounting to €1.957 thousand (31 December 2017: €869 thousand). 

In 2018 the Bank revised its policy for interest recognition to be in line with IFRS 9.  From 1 January 

2018 when a financial asset becomes credit impaired then interest is recognised on the net carrying 

amount of the financial asset whereas until 31 December 2017 the Bank suspended all interest on 

impaired loans, up to the amount of the total increase of impairment charge.  The policy applicable for 

interest recognition is disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements.   
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6.  INTEREST EXPENSE  

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Bank borrowings 13 - 13 - 

Client deposits  3.103   4.491   3.103   4.491  

Balances with banks  513   209   510   204  

  3.629   4.700   3.626   4.695  

7.  FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME  

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Credit related fees and commissions  717   546   717   546  

Fund transfer commissions  1.042   1.116   1.042   1.116  

Other banking fees and commissions  1.470   1.267   1.039   879  

  3.229   2.929   2.798   2.541  

8.  FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE  

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Fund transfer fees and commissions  310   257   310   257  

Brokerage fees and commissions  24   25   -   -  

  334   282   310   257  

9.  NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS   

Net foreign exchange gains comprise gains less losses related to the conversion of monetary assets and 

liabilities in foreign currency at the reporting date, realised exchange gains/(losses) from transactions in 

foreign currency settled during the year and the revaluations of foreign exchange derivatives. 

10.  OTHER INCOME  

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Profit from disposal of debt securities at FVOCI  54   -   54   -  

Profit from disposal of held-to-maturity investments  -   1.799   -   1.799  

Other income  290   114   66   27  

  344   1.913   120   1.826  
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11.  STAFF COSTS  

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Salaries  5.455   5.015   5.193   4.777  

Employer's contributions  656   610   649   604  

Other staff benefits  11   8   11   8  

Cost of retirement benefits  421   393   421   393  

Termination benefits  230   -   230   -  

  6.773   6.026   6.504   5.782  

The number of persons employed by the Group as at 31 December 2018 was 153 (31 December 2017: 

174) and by the Bank 134 (31 December 2017: 129). 

Retirement benefits 

The Bank operates a defined contribution plan for its permanent employees. This plan provides for 

employer contributions of 9% (2017: 9%) and employee contributions of 3% - 10% of the employees’ 

gross salaries. The Bank's contributions are charged to the income statement.  The plan is managed by a 

Committee appointed by the members. 

12.  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES   

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Impairment losses on stock of properties (note 27)  -   94   -   -  

Central Bank of Cyprus administrative fine  -   608   -   608  

Consultancy and legal fees  333   271   314   263  

Regulatory fees  310   281   310   281  

Operating leases of buildings  288   276   286   276  

Repairs and maintenance  670   624   654   618  

Marketing, subscriptions and donations  305   363   305   363  

Utilities  290   251   276   237  

Other operating expenses  1.178   1.396   959   1.352  

  3.374   4.164   3.104   3.998  

Other operating expenses for 2017 include a provision of €608 thousand (after a discount of 15% due to 

early repayment) that relates to an administrative fine issued by the Central Bank of Cyprus on 21 May 

2018, relating to controls omissions and weaknesses in the implementation of due diligence measures 

and customer identification procedures, as part of the Bank’s anti-money laundering and 

know-your-customer framework.  The shortcomings were identified during two CBC inspections carried 

out at the Bank in March 2014 and May 2016.   
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The Bank has already made significant progress in rectifying these issues, by taking all necessary steps 

to upgrade and improve its internal processes and policies.  To that end, and towards full transparency 

and alignment with supervisory processes, the Bank applies best practices based on regulatory 

standards. 

13.  LOSS BEFORE TAX  

The profit/(loss) before tax for the year is stated after charging the following: 
 

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Directors’ emoluments:     

  Fees (note 41)  207   249   207   249  

  Expenses  3   50   3   50  

Independent auditors’ remuneration:     

  Audit of annual accounts  94   63   71   44  

  Audit fees previous years  8   -   8   -  

  Other non-audit services  71   69   71   69  

  Other assurance services  -   19   -   17  

Loss on disposal/write off of equipment  -   9   -   9  

Depreciation on:     

  Premises and equipment  447   431   433   417  

  Intangible assets     

  Computer software  283   203   283   203  

Provisions for impairment:     

  Loans and advances  4.506   4.484  4.506  4.484  

  Receivables and other assets  47   68   27   16  

  Financial guarantees and commitments (note 31)  (82)   25   (82)   25  

  Pending litigations (note 31) (60)  60  (60)  60  

  Debt securities at FVOCI (note 21) 22 - 22 - 

  Balances with Group companies -  -  103  99  

14.  TAXATION  

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Corporation tax  20   6   -   -  

Deferred tax (note 30)  11   29   12   29  

Special contribution to the defence fund  2   -   -   -  

Special levy on client deposits  661   640   661   640  

  694   675   673   669  
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The Bank is subject to income tax on taxable profits at the rate of 12,5%. As from 2012 a limitation of 

five years was introduced in the carried forward losses, under which losses are allowed to be carried 

forward for offsetting future taxable income, for a period of five years from the year to which the 

profits relate. Under certain conditions interest income may be subject to defence contribution at the 

rate of 30%. In such cases this interest will be exempt from corporation tax. 

The special levy on deposits is calculated on the level of deposits at previous quarter-end at the rate of 

0,0375% per quarter and is payable in quarterly instalments. The government levy on client deposits for 

2018 amounted to €661 thousand (2017: €640 thousand). Following an amendment of the “Special 

Levy on Credit Institutions Law” in 2017, the Single Resolution Fund contribution which is charged 

annually by the Single Resolution Board, is offset by the special levy up to the level of the total annual 

special levy charge. The 2018 special tax on client deposits is net of €70 thousand (2017: €46 thousand) 

relating to the contribution of the Bank to the Single Resolution Fund. 

Reconciliation of taxation based on taxable income and taxation based on accounting profits: 

 

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Accounting loss before tax  (1.296)   (2.267)   (1.121)   (2.189)  

     

Corporation tax on the loss for the year at the rates 

applicable in Cyprus  (162)   (283)   (140)   (274)  

     

Tax effect of:     

  Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  107   48   93   48  

  Allowances and income not subject to tax  (347)                   -  (340)                   -                 

  Different foreign tax rates  7                    -  -   -  

  Loss for the year  415   241   387   226  

Corporation tax  20   6                   -      -  

Deferred tax  11   29   12   29  

Special contribution to the defence fund  2   -   -   -  

Special levy on client deposits  661   640   661   640  

Charge for the year  694   675   673   669  
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On 2 October 2018 an application was submitted to the Central Bank of Russian Federation (CBRF) for 

the voluntary wind up of the Bank’s Russian subsidiary JSC cdbbank. The application for voluntary wind-

up and cancellation of Banking License was approved by CBRF on 17 December 2018.  Following the 

approval of the application, actions were taken by the Bank for the winding up of operations including 

amongst others the disposal of the subsidiary’s assets and repayment of deposits by 31 May 2019.  On 7 

June 2019 the final Liquidation Accounts of JSC Bank were submitted for approval to the CBRF, who has 

30 calendar days to respond.  Following approval of the Final Liquidation accounts by the CBRF the Bank 

will be able to repatriate capital.  Notes 23 and 24 are also relevant. 

The discontinued classification is considered appropriate because operations of JSC cdbbank Russia 

constitute a separate geographical segment.  

The total effect of the Group's discontinued operations in Russia is presented below: 

 

 

Discontinued Operations 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Turnover  694   973  

Net interest income  408   408  

Fees and commissions  64   136  

Net foreign exchange gains  90   62  

Total net income  562   606  

Loss on disposal of property  -   (189)  

Total expenses  (574)   (827)  

Provisions for impairment  (151)   (443)  

Loss before tax  (163)   (853)  

Tax  -   (276)  

Loss after tax  (163)   (1.129)  

Profit on disposal of subsidiary company  -   -  

Loss from discontinued operations net of tax  (163)   (1.129)  
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16.  BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE   

   

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Basic and diluted loss per share     

 

Loss attributable to the owners of the parent company (€'000)  (2.143)   (4.057)   (1.794)   (2.858)  

 

Weighted average number of shares in issue during the year ('000)  25.961   25.961   25.961   25.961  

 

Basic and fully diluted loss per share (cent)  (8,25)   (15,63)   (6,91)   (11,01)  

     

     

 

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Basic and diluted loss per share from continuing operations     

 

Loss attributable to the owners of the parent company (€'000)  (1.980)   (2.928)   (1.794)   (2.858)  

 

Weighted average number of shares in issue during the year ('000)  25.961   25.961   25.961   25.961  

 

Basic and fully diluted loss per share (cent)  (7,63)   (11,28)   (6,91)   (11,01)  

     

     

     

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operations 
    

 

Loss attributable to the owners of the parent company (€'000)  (163)  (1.129)   -   -  

 

Weighted average number of shares in issue during the year ('000)  25.961   25.961   -   -  

 

Basic and fully diluted loss per share (cent)  (0,62)  (4,35)   -   -  
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17.  CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHER BANKS  

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Cash  1.202   642   1.202   642  

Balances with central banks  200.795   96.211   200.795   96.211  

  201.997   96.853   201.997   96.853  

Balances with other banks  29.809   119.452   29.673   119.357  

Stage 1 – 12 month expected credit losses   (39)                   -      (39)                    -    

  29.770   119.452   29.634   119.357  

Balances with central banks include mandatory deposits for liquidity purposes which amount to €4.981 

thousand (2017: €4.526 thousand) for the Group and the Bank.  

The credit rating analysis of balances with central banks and balances with other banks by independent 

credit rating agencies is set out in note 38 to the financial statements. 

18.  ASSESSED FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVES 

Derivatives consist of forward exchange rate contracts. The nominal value and assessed fair value of 

derivatives are as follows: 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 
  

 

  

Nominal 

value 

Assessed 

fair value 

Asset 

Forward exchange rate contracts 
  €'000 €'000 

     
At 31 December 2018    2.880   128  

     
At 31 December 2017    -   -  

     

19.  LOANS AND ADVANCES  

THE GROUP AND THE BANK  

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Loans and advances  313.024   318.243  

Impairment losses individually assessed  (63.023)   (59.895)  

Impairment losses collectively assessed  (3.552)   (2.808)  

  246.449   255.540  

Additional analysis and information regarding credit risk and analysis of the provisions for doubtful 

accounts are set out in note 38 to the financial statements. 
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19.  LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued) 

An analysis of the movement of gross loans and advances to customers according to stages, of the 

Group and the Bank is presented in the table below: 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK  

 2018 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total 

 
€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 

1 January 76.756 74.469 146.435 20.583 318.243 

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (1.853) 1.853 - - - 

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (977) - 977 - - 

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (4.326) 4.326 - - 

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 24.195 (24.195) - - 

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 16.243 (16.243) - - - 

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 595 - (595) - - 

Net movement during the period         16.291       (8.382)    (12.424)          (704)      

(704)                      

   (5.219)     

(5.219) 31 December       107.055       71.566    114.524       19.879    

19.879 

 313.024      

313.024 
 

POCI: Purchased or originated as Credit Impaired 

 

20.  INVESTMENTS IN EQUITIES  

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Cost     

  Balance 1 January  9.794   9.824   8.058   8.038  

  Acquisitions  -   20   -   20  

  Disposals  -   (50)   -   -  

  Balance 31 December  9.794   9.794   8.058   8.058  

Permanent diminution     

  Balance 1 January  (9.180)   (9.180)   (7.711)   (7.711)  

 

  Balance 31 December  (9.180)   (9.180)   (7.711)   (7.711)  

Revaluation at fair value     

  Balance 1 January  364   (7)   324   24  

  Increase in fair value  18   369     2   300  

  Disposals  -   2   -   -  

 

  Balance 31 December  382   364   326   324  

     

Balance 31 December at fair value  996   978   673   671  
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20.  INVESTMENTS IN EQUITIES (continued)     

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Investments in Cyprus companies:     

  Listed on the Cyprus Stock Exchange  996   978   673   671  

  Unlisted  -   -   -   -  

  996   978   673   671  

Investments in equities are classified at     

  Fair value through Other comprehensive income  996   978   673   671  

Additional analysis and information regarding market risk are set out in note 38 to the financial 

statements. 

21.  INVESTMENTS IN DEBT SECURITIES  

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income   

  Sovereigns  59.506   41.045  

  EU and international organisations  3.452   -  

  Credit institutions 2.603                  - 

  Corporate bonds  14.061   9.626  

  79.622   50.671  

All debt securities at FVTOCI are listed.   

The movement of debt securities was as follows: 

 2018  2017 

 Fair Value 

through OCI 

 Fair value 

through 

OCI 

Held to 

Maturity 

 €'000  €'000 €'000 

Net book value at 1 January 50.671  -  44.291 

Acquisitions 111.159  97.486 87.677 

Disposals (7.551)  - (20.600) 

Maturities (74.420)  (110.645) (46.708) 

Amortisation of discounts/premiums and interest (697)  (384) (486) 

Foreign exchange 792  - - 

Mark to market valuation (240)  40 - 

Reclassified from held to maturity to available for sale                       -          64.174   (64.174) 

   79.714     50.671        - 

Stage 1 - 12 month expected credit losses                (92)                     -                 -    

           79.622          50.671                 - 
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21.  INVESTMENTS IN DEBT SECURITIES (continued) 

Provisions for Impairment of debt securities 

The movement for the year in provisions for debt securities is as follows: 

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Balance 1 January - - 

Impact of adopting IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 70 - 

Stage 1 – 12 month expected credit losses (note 13)                 22                  - 

Balance 31 December 2018                 92                  - 

 

Additional analysis and information regarding market risk are set out in note 38 to the financial 

statements. 

 

22.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

THE BANK 

The companies included in the consolidated and standalone financial statements and their activities are: 

 Shareholding Activities 

 2018 

% 

2017 

% 

 

In Cyprus:    

  Global Capital Limited 84,64 84,64 Portfolio management and the 

provision of financial advisory and 

brokerage services 

In the Russian Federation:    

  JSC cdbbank  100,00 100,00 Commercial banking operations. 

Classified as discontinued operations 

(note 15). 

At 31 December 2018 the Bank had 100% shareholding in the Special Purpose Entity companies (SPEs) 

listed below whose activity is the ownership and management of immovable properties acquired in 

satisfaction of client debts.  LLC Cyproperties is a company registered in the Russian Federation, with 

assets (loans and properties) assigned from JSC cdbbank.  

Cyprus registered companies 

• Pekito Holdings Limited 

• Tsemberio Holding Limited 

• Glumar Limited 

• Welbon Limited 

Russian registered company 

• LLC Cyproperties 
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22.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (continued) 

Shareholding interest in Global Capital Limited 

THE BANK 

Global Capital Limited is the parent company of two companies that are registered and operate in 

Cyprus. The companies of the group are: 

       Shareholding Activities 

 2018 

% 

2017 

% 

 

Global Capital Securities and 

Financial Services Limited 

99,99 99,99 Portfolio management, provision of 

financial advisory services and 

brokerage services 

Global Capital Finance Limited 100,00 100,00 Inactive 

The Bank’s exposure in Global Capital Limited is shown below: 

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Cost of investment 1 January  2.281   2.281  

Adjustment to assessed fair value           (1.310)  (1.269)  

Assessed fair value of investment   971   1.012  

Amounts due to subsidiary company  (316)  (279)  

Amounts due by subsidiary company  184   133  

Balance 31 December  839   866  

Income for the year                  24                  25 

Expenses for the year                  12                     - 

Shareholding interest in Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) 

THE BANK 

The Bank’s exposure in Special Purpose Entities is shown below: 

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Cost of investment 1 January  4   3  

Adjustment to assessed fair value   (3)  (3)  

Assessed fair value of investment   1   -  

Amounts due to SPEs  (156)  (28)  

Amounts due by SPEs  14.530   3.673  

Balance 31 December  14.375   3.645  

Total exposure in subsidiary companies  15.214   4.511  

Income for the year                  81                  39 

Expenses for the year                     -                     - 
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23. SUBSIDIARY COMPANY UNDER VOLUNTARY WIND UP   

THE BANK 

Shareholding interest in JSC cdbbank 

On 2 October 2018 an application was submitted to the Central Bank of Russian Federation (CBRF) for 

the voluntary wind up of the Bank’s Russian subsidiary JSC cdbbank. The application for voluntary wind-

up and cancellation of Banking License was approved by CBRF on 17 December 2018.  Following the 

approval of the application, actions were taken by the Bank for the winding up of operations including 

amongst others the disposal of the subsidiary’s assets and repayment of deposits by 31 May 2019.  On 7 

June 2019 the final Liquidation Accounts of JSC Bank were submitted for approval to the CBRF, who has 

30 calendar days to respond.  Following approval of the final Liquidation accounts by the CBRF the Bank 

will be able to repatriate capital.  Notes 15 and 24 are also relevant. 

The Bank's exposure in JSC cdbbank is shown below: 

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Cost of investment 1 January  6.442   6.442  

Exchange differences  (2.788)  (2.435)  

  3.654   4.007  

Adjustment to assessed fair value   (2.170)  (2.062)  

Assessed fair value of investment   1.484   1.945  

Amounts due to subsidiary company  -   (56)  

Amounts due by subsidiary company  2.515  2.509  

Balance 31 December  3.999   4.398  

Income for the year  101   88  

Expenses for the year  45   56  

 

The amount due by the subsidiary company relates to a subordinated loan amounting to €2.515 

thousand (31 December 2017: €2.509 thousand).  In May 2019, before the submission of the final 

liquidation accounts of JSC cdbbank to the CBRF the loan was fully repaid.    

The fair value measurement for the subsidiary held for sale of €1.484 thousand (31 December 2017: 

€1.945 thousand) has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value. 

 24.  ASSETS/LIABILITIES OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANY UNDER VOLUNTARY WIND UP  

THE GROUP 

According to the provisions of the IFRS 5, “Non-Current assets held for sale and discontinued 

operations”, all assets and liabilities of the subsidiary JSC cdbbank under voluntary wind up have been 

reclassified and are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of financial position under the 

category Asset/Liabilities of subsidiary under wind up. Notes 15 and 23 are also relevant. 
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24.  ASSETS/LIABILITIES OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANY UNDER VOLUNTARY WIND UP (continued) 

At 31 December 2018 assets and liabilities of the subsidiary company JSC cdbbank included in the 

consolidated statement of financial position were stated at fair value and were as follows: 

THE GROUP 

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Assets   

  Cash and balances with banks  3.398   3.792  

  Loans and advances  436   3.283  

  Premises and equipment  25   87  

  Property held for sale  154   176  

  Receivables and other assets  13   200  

  Total assets held for sale  4.026   7.538  

   

Liabilities   

  Client deposits  18   3.076  

  Accruals and other liabilities  9   64  

  Total liabilities held for sale  27   3.140  

 

25.  PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT  

THE GROUP Land and 

buildings 

Plant and 

equipment Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 

2018    

Cost or valuation    

  Balance 1 January  6.199   3.174   9.373  

  Additions  61   220   281  

  Disposals  -   (362)                 (362) 

  Balance 31 December  6.260   3.032                9.292  

 

Depreciation    

  Balance 1 January  417   2.334   2.751  

  Charge for the year  147   300   447  

  On disposals  -   (362)   (362)  

  Balance 31 December  564   2.272   2.836  

 

Net book value 31 December  5.696   760   6.456  

Historic net book value of owned premises stated at 

valuation 31 December  3.650   -   3.650  
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THE ΒΑΝΚ Land and 

buildings 

Plant and 

equipment Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 

2018    

Cost or valuation    

  Balance 1 January  6.087   2.934   9.021  

  Additions  61   219   280  

  Disposals                      -                 (362)                (362) 

  Balance 31 December               6.148                2.791                8.939  

 

Depreciation    

  Balance 1 January  322   2.102   2.424  

  Charge for the year  135   298   433  

  On disposals  -                (363)               (363) 

  Balance 31 December  457               2.037              2.494 

Net book value 31 December  5.691   754   6.445  

Historic net book value of owned premises stated at 

valuation 31 December  3.644   -   3.644  

25.  PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 

    

THE GROUP Land and 

buildings 

Plant and 

equipment Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 

2017    

Cost or valuation    

  Balance 1 January  5.997   3.161   9.158  

  Additions  84   350   434  

  Disposals  (215)   (337)   (552)  

  Revaluation  642   -   642  

  Reversal of depreciation on revaluation  (309)   -   (309)  

  Balance 31 December  6.199   3.174   9.373  

 

Depreciation    

  Balance 1 January  778   2.394   3.172  

  Charge for the year  163   268   431  

  On disposals  (215)   (328)   (543)  

  Reversal of depreciation on revaluation  (309)   -   (309)  

  Balance 31 December  417   2.334   2.751  

Net book value 31 December  5.782   840   6.622  

Historic net book value of owned premises stated at 

valuation 31 December  3.754   -   3.754  

   



  

 

  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

 

Annual report 2018 | 87  

 

25.  PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 

 

THE BANK    

 Land and 

buildings 

Plant and 

equipment Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 

2017    

Cost or valuation    

  Balance 1 January  5.885   2.922   8.807  

  Additions  84   349   433  

  Disposals  (215)   (337)   (552)  

  Revaluation  642   -   642  

  Reversal on depreciation on revaluation  (309)   -   (309)  

  Balance 31 December  6.087   2.934   9.021  

 

Depreciation    

  Balance 1 January  694   2.164   2.858  

  Charge for the year  152   265   417  

  On disposals  (215)   (327)   (542)  

  Reversal of depreciation on revaluation  (309)   -   (309)  

  Balance 31 December  322   2.102   2.424  

 

Net book value 31 December  5.765   832   6.597  

Historic net book value of owned premises stated at 

valuation 31 December  3.738   -   3.738  

 

The Bank’s freehold premises were valued by external professional valuers on 31 December 2017 at 

open market value on the basis of existing use. The surplus arising from the revaluation of freehold 

premises amounting to €642 thousand less related deferred tax of €135 thousand, was transferred to 

the revaluation reserve.  

The net book value of freehold premises, on a cost less accumulated depreciation basis, as at 31 

December 2018 would have amounted to €3.582 thousand (2017: €3.672 thousand). The net book 

value of leasehold premises as at 31 December 2018 amounts to €62 thousand (2017: €66 thousand). 
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26.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS   

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 Computer 

software 

Computer 

software 

2018 €'000 €'000 

Cost   

  Balance 1 January  4.262   4.114  

  Additions 732  722  

  Write-offs  (64)   (63)  

  Balance 31 December  4.930   4.773  

 

Depreciation and impairment losses   

  Balance 1 January  3.646   3.498  

  Charge for the year  283   283  

  On write-offs  (64)   (63)  

  Balance 31 December  3.865   3.718  

   
Net book value 31 December  1.065   1.055  

   

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 Computer 

software 

Computer 

software 

2017 €'000 €'000 

Cost   

  Balance 1 January  4.060   3.912  

  Additions  202   202  

  Balance 31 December  4.262   4.114  

 

Depreciation and impairment losses   

  Balance 1 January  3.443   3.295  

  Charge for the year  203   203  

  Balance 31 December  3.646   3.498  

   

Net book value 31 December  616   616  
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27.  RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS  

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Stock of properties held for sale       14.424  3.666        -        30 

Sundry debtors and other assets         2.204  2.086   1.404   1.071  

       16.628  5.752   1.404   1.101  

Stock of properties held for sale 

The Bank as part of its non-performing exposures management is entering into a number of 

debt-for-asset swap transactions. Assets acquired in satisfaction of debt are acquired directly or 

through wholly owned Special Purpose Entities (SPEs).   

The carrying value of stock of properties is determined as the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Impairment is recognized if the net realisable value is below cost.  

The stock of properties held at 31 December 2018 consists of commercial buildings and land in Nicosia 

and Limassol and agricultural land in Sochi region of the Russian Federation.   

The movement of stock of properties held for sale is as follows: 

 
THE GROUP  THE BANK 

 
2018 2017  2018 2017 

 
€’000 €’000  €’000 €’000 

Balance 1 January 3.666 - 
 

30 30 

Additions 10.664 3.760 
 

- - 

Disposals - - 
 

(30) - 

Impairment losses               -    

-            

(94)         

(94)  
                 -                  - 

Reversal of impairment              94                  - 
 

                 -                  - 

Balance 31 December       14.424      3.666 
 

                 -               30 

  

28.  BANK BORROWINGS  

 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK  

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

  Borrowings  4.013   2.001  

  4.013   2.001  

In 2016 a Finance Contract was signed between the Bank and the European Investment Bank (EIB) for 

an amount of up to €15 million.  The purpose of the loan was to provide support to the Cypriot 

economy through the financing of eligible investment projects located in Cyprus undertaken by small 

and medium sized companies.  The interest and repayment period are defined for each tranche of the 

loan.  Until  the  end  of  2018  two  tranches  were  disbursed  for  a total amount of  €4.210 thousand  
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28.  BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 

carrying a floating interest based on the six-month Euribor and a margin of 0,708%. Both tranches are 

repayable within ten years, from the date of disbursement, in twenty equal semi-annual instalments 

as follows: 

  Balance   

 Disbursed 2018 2017  Maturity 

 €’000 

 

€’000 

 

€’000 

 

 €’000 

       
Tranche 1 2.000 1.801 2.001  November 2027 

Tranche 2          2.210     2.212              -  October 2028 

          4.210     4.013     2.001   

      
 

29.  CLIENT DEPOSITS  

 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK  

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Demand deposits  296.349   216.576  

Fixed-term or notice deposits  219.641   264.062  

  515.990   480.638  

30.  DEFERRED TAXATION  

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Balance 1 January  319   154  

Deferred tax on revaluation of premises (1)  136  

Deferred tax asset on discontinued operations  -   -  

Debited to the income statement  11   29  

Balance 31 December  329   319  

 

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Surplus on revaluation of premises  

(net of accumulated depreciation)  386   387  

Accumulated temporary differences between  

depreciation and capital allowances  (57)   (68)  

  329   319  
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31.  ACCRUALS AND OTHER LIABILITIES  

 

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities  2.037   2.217   1.881   1.852  

Items in the course of settlement  22.945   8.027   22.774   8.027  

Provisions for financial guarantees and commitments  479   310   479   310  

Provision for pending litigation  60   120   60   120  

  25.521   10.674   25.194   10.309  

Items in the course of settlement as at 31 December 2018, include an amount of €13 million relating to 

an incoming fund received on 31 December 2018 which was applied to the customer’s account after 

year end.  

Provisions for financial guarantees and commitments 

The movement for the year in provisions for financial guarantees and commitments is as follows: 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Balance 1 January  310   285  

Impact of adopting IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 251 - 

Net increase in provision (note 13)  (82)  25  

Balance 31 December  479   310  

 

Provisions for pending litigation 

The movement for the year in provisions for pending litigation is as follows: 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Balance 1 January  120   60  

Increase in provision (note 13)  -   60  

Decrease in provision (note 13)  (60)   -  

Balance 31 December  60   120  
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32.  LOAN CAPITAL  

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 

  

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Perpetual Unsecured Subordinated Note  5.000   5.000  

On 3rd August 2017, the Bank issued at par a €5.000.000 Perpetual Unsecured Subordinated Note to 

Bank of Cyprus Public Company Limited. The interest rate on the Note is fixed at 13,75% per annum, 

payable semi-annually on 30th June and 31st December of each year. The payment of interest can be 

cancelled by the Bank (the Issuer) at its discretion, provided that at the time of such interest payment: 

(a)  The Capital Ratio of the Bank for the six months’ period prior to the interest payment date 

concerned shall be below the Regulatory Minimum Capital Ratio as determined by the Central 

Bank of Cyprus (the Competent Authority) increased by 200 basis points;  

(b)  The interest payment shall cause the Capital Ratio of the Bank to fall below its Regulatory 

Minimum Capital Ratio, as determined by the Competent Authority for the six months’ period 

prior to the Interest Payment Date concerned increased by 200 basis points. 

Any interest payment cancelled, as indicated above, shall not accumulate or be payable at any time 

thereafter.  For the year ending 31 December 2018 the conditions for payment of interest were not 

met, and consequently no interest was paid or accrued on the Note.   

The Issuer has the option to redeem the Note in full but not in part on the fifth anniversary from the 

issue date of 3rd August 2022 or any due date for interest payment thereafter. The right to exercise 

such redemption option is subject to prior permission by the Competent Authority upon demonstrating 

that the Note has been replaced by own funds instruments of equal or higher quality or that following 

such redemption own funds would exceed minimum capital requirements as determined by the 

Competent Authority. 

Upon the occurrence of a trigger event, being defined as a Core Equity Tier 1 ratio (CET1) below 5,125%, 

the principal amount of the Note shall be written down proportionately with other such loss absorbing 

instruments to the extent necessary to restore CET1 to 5,125%. 

The Perpetual Unsecured Subordinated Note qualifies for classification as Additional Tier 1 Capital. 
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33.  SHARE CAPITAL   

THE BANK 

 2018 2017 

 

No. of shares 

Nominal 

Share Capital No. of shares 

Nominal 

Share Capital 

  €'000  €'000 

Authorised:     

  Ordinary shares of €1,71 each  79.397.600   135.770   79.397.600   135.770  

  Class “A” shares of €1,71 each  13.000.000   22.230   13.000.000   22.230  

  Class “B” shares of €1,00 each  13.000.104   13.000   13.000.104   13.000  

  105.397.704   171.000   105.397.704   171.000  

Issued and fully paid:     

Class “A” shares     

  Balance 1 January and 31 December  12.961.354   22.164   12.961.354   22.164  

Class “B” shares     

  Balance 1 January and 31 December  13.000.000   13.000   13.000.000   13.000  

Total issued share capital  25.961.354   35.164   25.961.354   35.164  

Notwithstanding the difference in their nominal value and their segregation into two classes, both Class 

A shares and Class B shares rank pari passu in all respects including voting, return of capital etc., except 

that Class A shares shall carry a right to a preference cumulative dividend as described in the Bank’s 

Articles of Association.  This distinction has been eliminated following the resolutions of the 

Extraordinary General Meeting of the shareholders of the Bank held on 12 March 2019 as outlined 

below.   

Events after the reporting period 

On 12 March 2019 an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) of the shareholders of the Bank was held, 

whereby a resolution for an increase of the Bank’s Capital by €4,3 million was approved.  On 22 March 

2019 the Bank’s shareholders subscribed to an amount of €3,3million towards the Bank’s capital.  The 

remaining unallocated capital of €1million was committed and subscribed through a private placement 

by a local institutional investor on 12 June 2019. 

At the Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders at 12 March 2019 resolutions were also proposed 

and approved for the conversion of all the Bank’s shares to a single class of ordinary shares in order for 

the Bank’s share capital structure to be simplified.  Subject to the approval of the Court, which was 

obtained on 6 May 2019, the resolutions provided amongst others the reduction of the authorised and 

issued share capital of the Bank as follows:    

A. Reduction of the authorised share capital from €171.000.000 to €140.969.917; and  

B. Reduction of the issued share capital from €35.163.915 to €5.192.271. The amount of 

€29.971.644 corresponding to the amount of the reduction of the Company’s issued share 

capital will be applied for writing off accumulated losses of the Bank and the remaining amount 

will be transferred to a capital redemption reserve account in accordance with the provisions of 

section 64(1)(e) of the Companies Law, Cap. 113. 
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33.  SHARE CAPITAL (continued)   

Events after the reporting period (continued) 

Following completion of all resolutions proposed and approved at the Extraordinary General Meeting of 

the Bank’s shareholders dated 12 March 2019, the authorised and issued share capital of the Bank 

become as follows: 

Authorised share capital of the Bank after resolutions of the EGM held at 12 March 2019: 

 No. of 

shares 

 Nominal 

Share Capital 

   €'000 

  Ordinary shares of NV €0,20 each  704.849.584      140.970 

  704.849.584      140.970 

Issued and fully paid share capital of the Bank after resolutions of the EGM held at 12 March 2019: 

Before capital increase of €4,3m 2019 No. of 

shares 

 Nominal 

Share Capital 

Ordinary shares of €0,20 each 
  €'000 

  Shares in issue on 31 December 2018  25.961.354      5.192 

  25.961.354      5.192 

 

After capital increase of €4,3m in 2019 No. of 

shares 

 Nominal 

Share Capital 

Ordinary shares of €0,20 each 
  €'000 

  Shares in issue on 31 December 2018  25.961.354  
 

   5.192 

  Shares subscribed in March and June 2019   13.030.303     2.606 

  38.991.657     7.798 

Shares subscribed in March and June 2019 were issued at a premium of €0,13 per share totaling €1.694 

thousand.  Share premium is not available for distribution to shareholders in the form of dividend. 
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Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 

knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction. The fair value of the Group's and of the 

Bank's financial instruments, which are not shown on the calculated fair value, are measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less provision for impairment. The fair value of 

loans and advances to customers equals the amount shown in the statement of financial position after 

deducting provisions for impairment. 

Where possible, the Group calculates the fair value of financial assets using prices in active markets. A 

market is considered active if prices are available in a stable and continuous basis where real 

transactions between market participants are frequently carried out under normal commercial practice.  

When the market for some financial instruments is not active, the Group calculates fair value using 

various methods of valuation. Such valuation methods may include the use of prices from recent 

transactions made at an arm's length, the use of the current fair value of other similar instruments, 

discounted cash flow methods and option pricing models. The chosen valuation method is compatible 

with generally accepted accounting methodologies used to determine the value of financial 

instruments. The data used in the valuation techniques represent market expectations and 

measurements of the relationship between risk-return relating to the financial instruments. 

The Group and the Bank use the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing fair value: 

Level 1: Financial investments valued using quoted prices in active markets. 

Level 2: investments valued using models for which all inputs which have a significant effect on fair 

value are market observable. 

Level 3: investments valued using models for which inputs which have a significant effect on fair 

value are not based on observable market data. 
 

 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value, the Group 

determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 

categorisation at the end of each reporting period.  During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, 

the Group did not make any transfers into and out of the fair value hierarchy levels. 
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The following table presents an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the 

fair value hierarchy. 

THE GROUP 

2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Financial assets     

Derivatives  -  128  -   128  

Investments at FVOCI     

  Equities   996   -   -   996  

  Debt securities   79.622   -   -   79.622  

  80.618   128   -   80.746  

Financial liabilities  -   -   -   -  

 

2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Financial assets     

Investments available for sale     

  Equities  978   -   -   978  

  Debt securities   50.671   -   -   50.671  

    51.649   -   -   51.649  

Financial liabilities  -   -   -   -  

THE BANK 

2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Financial assets     

Derivatives  -  128  -   128  

Investments at FVOCI     

  Equity  673   -   -   673  

  Debt securities  79.622   -   -   79.622  

Subsidiary company under voluntary wind up  -   -   1.484   1.484  

Investments in subsidiary companies  -   -   972   972  

  80.295                128  2.456   82.879  

Financial liabilities  -   -   -   -  
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2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Financial assets     

Investments available for sale     

  Equity  671   -   -   671  

  Debt securities  50.671   -   -   50.671  

Subsidiary company under voluntary wind up  -   -   1.945   1.945  

Investments in subsidiary companies  -   -   1.012   1.012  

  51.342   -   2.957   54.299  

Financial liabilities  -   -   -   -  

     

The following table presents an analysis of non-financial assets recorded at fair value by level of the fair 

value hierarchy. 

THE GROUP 

2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Non-financial assets     

  Premises  -   -   5.696   5.696  

 

2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Non-financial assets     

  Premises  -   -   5.782   5.782  

THE BANK 

2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Non-financial assets     

  Premises  -   -   5.691   5.691  

 

2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Non-financial assets     

  Premises  -   -   5.765   5.765  
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Financial instruments not measured at fair value 

The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and 

analyses them by the level of the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is 

categorised. 

THE GROUP 

2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Financial assets     

  Cash and balances with central banks  -   201.997   -   201.997  

  Balances with other banks  -   29.770   -   29.770  

  Loans and advances  -   -   246.449   246.449  

  -   231.767   246.449   478.216  

Financial liabilities     

  Bank borrowings  -   -   4.013   4.013  

  Client deposits  -   -   515.990   515.990  

  -   -   520.003   520.003  

 

2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Financial assets     

  Cash and balances with central banks  -   96.853   -   96.853  

  Balances with other banks  -   119.452   -   119.452  

  Loans and advances  -   -   255.540   255.540  

  -   216.305   255.540   471.845  

Financial liabilities     

  Bank borrowings  -   -   2.001   2.001  

  Client deposits  -   -   480.638   480.638  

  -   -     482.639    482.639 

THE BANK 
    

2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Financial assets     

  Cash and balances with central banks  -   201.997   -   201.997  

  Balances with other banks  -   29.634   -   29.634  

  Loans and advances  -   -   246.449   246.449  

  -   231.631   246.449   478.080  

Financial liabilities     

  Borrowings  -   -  
 

 -   -  
 

4.013 4.013 
 

  Client deposits  -   -   515.990   515.990  

  -   -   520.003   520.003  
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THE BANK (continued) 

 

2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Financial assets     

  Cash and balances with central banks  -   96.853   -   96.853  

  Balances with other banks  -   119.357   -   119.357  

  Loans and advances  -   -   255.540   255.540  

  -   216.210   255.540   471.750  

Financial liabilities     

  Bank borrowings  -   -   2.001   2.001  

  Client deposits  -   -   480.638   480.638  

  -   -   482.639   482.639  
 

The assumptions and methodologies underlying the calculation of fair values of financial instruments 

carried at fair value under level 2 and level 3 hierarchy and for financial assets not carried at fair value 

are as follows: 

Derivatives 

Derivatives include forward foreign exchange rate contracts, which are valued using forward pricing.  

Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are categorised under level 3.  For these investments the Group uses models 

which are not based on observable market data and takes into account mainly the net positions of the 

entities in which the investments have been made, as well as estimates of the Group’s management to 

reflect uncertainties in fair values resulting from the lack of data. 

Balances with other banks 

Since almost all balances with banks are very short-term, the fair value is an approximation of the 

carrying value. 

Loans and advances to customers 

The fair value of loans and advances to customers is based on the present value of expected future cash 

flows.  Future cash flows have been based on the future expected loss rate per loan portfolio, taking 

into account expectations for the credit quality of the borrowers. In estimating future cash flows, the 

Group makes assumptions on expected repayments, timing and value of collateral realisation. 

Premises 

Premises consist of the Bank’s freehold land and building in Nicosia used for own account.  The fair 

value of premises is determined using valuations performed by external, accredited independent 

valuers.    
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35.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS  

The Group, as a financial institution, provides services such as documentary credits and guarantees. 

These facilities are usually offset by corresponding obligations of third parties. Contingent liabilities and 

commitments are not reflected in the statement of financial position. 

The nominal amounts of contingent liabilities and commitments as at 31 December are as follows: 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 

Contingent liabilities     

   2018 2017 

   €'000 €'000 

Guarantees issued    31.621   21.302  

Commitments     

   2018 2017 

   €'000 €'000 

Documentary credits    3.605   4.166  

Undrawn commitments for loans and advances 

granted to clients    39.641   37.718  

    43.246   41.884  

     
Contingent liabilities and commitments    74.867   41.884  

 

 63.186  

Documentary credits represent bank commitments for payment to third parties, on condition that the 

terms of the documentary credit are satisfied, including the presentation of the required documents. 

The repayment by the client is usually immediate. 

Undrawn commitments for loans and advances represent agreements to grant loans, overdrafts or 

other facilities to a client that have not yet been utilised by the client. 

Capital Commitments 

Commitments for contracted capital expenditure as at 31 December 2018 amount to €102 thousand 

(2017: € 342 thousand). 

36.  OPERATING LEASES – THE BANK AS LESSEE 

The Bank leases offices in Nicosia and Limassol under operating lease agreements with varying terms 

and renewal rights. The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 

at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are presented below: 

   2018 2017 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK     

   €'000 €'000 

Within one year   245 241 

Between one and five years   405 585 

After five years    -   31  

    650   857  
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37.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

 

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Cash  1.202   642   1.202   642  

Balances with central banks  195.814   91.685   195.814   91.685  

Balances with other banks  28.871   118.558   28.736   118.463  

  225.887   210.885   225.752   210.790  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and unrestricted balances with Central Banks and cash with 

other banks with maturity of less than three months. 

 

38.  RISK MANAGEMENT  

The Group, as a financial organisation, is exposed to risks, the most important of which are credit risk, 

market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk.  

The Group implements internal mechanisms for continuous and systematic monitoring of the above 

risks in order to avoid excessive concentration of such risks. The nature of such risks and the manner of 

dealing with them are explained below: 

Risk management framework 

The Group establishes risk management policies to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to 

set appropriate risk limits and control procedures, and to continuously monitor such risks as well as the 

Group's adherence to limits and controls. Risk management policies are reviewed regularly to reflect 

changes in market conditions, products and services rendered. 

38.1 Credit risk  

In the ordinary course of its business the Group is exposed to credit risk. Credit risk emanates from the 

potential inability of clients to repay their loans and other credit facilities and the non–compliance with 

their contractual obligations. Credit risk is monitored through various control mechanisms in order to 

prevent undue risk concentration and to price facilities and products on a risk adjusted basis.  

The Group establishes the financing policies and sets limits on credit exposures to clients and ensures 

that these policies and limits, as well as the related credit sanctioning procedures and controls, are 

complied with in the conduct of the Group's operations. The Group takes collateral for the loans and 

credit facilities it grants to clients. Credit risk from connected clients' accounts is monitored on an 

aggregated basis. The creditworthiness of clients is assessed using credit rating and scoring systems.  

The Group's policy relating to recognition of income on loans and advances and provisions for 

impairment of doubtful accounts is stated in note 3 to the financial statements.  
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38.1 Credit risk (continued) 

The Group sets limits for the composition of the portfolio of loans and advances and monitors 

compliance with them. The credit risk exposure of the Group is diversified across the various sectors of 

the economy. The terms of loans and advances may be renegotiated due to deterioration in the client's 

financial position. The Group implements a restructuring policy in order to maximise collection 

opportunities and minimise the risk of default. The revised terms usually include extending maturity, 

changing timing of interest and principal payments and amendments of terms of loan covenants.  

Internal Audit undertakes audits of the Group's portfolio of loans and advances and of the Group's 

credit processes. 

The Group assesses the credit risk relating to investments in liquid funds, mainly debt securities and 

placements with banks.  Counterparty and country limits are in place for managing such exposures. 

 Credit quality analysis 

The following table sets out the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets: 

THE GROUP 

  2018 2017 

 Note Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total Total 

  €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Balances with central banks 

and other banks 

 

      

     Aaa - Aa3         1.557            -                 -              -          1.557     53.712 

     A1 - A3      15.609            -                 -              -       15.609     12.757 

     Baa1 - Baa3      10.681            -                 -              -       10.681               -   

     Ba1 - Ba3    200.797            -                 -              -     200.797     96.217 

     B1 – B3         1.818            -                 -              -          1.818               -   

     Caa - C                -              -                 -              -                 -       52.255 

     Unrated             142                  -                    -                   -               142            722 

 17   230.604            -                 -              -     230.604   215.663 

Loss allowance             (39)                  -                    -                   -              (39)                  -   

Carrying amount 17    230.565                  -                    -                   -       230.565    215.663 

        

Loans and advances to 

customers at amortised cost - 

gross carrying amount 

 

      

     Grade 1-3: Low-medium risk    103.225   56.683               -       8.995   168.903   128.798 

     Grade 4-5: Special mention         3.830   14.883               -              -       18.713     24.636 

     Non-performing                   -                   -      114.524       10.884     125.408    164.809 

 19   107.055       71.566    114.524   19.879     313.024    318.243 

Loss allowance 19      (2.024)      (1.527)    (62.993)           (31)     (66.575)    (62.703) 

Carrying amount 19    105.031       70.039      51.531      19.848     246.449   255.540  
 



  

 

  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

38.  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

38.1 Credit risk (continued) 

Annual report 2018 | 103  

 

Credit quality analysis (continued) 

The following table sets out the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets: 

THE GROUP 

   2018 2017 

 Note Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total Total 

  €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Loans and advances to 

customers at amortised cost - 

gross carrying amount        

     Current      97.168   68.234        5.597   12.669   183.668   173.750 

     Overdue < 30 days         6.965     3.046        3.631     2.744     16.386     23.976 

     Overdue > 30 days          2.922            286    105.296         4.466     112.970    120.517 

Total 19    107.055       71.566    114.524       19.879     313.024    318.243 

        

  2018 2017 

 Note Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total Total 

  €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Debt securities        

     Aaa - Aa3      38.861            -                 -              -       38.861 1.042 

     A1 - A3         2.650            -                 -              -          2.650 8.584 

     Baa1 - Baa3         8.988            -                 -              -          8.988 - 

     Ba1 - Ba3       29.215                  -                    -                    -         29.215       41.045 

 21     79.714            -                 -              -       79.714     50.671 

Loss allowance 21            (92)                  -                    -                    -              (92)                  -   

Carrying amount 21       79.622                  -                    -                    -         79.622       50.671 

        

Financial guarantees and loan 

commitments  35       69.176            198            233         1.655       71.262       59.020 

Loss allowance 31            460                  -                19                  -               479            310   

Carrying amount         69.636            198            252         1.655       71.741       59.330 
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 Concentration of loans and advances by economic sector  

THE GROUP AND THE BANK     

 2018 2017 

 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total 

Total as per 

IAS 39 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Services 53.047 19.165 25.899 1.958  100.069   103.283  

Construction & real estate 33.069 21.614 17.817 16.408 88.908  101.264  

Industry 3.287 4.441 33.373        -        41.101  38.680  

Hotels & catering 6.908 15.258 10.349         -          32.515  26.143  

Agriculture 11        -        16.403        -        16.414  15.212  

Transport and storage 1.064        -    517      -            1.581  1.557  

Other sectors            9.669         11.088        10.166           1.513         32.436         32.104 

       107.055     71.566      114.524         19.879       313.024        318.243  

Loss allowance         (2.024)         (1.527)    (62.993)              (31)      (66.575)       (62.703) 

Carrying amount       105.031          70.039      51.531         19.848      246.449       255.540  

POCI: Purchased or originated as Credit Impaired 

Concentration by location  

Concentration by location for loans and advances is based on the client's country of domicile. The 

carrying amount of loans and advances of the Group and the Bank relating to non-resident clients 

amount to €81 thousand (2017: €3.138 thousand). 

 

Analysis of performing loans and advances by risk grade  

  

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 2018 2017 
 €'000 €'000 

Carrying amount   

  Grade 1-3: Low-medium risk     165.382        126.374 

  Grade 4-5: Special mention          18.682  24.379  

        184.064  150.753  

Of which loans and advances with renegotiated terms          50.632  44.076  

Value of collateral security*   

  Grade 1-3: Low-medium risk  111.379  73.282  

  Grade 4-5: Special mention          18.410  18.809  

        129.789  92.091  

Of which loans and advances with renegotiated terms          46.552  38.995  

*Collateral securities are stated at forced sale value capped to the carrying amount of loans and   

  advances. 
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Analysis of loans and advances by borrower category 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 

2018  Performing loans and advances Non-performing 

 Total loans and 

advances 

Non- 

restructured Restructured Total 

loans and 

advances 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Loans and advances to 

corporate legal entities      

Services 84.451 51.843 11.135 62.978 21.473 

Construction & real estate 80.207 45.311 14.540 59.851 20.356 

Industry 36.991 6.716 122 6.838 30.153 

Hotels & catering 27.731 6.585 13.835 20.420 7.311 

Agriculture 14.416  -   -   -  14.416 

Transport and storage 1.019 1.019  -  1.019 - 

Other sectors  1.240    -   -   -     1.240 

  246.055   111.474    39.632   151.106     94.949 

Loans and advances to 

retail legal entities      

Services  12.587  7.741  390 8.131  4.456 

Construction & real estate  6.818  3.085  -  3.085  3.733 

Industry  4.029  809  -  809  3.220 

Hotels & catering  2.872  616  855 1.471  1.401 

Agriculture  1.784  11  -  11  1.773 

Transport and storage  428  45  -  45  383 

Other sectors   -   -   -   -   -  

  28.518   12.307   1.245  13.552   14.966 

Loans and advances to 

private individuals      

Loans and advances for the 

purchase/construction of 

immovable property      

Owner occupied 9.466 2.439 6.368  8.807  659 

Consumer Loans 16.901 6.608  4.305  10.913  5.988 

Current accounts 4.829 1.777  1  1.778  3.051 

Credit facilities to sole 

traders  7.255   1.442     18  1.460                      5.795 

  38.451   12.266   10.692                22.958                   15.493 

Total loans and advances  313.024   136.047   51.569  187.616  125.408 

Provisions   (66.575)   (2.615)   (937)   (3.552)                 (63.023)  

Carrying amount  246.449   133.432   50.632   184.064                    62.385 
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THE GROUP AND THE BANK 

2017  Performing loans and advances Non-performing 

 Total loans and 

advances 

Non- 

restructured Restructured Total 

loans and 

advances 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Loans and advances to 

corporate legal entities      

 Services  85.972   50.425   13.817   64.242   21.730  

 Construction & real estate  92.958   29.966   17.122   47.088   45.870  

 Industry  32.777   2.717   6.661   9.378   23.399  

 Hotels & catering  21.598   73   3.100   3.173   18.425  

 Agriculture  13.399   -   -   -   13.399  

 Other sectors  1.150   -   -   -   1.150  

  247.854   83.181   40.700   123.881   123.973  

Loans and advances to 

retail legal entities      

 Services  13.684   8.034   2.229   10.263   3.421  

 Construction & real estate  6.391   2.414   63   2.477   3.914  

 Industry  5.835   812   -   812   5.023  

 Hotels & catering  2.637   39   434   473   2.164  

 Agriculture  1.603   11   -   11   1.592  

 Transport and storage  1.094   1.094   -   1.094   -  

 Other sectors   336   -   -   -   336  

  31.580   12.404   2.726   15.130   16.450  

Loans and advances to 

private individuals      

Loans and advances for the 

purchase/construction of 

immovable property      

 (a)  Owner occupied  9.123   1.548   412   1.960   7.163  

 (b) For other purposes  -   -   -   -   -  

 Consumer Loans  16.376   6.034   714   6.748   9.628  

 Current accounts  5.405   2.977   3   2.980   2.425  

Credit facilities to sole 

traders  7.905   2.735   -   2.735   5.170  

  38.809   13.294   1.129   14.423   24.386  

Total loans and advances  318.243   108.879   44.555   153.434   164.809  

Provisions   (62.703)   (2.201)   (480)   (2.681)   (60.022)  

Carrying amount  255.540   106.678   44.075   150.753   104.787  
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Analysis of loans and advances on the basis of origination date  

 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK Total loans and advances Loans and advances to 

legal entities 

Loans and advances to private 

individuals - Immovable property 

Loans and advances to private 

individuals - Other 

             

2018 Total Non-perfor

ming 

Provision 

amount 

Total Non-perfor

ming 

Provision 

amount 

Total Non-perfor

ming 

Provision 

amount 

Total Non-perfor

ming 

Provision 

amount 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Within one year 31.045 561 501 28.899 544 473 584 - 3 1.562 17 25 

Between one and two years 20.401 366 550 17.755 104 529 159 - - 2.487 262 21 

Between two and three years 15.708 8.120 234 14.352 7.278 216 236 - - 1.120 842 18 

Between three and five years 9.464 6.547 2.336 5.847 3.069 1.056 98 1 - 3.519 3.477 1.280 

Between five and seven years 37.360 9.260 3.996 25.005 8.794 3.269 6.641 - 211 5.714 466 516 

Between seven and ten years 117.061 40.248 23.164 110.009 37.995 22.264 889 - 2 6.163 2.253 898 

Over ten years         81.985        60.306        35.794         72.705        52.129         30.751               859              659               345           8.421           7.518           4.698 

             

  313.024   125.408   66.575   274.572   109.913   58.558  9.466   660   561   28.986   14.835   7.456  
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 Total loans and advances Loans and advances to 

legal entities 

Loans and advances to private 

individuals - Immovable property 

Loans and advances to private 

individuals - Other 

             

2017 Total Non-perfor

ming 

Provision 

amount 

Total Non-perfor

ming 

Provision 

amount 

Total Non-perfor

ming 

Provision 

amount 

Total Non-perfor

ming 

Provision 

amount 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Within one year  21.184   5.375   416   18.395   5.108   380   167   -   -   2.622   267   36  

Between one and two years  18.601   9.053   126   17.180   8.262   122   318   -   -   1.103   791   4  

Between two and three years  11.172   7.798   3.584   7.714   4.743   2.371   103   -   -   3.355   3.055   1.213  

Between three and five years  13.511   9.057   1.689   10.394   7.104   1.291   61   -   -   3.056   1.953   398  

Between five and seven years  65.308   28.344   5.800   51.146   18.412   5.537   6.907   6.420   47   7.255   3.512   216  

Between seven and ten years  129.834   59.296   25.778   121.439   55.246   23.272   1.329   743   216   7.066   3.307   2.290  

Over ten years  58.633   45.886   25.310   53.166   41.548   23.484   238   -   -   5.229   4.338   1.826  

             

  318.243   164.809   62.703   279.434   140.423   56.457   9.123   7.163   263   29.686   17.223   5.983  
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Analysis of non-performing loans and advances on the basis of arrears 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 

 

2018 Non-performi

ng loans and 

advances Provisions 

Carrying 

amount 

Value of 

collateral 

security* 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Arrears     

  Less than three months 15.891 3.853 12.038 10.176 

  Between three and six months 4.553 724 3.829 2.779 

  Between six months and one year 6.941 2.070 4.871 4.399 

  Over one year            98.023            56.376            41.647            33.784 

 

  Total   125.408   63.023   62.385   51.138  

 

Of which loans and advances with 

renegotiated terms  53.635   19.822             33.813            28.032 

 

2017 Non-performi

ng loans and 

advances Provisions 

Carrying 

amount 

Value of 

collateral 

security* 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Arrears     

  Less than three months  51.392   4.820   46.572   38.901  

  Between three and six months  7.051   2.113   4.938   4.082  

  Between six months and one year  1.843   167   1.676   1.569  

  Over one year  104.523   52.922   51.601   40.559  

 

  Total   164.809   60.022   104.787   85.111  

 

Of which loans and advances with 

renegotiated terms  84.299   18.437   65.862   55.846  

The Risk Department determines the amount and type of collateral and other risk mitigation required 

for the granting of new loans to customers.   

*Collateral securities are stated at forced sale value capped to the carrying amount of loans and 

  advances. 
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The main types of collateral obtained by the Group are mortgages on real estate, cash collateral, bank 

guarantees, government guarantees, pledges of equity securities and debt instruments, fixed and floating 

charges over corporate assets, assignment of life insurance policies and personal and corporate 

guarantees. 

The table below presents the maximum exposure to credit risk, the tangible and measurable collaterals 

held and the net exposure to credit risk.  Personal guarantees are an additional form of collateral but are 

not included in the information below since it is impracticable to estimate their fair value. 

 

 Maximum Value of collateral* Net 

2018 exposure to 

credit risk Cash Property Other 

Total 

collateral 

exposure to 

credit risk 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Loans and advances to 

customers       

  Performing       

Stage 1 105.031 5.357 54.924 500 60.781 44.250 

Stage 2 70.039 312 59.704 - 60.016 10.023 

POCI            8.993                     -            8.993                    -            8.993                     - 

        184.064            5.669       123.621               500        129.790          54.273 

Non-performing       

Stage 3 51.532 95 39.272 1.485 40.852 10.680 

POCI          10.855                     -          10.285                     -          10.285                570 

          62.385                  95            49.557            1.485          51.137          11.250 

        246.449            5.764        173.178            1.985        180.926          65.523 

 

2017       

Loans and advances to 

customers       

  Performing  150.753   6.985   85.047   59   92.091   58.662  

  Non-performing  104.787   370   84.116   625   85.111   19.676  

 
 255.540   7.355   169.163   684   177.202   78.338  

*Collateral securities are stated at forced sale value capped to the carrying amount of loans and   

  advances. 
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The table below discloses the accumulated impairment losses on the value of loans and advances as per 

IFRS 9. Amounts of 2017 represent the impairment losses under IAS39 measurement basis. 

Provisions for impairment of doubtful accounts on loans and advances 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 

POCI: Purchased or originated as Credit Impaired 

 

During 2018 exposures of €5.894 thousand were written off (2017: €15.867 thousand). 

 2018 2017 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total Total 

 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 

       

1 January 1.470 1.231 59.809 193 62.703 66.272 

Impact of adopting IFRS 

9 at 1 January 2018            122         1.974            859             200         3.155              N/A 

Restated balance at 1 

January 1.592 3.205 60.668 393 65.858 66.272 

Transfer from Stage 1 to 

Stage 2 (13) 13        -       -       - N/A 

Transfer from Stage 1 to 

Stage 3 (27)        - 27        -       - N/A 

Transfer from Stage 2 to 

Stage 3        - (610) 610        -       - N/A 

Transfer from Stage 3 to 

Stage 2        - 359 (359)        -       - N/A 

Transfer from Stage 2 to 

Stage 1 498 (498)  -        -       - N/A 

Transfer from Stage 3 to 

Stage 1 46       - (46)        -       - N/A 

Exchange differences       -       - 9        - 9 (100) 

Loans and advances 

written off (53) (60) (5.789)        - (5.902) (15.867) 

Charge/(reversal) for 

the year (19) (882) 7.905 (362) 6.642 12.398 

Previously written off 

now recovered                  -                  -            (32)                  -            (32)                   - 

31 December         2.024        1.527       62.993              31      66.575       62.703 
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Credit quality of Group assets exposed to credit risk other than loans and advances to Customers - 

analysis by rating agency designation  

Balances with central banks and other banks 

Balances with central banks and other banks are analysed by Moody's rating as follows: 

 

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Aaa – Aa3  1.555   12.757   1.555   12.757  

A1 – A3  15.588   53.712   15.588   53.712  

Baa1 – Baa3 10.667  -  10.667  -  

Ba1 – Ba3     200.797   96.217      200.797   96.217  

B1 – B3 1.816  -  1.780  -  

Caa – C  -   52.255   -   52.255  

Unrated  142   722   42   627  

  230.565   215.663   230.429   215.568  

38.2 Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices - namely from changes in interest 

rates, exchange rates and security prices. 

38.2.1 Price risk  

Equity securities price risk  

The risk of loss from changes in the price of equity securities arises when there is an unfavourable 

change in the prices of equity securities held by the Group as investments. 

Investments in equities are outside the Group’s risk appetite.  The current portfolio of equity 

investments comprises mainly of holdings in two companies listed in the Cyprus Stock Exchange.  The 

prices of equity investments are being monitored by the Group on a continuous basis.    

Equity investments are stated in the financial statements at their assessed fair value which takes into 

account possible losses that may arise in relation to specific investments. A change in the value of 

equity investments classified as “available-for-sale” affects the equity of the Group.  The Group's policy 

relating to revaluation of equity investments at their assessed fair value is stated in note 3 to the 

financial statements.  
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The table below indicates how the equity of the Group will be affected from a change in the price of the 

equity investments held, as a result of reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock exchange 

indices or change in the book value of unlisted equity investments. 

THE GROUP 

 

 2018 2017 

 

Carrying 

amount 

Change in 

Index or 

Book 

Value 

Effect on 

equity 

Carrying 

amount 

Change in 

Index or 

Book 

Value 

Effect on 

equity 

 €'000 % €'000 €'000 % €'000 

Equity securities available for sale       

  Listed  996  +20  199  978 +20  196  

  Unlisted  -  +25  -   -  +25  -  

       

  Listed  996  -20  (199)  978 -20  (196)  

  Unlisted  -  -25  -   -  -25  -  

 

THE BANK 

 2018 2017 

 

Carrying 

amount 

Change in 

Index or 

Book 

Value 

Effect on 

equity 

Carrying 

amount 

Change in 

Index or 

Book 

Value 

Effect on 

equity 

 €'000 % €'000 €'000 % €'000 

Equity securities available for sale       

  Listed  673  +20  135   671  +20  134  

  Unlisted      - +25     -     - +25     - 

       

  Listed  673  -20  (135)   671  -20  (134)  

  Unlisted     - -25     -     - -25     - 
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Concentration of equity securities 

 

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

By sector     

  Services  782   764   459   457  

  Other sectors  214   214   214   214  

  996   978   673   671  

Debt securities price risk 

Debt securities price risk is the risk of loss as a result of adverse changes in the prices of debt securities 

held by the Bank. Debt security prices change as the credit risk of the issuer changes and/or as the 

interest rate changes for fixed rate securities.  The Bank invests a significant part of its liquid assets in 

debt securities.  The current portfolio of debt securities is designated at FVOCI, hence changes in the 

value of securities affect the equity of the Group.  The Group’s policy relating to valuation of debt 

securities, is stated in note 3 to the financial statements.  

The table below shows the impact on the equity of the Bank and the Group from reasonably possible 

changes in the price of the debt securities held, based on observations of changes in credit risk over the 

past years.  

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 

 

 2018 2017 

 

Carrying 

amount 

Change in 

market 

prices 

Effect on 

equity 

Carrying 

amount 

Change in 

market 

prices 

Effect on 

equity 

 €'000 % €'000 €'000 % €'000 

Debt Securities       

  For A3 and above rated bonds 41.511 +3% 1.245  9.626 +3%  289  

  For below A3 rated bonds 38.203 +10% 3.820  41.045 +10%  4.105  

       

  For A3 and above rated bonds 41.511 -3% (1.245)  9.626 -3%  (289)  

  For below A3 rated bonds 38.203 -10% (3.820)  41.045 -10%  (4.105)  
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Concentration of debt securities 

THE GROUP AND THE BANK  THE BANK 

   2018 2017 

   €'000 €'000 

By sector     

  Governments    79.622   41.045  

  Banks    -   9.626  

  Other sectors    -   -  

    79.622   50.671  

By country     

  Cyprus    79.622   41.045  

  Great Britain    -   4.285  

  United States of America    -   4.297  

  Norway    -   1.044  

    79.622   50.671  

     

38.2.2 Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk arises as a result of changes in the rates of interest and re-pricing timing mismatches 

on assets and liabilities. The Group closely monitors fluctuations in interest rates on a continuous basis 

and the relationship of assets and liabilities, which are subject to interest rates fluctuations, and takes 

measures to contain to acceptable levels the effects of these changes on the Group's profitability. 

Interest rate risk is measured using interest rate sensitivity gap analysis, where the annual impact of any 

change in interest rates on profit is calculated by multiplying the net asset or liability position re-pricing 

in each time band with the assumed change in interest rates. 
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The interest rate sensitivity gap analysis indicating the effect on the Group's and on the Bank's profit of 

changes in interest rates is shown in the tables below: 

 
THE GROUP 

2018 

Up to one 

month 

Between 

one and 

three 

months 

Between 

three 

months 

and one 

year 

Between 

one and 

five years 

Over five 

years 

Non-interest 

bearing Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

ASSETS        

Cash and balances with central banks  200.795   -   -   -   -   1.202   201.997 

Balances with other banks  28.121   750   -   899   -   -   29.770  

Derivatives - - 128 - - - 128 

Loans and advances 106.612 19.442 120.395 - - - 246.449 

Investments in equities  -   -   -   -   -   996   996  

Investments in debt securities  8.720   6.959   9.856  27.229   26.858   -   79.622  

Assets of subsidiary company under wind up  3.834   -   - -  -   192   4.026  

Premises and equipment  -   -   -   -   -   6.456   6.456  

Intangible assets  -   -   -   -   -   1.065   1.065  

Receivables and other assets  -   -   -   -   -       16.628   16.628  

Total assets  348.082   27.151   130.379   28.128   26.858       26.539   587.137  

        

LIABILITIES & EQUITY        

Bank borrowings  4.013   -   -   -   -  -  4.013  

Client deposits  349.083  44.091 121.313 1.503   -      515.990 

Liabilities of subsidiary company under wind up  -   -   -   -   -  27 27 

Deferred taxation  -   -   -   -   -   329   329  

Accruals and other liabilities  -   -   -   -   -   25.521   25.521  

Loan capital  -   -   -   -   -   5.000   5.000  

Share capital  -   -   -   -   -   35.164   35.164  

Reserves  -   -   -   -   -      1.093   1.093  

Total liabilities and equity  353.096   44.091   121.313   1.503   -    67.134   587.137  

Net position  (5.014)   (16.940)   9.066   26.625   26.858     (40.595)   -  

Change in interest rates  -1% - effect on profit                50             169             (91)          (266)          (269)                    -           (407) 

Change in interest rates  +1% - effect on profit             (50)          (169)               91            266            269                     -             407 



  

  

  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

38.  RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

38.2 Market Risk (continued) 

38.2.2 Interest rate risk (continued) 

Annual report 2018 | 117  

 

 
THE GROUP 

2017 
Up to one 

month 

Between 

one and 

three 

months 

Between 

three 

months and 

one year 

Between 

one and five 

years 

Over five 

years 

Non-interes

t bearing Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

ASSETS        

Cash and balances with central banks  96.211   -   -   -   -   642   96.853  

Balances with other banks  68.558   50.000   -   894   -   -   119.452  

Loans and advances  139.384   13.023   103.133   -   -   -   255.540  

Investments in equities  -   -   -   -   -   978   978  

Investments in debt securities  -   19.350   -   9.626   21.695   -   50.671  

Premises and equipment  -   -   -   -   -   6.622   6.622  

Intangible assets  -   -   -   -   -   616   616  

Assets of subsidiary company held for sale  4.220   -   -   -   -   3.318   7.538  

Receivables and other assets  -   -   -   -   -   5.752   5.752  

Total assets  308.373   82.373   103.133   10.520   21.695   17.928   544.022  

        

LIABILITIES & EQUITY        

Bank borrowings  -   -   2.001   -   -   -   2.001  

Client deposits  263.170   63.061   149.067   5.340   -   -   480.638  

Deferred taxation  -   -   -   -   -   319   319  

Liabilities of subsidiary company held for sale  14   204   2.070   15   -   837   3.140  

Accruals and other liabilities  -   -   -   -   -   10.674   10.674  

Loan capital  -   -   -   -   -   5.000   5.000  

Share capital  -   -   -   -   -   35.164   35.164  

Reserves  -   -   -   -   -   7.086   7.086  

Total liabilities and equity  263.184   63.265   153.138   5.355   -   59.080   544.022  

Net position  45.189   19.108   (50.005)   5.165   21.695   (41.152)   -  

Change in interest rates  -1% - effect on profit  (452)   (191)   500   (52)   (217)   -   (412)  

Change in interest rates  +1% - effect on profit  452   191   (500)   52   217   -   412  
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THE BANK 

2018 

Up to one 

month 

Between 

one and 

three 

months 

Between 

three 

months 

and one 

year 

Between 

one and 

five years 

Over five 

years 

Non-intere

st bearing Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

ASSETS        

Cash and balances with central banks  200.795   -   -   -   -   1.202   201.997  

Balances with other banks  27.985   750   -   899   -   -   29.634  

Derivatives                -                 - 128                -                -                - 128 

Loans and advances  106.612   19.442   120.395   -   -   -   246.449  

Investments in equities  -   -   -   -   -   673   673  

Investments in debt securities  8.720   6.959   9.856   27.229   26.858   -   79.622  

Subsidiary company held for sale  -   -   3.999   -   -   -   3.999  

Investments in subsidiary companies  -   -   -   -   -   15.214   15.214  

Premises and equipment   -   -   -   -   -   6.445   6.445  

Intangible assets  -   -   -   -   -   1.055   1.055  

Receivables and other assets  -   -   -   -   -   1.404  1.404 

Total assets  344.112   27.151   134.378   28.128   26.858   25.993   586.620  

        

LIABILITIES & EQUITY        

Bank borrowings  4.013   -   -   -   -   -   4.013  

Client deposits  349.083   44.091   121.313   1.503   -   -   515.990  

Deferred taxation  -   -   -   -   -   329   329  

Accruals and other liabilities  -   -   -   -   -   25.194   25.194  

Loan capital  -   -   -   -   -   5.000   5.000  

Share capital  -   -   -   -   -   35.164   35.164  

Reserves  -   -   -   -   -   930   930  

Total liabilities and equity  353.096   44.091   121.313   1.503   -   66.617   586.620  

Net position  (8.984)   (16.940)   13.065   26.625  
 

 26.858  
 

 (40.624)   -  

Change in interest rates  -1% - effect on profit  90   169   (131)   (266)   (269)   -   (407)  

Change in interest rates  +1% - effect on profit  (90)   (169)   131  266   269   -   407  
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THE BANK 

2017 

Up to one 

month 

Between 

one and 

three 

months 

Between 

three 

months 

and one 

year 

Between 

one and 

five years 

Over five 

years 

Non-intere

st bearing Total 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

ASSETS        

Cash and balances with central banks  96.211   -   -   -   -   642   96.853  

Balances with other banks  69.357   50.000   -   -   -   -   119.357  

Loans and advances  139.384   13.023   103.133   -   -   -   255.540  

Investments in equities  -   -   -   -   -   671   671  

Investments in debt securities  -   19.350   -   9.626   21.695   -   50.671  

Subsidiary company held for sale  -   -   2.509   -   -   1.889   4.398  

Investments in subsidiary companies  3.645   -   -   -   -   866   4.511  

Premises and equipment  -   -   -   -   -   6.597   6.597  

Intangible assets  -   -   -   -   -   616   616  

Receivables and other assets  -   -   -   -   -   1.101   1.101  

Total assets  308.597   82.373   105.642   9.626   21.695   12.382   540.315  

        

LIABILITIES & EQUITY        

Bank borrowings  -   -   2.001   -   -   -   2.001  

Client deposits  263.170   63.061   149.067   5.340   -   -   480.638  

Deferred taxation  -   -   -   -   -   319   319  

Accruals and other liabilities  -   -   -   -   -   10.309   10.309  

Loan capital  -   -   -   -   -   5.000   5.000  

Share capital  -   -   -   -   -   35.164   35.164  

Reserves  -   -   -   -   -   6.884   6.884  

Total liabilities and equity  263.170   63.061   151.068   5.340   -   57.676   540.315  

Net position  45.427   19.312   (45.426)   4.286   21.695   (45.294)   -  

Change in interest rates  -1% - effect on profit  (454)   (193)   454   (43)   (217)   -   (453)  

Change in interest rates  +1% - effect on profit  454   193   (454)   43   217   -   453  
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Currency risk from adverse movements in the rates of exchange arises when there is a net currency 

position (asset or liability) in one or more currencies. Net currency positions are monitored on a 

continuous basis and the Group takes such measures so that this risk is contained within acceptable 

limits.  The foreign exchange position limits prescribed by the Central Bank of Cyprus are adhered to. 

 

THE GROUP 2018 2017 

 

Net open 

position 

Change in 

exchange 

rates 

Effect on 

profits 

Net open 

position 

Change in 

exchange 

rates 

Effect on 

profits 

Currency €'000 % €'000 €'000 % €'000 

  US Dollar 153 +10  15  (39)  +10  (4)  

  British Pound (19) +10  (2)  (60)  +10  (6)  

  Russian Rouble (29) +30  (9)  (149)  +30  (45)  

  Other currencies (38) +10  (4)  (37)  +10  (4)  

       

  US Dollar 153 -10  (15)  (39)  -10  4  

  British Pound (19) -10  2  (60)  -10  6  

  Russian Rouble (29) -30  9  (149)  -30  45  

  Other currencies (38) -10  4  (37)  -10  4  

 

THE BANK 2018 2017 

 

Net open 

position 

Change in 

exchange 

rates 

Effect on 

profits 

Net open 

position 

Change in 

exchange 

rates 

Effect on 

profits 

Currency €'000 % €'000 €'000 % €'000 

  US Dollar 153 +10  15  (39)  +10  (4)  

  British Pound (19) +10  (2)  (60)  +10  (6)  

  Russian Rouble (29) +30  (9)  (108)  +30  (32)  

  Other currencies (38) +10  (4)  (37)  +10  (4)  

       

  US Dollar 153 -10  (15)  (39)  -10  4  

  British Pound (19) -10  2  (60)  -10  6  

  Russian Rouble (29) -30  9  (108)  -30  32  

  Other currencies (38) -10  4  (37)  -10  4  
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38.3 Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk refers to possible losses that may be incurred due to a potential inability of the Group to 

meet fully or promptly its cash flow obligations. This risk includes the possibility that the Group may have 

to raise funding at higher cost.  

The Group's banking business requires a steady flow of funds, both to replace existing deposits as they 

mature and to satisfy customer requests for additional borrowings. Undrawn borrowing facilities are also 

taken into consideration in managing the liquidity position. 

Treasury manages liquidity risk on a continuous basis by closely monitoring the relationship between cash 

flow obligations and liquid assets and timely action is being taken to secure financial resources to meet the 

Group's funding requirements. The Group maintains at all times adequate amounts of cash and other 

highly liquid assets. 

Key liquidity ratios 

The Group must comply, among others, with the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) as per the provisions of the 

Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/61.  The LCR was in effect from 1 October 2015 with a 

regulatory limit of 60% increasing to 100% from 1 January 2018 when the full phase-in of the requirement 

is applied.  

LCR is calculated as the ratio of high quality liquid assets over the expected net liquidity outflows during 

the next 30 days, as these net outflows are specified under a stress test scenario. At times of stress, 

institutions may use their liquid assets to cover their net liquidity outflows.  The LCR of the Group as at 31 

December 2018 was 253% (31 December 2017: 416%) and the Bank 220% (31 December 2017: 413%).  

An analysis of financial liabilities as at 31 December according to their residual contractual maturities is 

as follows: 

THE GROUP 

2018 

On demand 

and up to 

one month 

Between 

one and 

three 

months 

Between 

three 

months 

and one 

year 

Over one 

years 

Carrying 

amount 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

LIABILITIES      

  Bank borrowings  -   -   403   3.610   4.013  

  Client deposits  325.578   63.995  124.913  1.504  515.990  

  Liabilities of subsidiary under voluntary wind up  -   -   27   -   27  

  Deferred taxation  -   -   -   329   329  

  Accruals and other liabilities  23.373   342  -   1.806  25.521  

    348.951   64.337  125.343  7.249  545.880  

OFF BALANCE SHEET      

  Guarantees issued  2.754   1.391  10.689  16.787  31.621  

  Undrawn facilities  2.700   4.602  17.121  15.218  39.641  

  5.454   5.993   27.810   32.005   71.262  
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38.3 Liquidity Risk (continued) 

 

THE GROUP 

2017 

On demand 

and up to 

one month 

Between 

one and 

three 

months 

Between 

three 

months 

and one 

year 

Over one 

years 

Carrying 

amount 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

LIABILITIES      

  Bank borrowings  -   -   201   1.800   2.001  

  Client deposits  263.169   63.061   149.067   5.340   480.637  

  Liabilities of subsidiary company held for sale  774   218   2.070   78   3.140  

  Deferred taxation  -   -   -   319   319  

  Accruals and other liabilities  9.460   -   -   1.214   10.674  

  273.403   63.279   151.338   8.751   496.771  

      

OFF BALANCE SHEET       

  Guarantees issued  780   1.945   9.947   8.630   21.302  

  Undrawn facilities  2.457   4.958   19.458   10.845   37.718  

  3.237   6.903   29.405   19.475   59.020  

 

THE BANK 

2018 

On demand 

and up to 

one month 

Between 

one and 

three 

months 

Between 

three 

months 

and one 

year 

Over one 

years 

Carrying 

amount 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

LIABILITIES      

  Bank borrowings  -   -   403   3.610   4.013  

  Client deposits  325.578   63.995  124.913  1.504  515.990  

  Deferred taxation  -   -   -   329   329  

  Accruals and other liabilities  23.373   342  -   1.479  25.194  

   348.951   64.337  125.316  6.922  545.526  

OFF BALANCE SHEET      

  Guarantees issued  2.754   1.391  10.689  16.787  31.621  

  Undrawn facilities  2.700   4.602  17.121  15.218  39.641  

  5.454   5.993   27.810   32.005   71.262  
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38.3 Liquidity Risk (continued) 

THE BANK (continued) 

2017 

On demand 

and up to 

one month 

Between 

one and 

three 

months 

Between 

three 

months 

and one 

year 

Over one 

years 

Carrying 

amount 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

LIABILITIES      

  Bank borrowings  -   -   201   1.800   2.001  

  Client deposits  263.169   63.061   149.067   5.340   480.637  

  Accruals and other liabilities  9.460   -   -   849   10.309  

  263.169   63.061   149.268   7.140   482.638  

OFF BALANCE SHEET      

  Guarantees issued  780   1.945   9.947   8.630   21.302  

  Undrawn facilities  2.457   4.958   19.458   10.845   37.718  

  3.237   6.903   29.405   19.475   59.020  

 

Encumbered assets 

Balances with other banks as at 31 December 2018 include an encumbered amount of €899 thousand 

used to cover collateral required for trade finance transactions and guarantees issued for clients (31 

December 2017: €894 thousand).   

38.4 Operational risk  

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from a variety of causes associated with the Group's processes, 

personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from other external events. It is inherent in every 

business organisation and covers a wide range of issues. 

The Group establishes policies and procedures for managing operational risk and ensures that these are 

adhered to in the conduct of the Group's operations. Operational risk is managed by establishing 

internal processes and controls involving: 

• Segregation of duties, including independent authorisation of transactions, the reconciliation 

and monitoring of transactions, documentation of controls and procedures; 

• Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements; 

• Development of business continuity plans and disaster recovery plans; 

• Personnel training; 

• Risk mitigation by taking out insurance cover. 
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38.4 Operational risk (continued) 

Internal Audit has the responsibility of reviewing periodically the above procedures and controls.  

Business Continuity Plans and Disaster Recovery Plans have been developed by the Group and are 

regularly updated and tested to ensure continuity and timely recovery of operations after a potentially 

catastrophic event. 

38.5 Capital management  

The Central Bank of Cyprus (CBC) sets and monitors capital requirements for the Group and for the Bank. 

The individual capital requirements of the subsidiary company JSC cdbbank are set and monitored by the 

Central Bank of the Russian Federation. The capital requirements of the subsidiary company Global 

Capital Securities and Financial Services Ltd are set and monitored by the Cyprus Securities and Exchange 

Commission. All Group subsidiaries adhere to the mandatory capital requirements of the respective 

supervisory authorities. 

The CBC requires the Group to maintain a prescribed capital adequacy ratio, which is the ratio of total 

eligible capital to total risk-weighted assets, in accordance with Regulation (EU) no. 575/2013 on 

prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms. 

The minimum Pillar I total capital requirement is 8,0% which should be met by at least 6,0% Tier 1 capital 

of which 4,5% minimum Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) capital. The Group is also subject to additional 

capital requirements for risks which are not covered under Pillar I capital requirements. In February 2017, 

in its Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) for 2016, the Central Bank of Cyprus determined 

the additional capital requirements to be met by CET 1 capital to be 5,2% of the Group’s risk weighted 

assets. In addition to the total SREP capital requirement, the Group is also required to maintain a capital 

conservation buffer of 1,875% from 1 January 2018 increasing to 2,5% from 1 January 2019.  For 2018 the 

Group was required to maintain on a consolidated basis, a minimum CET 1 ratio of 11,575% (12,20% from 

1 January 2019) and a total capital adequacy ratio of 15,075% (15,70% from 1 January 2019).   

The Group's CET 1 ratio as at 31 December 2018 stood at 12,34% and was above the minimum required 

ratio while the total capital adequacy ratio stood at 13,95% and was below the minimum capital 

requirement set by the Central Bank of Cyprus. The Directors and Management of the Group closely 

monitor and manage its capital through actions that optimize capital usage.  To this end, Management 

developed a Financial and Capital Plan (the ‘Plan’), which was approved by the Management Body in 

March 2019.  The main objectives of the Plan were to enhance the Group’s capital adequacy through a 

rights issue and a number of management actions to ensure that it maintains sufficient resources and 

capital to support its current activities.  In line with the Plan, the Group is expected to continue its de-

risking strategy and efforts to successfully resolve the residual NPEs.  The IFRS 9 impact on a fully phased-

in basis is also considered within the Plan.   

On 12 March 2019, an Extraordinary General Meeting of the shareholders of the Bank was held, whereby 

a resolution for an increase of the Bank’s Capital by €4,3 million was approved.  On 22 March 2019, the 

Bank’s shareholders subscribed to an amount of €3,3 million towards the Bank’s capital.  The remaining 

unallocated capital of €1 million was committed and subscribed through a private placement by a local 

institutional investor on 12 June 2019.   
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38.5 Capital management (continued) 

Currently the Group is ahead of its Capital Plan with better than anticipated financial performance which 

may be attributed to an improved macroeconomic and legal environment regarding NPEs which 

facilitates the resolution of legacy assets as well as the lower than anticipated losses from discontinued 

operations. The 2019 capital increase of €4,3 has contributed towards the improvement of the Group’s 

overall capital adequacy ratio to c.€15,70%. The combined effect of the 2019 capital increase and the 

profitability of the Group to this date, have contributed towards the improvement of the Group’s overall 

capital adequacy ratio to c. 16,7%. 

Additional information on regulatory capital is disclosed in the Pillar 3 Disclosures Report, which is 

available on the Group’s website www.cdb.com.cy . 

The Group's regulatory capital is analysed as follows: 

Common Equity 

Tier I Capital: 

It includes share capital, share premium, retained earnings, current year's profits, 

revaluation and other reserves. Intangible assets and deferred tax assets that rely on 

future profitability and do not arise from temporary differences are deducted from 

Common Equity Tier I Capital subject to transitional provisions. 

Additional  

Tier I Capital: 

It includes the Perpetual Unsecured Subordinated Note. 

The Group and the Bank adopted the Standardised Approach for credit risk and market risk and the Basic 

Indicator Approach for operational risk. 

The Group's and the Bank's regulatory capital position as at 31 December was as follows: 

 THE GROUP THE BANK 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Regulatory capital     

  Common equity Tier I capital  38.412   41.503   38.380   41.432  

  Additional Tier I capital   5.000   5.000   5.000   5.000  

  Total regulatory capital   43.412   46.503   43.380   46.432  

Risk weighted assets     

  Credit risk  285.790   300.921   289.188   302.476  

  Market risk  -   -   -   -  

  Operational risk  25.313   24.550   24.718   22.750  

  Credit value adjustment  138   -   138   -  

  Total risk weighted assets  311.241   325.471   314.044   326.226  

CET1 Capital ratio   12,34%   12,75%   12,22%   12,70%  

T1 Capital ratio  13,95%   14,29%   13,81%   14,23%  

Total capital adequacy ratio  13,95%   14,29%   13,81%   14,23%  
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38.6 Leverage Ratio Requirements  

The Basel III framework introduced the leverage ratio as a non-risk based measure which is intended to 

restrict the build-up of excessive leverage from on and off balance sheet items in the banking sector.  

The leverage ratio is defined as Tier 1 capital divided by the total exposure measure and is a binding 

requirement as from 1 January 2018.  The leverage ratio is submitted to the regulatory authorities on a 

quarterly basis.   

The Leverage Ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2018 was 6,94% (31 December 2017: 8,12%), and 

the Bank 6,95% (31 December 2017: 8,17%), significantly above the 3% minimum threshold applied by 

the competent authorities. 

39.  CATEGORISATON OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

THE GROUP      

 

Carrying 

amount 

Securities 

classified 

at FVTPL 

Amortised 

cost 

Securities 

classified 

at FVOCI 

Other 

amortised 

cost 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

31 December 2018      

Assets      

Cash and Balances with Central Banks 201.997                  - 201.997                  -                  - 

Balances with other Banks 29.770                  - 29.770                  -                  - 

Derivatives 128 128                   -                  - 

Loans and advances  246.449                  - 246.449                  -                  - 

Equity investments 996                  -                  - 996                  - 

Debt securities          79.622                  -                     -           79.622                  -    

        488.962              128      478.216        80.618                  -    

Liabilities      

Bank borrowings 4.013                  -                  -                  - 4.013 

Client deposits 515.990                  -                  -                  - 515.990 

Loan capital             5.000                  -                     -                     -               5.000 

        525.003                  -                     -                     -         525.003 

      

31 December 2017      

Assets      

Cash and Balances with Central Banks 96.853                  - 96.853                  -                  - 

Balances with other Banks 119.452                  - 119.452                  -                  - 

Loans and advances  255.540                  - 255.540                  -                  - 

Equity investments 978                  -                  - 978                  - 

Debt securities         50.671                  -                     -           50.671                  -    

      523.494                  -         471.845        51.649                  -    

Liabilities      

Bank borrowings 2.001                  -                  -                  - 2.001 

Client deposits 480.638                  -                  -                  - 480.638 

Loan capital         5.000                  -                     -                     -              5.000 

      487.639                  -                     -                     -         487.639  
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39.  CATEGORISATON OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)  

THE BANK      

 

Carrying 

amount 

Securities 

classified 

at FVTPL 

Amortised 

cost 

Securities 

classified 

at FVOCI 

Other 

amortised 

cost 

 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

31 December 2018      

Assets      

Cash and Balances with Central Banks 201.997                  - 201.997                  -                  - 

Balances with other Banks 29.634                  - 29.634                  -                  - 

Derivatives 128 128                   -                  - 

Loans and advances  246.449                  - 246.449                  -                  - 

Equity investments 673                  -                  - 673                  - 

Debt securities    79.622                  -                     -           79.622                  -    

 558.503             128      478.216        80.618                  -    

      

Liabilities      

Bank borrowings 4.013                  -                  -                  - 4.013 

Client deposits 515.990                  -                  -                  - 515.990 

Loan capital       5.000              -                     -                     -            5.000 

  525.003                  -                     -                     -         487.639  

      

31 December 2017      

      

Assets      

Cash and Balances with Central Banks 96.853                  - 96.853                  -                  - 

Balances with other Banks 119.357                  - 119.357                  -                  - 

Loans and advances  255.540                  - 255.540                  -                  - 

Equity investments 671                  -                  - 671                  - 

Debt securities    50.671                  -                     -          50.671                  -    

 523.092             128      471.750        51.342                  -    

Liabilities      

Bank borrowings 2.001                  -                  -                  - 2.001 

Client deposits 480.638                  -                  -                  - 480.638 

Loan capital      5.000              -                     -                     -            5.000 

  487.639                  -                     -                     -         487.639  
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40.  SHAREHOLDERS  

Following clearances obtained from the authorities, namely the European Central Bank and the Cyprus 

Securities and Exchange Commission, as well as the rejection on 30 April 2018 by the District Court of 

Nicosia, of the application of shareholders Loramina Trading Ltd and Dayarona Trading Ltd for an 

interim order restraining the transfer of their 9.728.869 Class B shares to other shareholders, the Bank 

proceeded with the registration of the transfer of 8.755.982 Class B shares of Loramina Trading Ltd 

and 972.887 Class B shares of Dayarona Trading Ltd to the existing shareholders Path Holdings Ltd, 

Leon Investment S.A., Constantinos Shiacolas, Delphis Investments Ltd, Leonidas Ioannou, Intergaz Ltd, 

Panikos Katsouris and Antonios Yerolemou.  

On 12 March 2019 an Extraordinary General Meeting of the shareholders of the Bank was held, 

whereby a resolution for an increase of the Bank’s Capital by €4,3m was approved.  On 22 March 2019 

the Bank’s shareholders subscribed to an amount of €3,3m towards the Bank’s capital.  The remaining 

unallocated capital of €1m was committed and subscribed through a private placement with by local 

institutional investor on 12 June 2019.  The shareholding structure at 31 December 2018 is shown 

below: 

 

 

 Shareholding 

structure as at 

31.12.2018 

Path Holdings Ltd  17,70%  

Leon Investment S.A.  17,70%  

Constantinos Shiacolas  14,16%  

Delphis Investments Ltd  12,72%  

Leonidas Ioannou  12,72%  

Loramina Trading Ltd  11,34%  

Intergaz Ltd  8,85%  

CLR Investment Fund Public Ltd  2,35%  

Dayarona Trading Ltd  1,26%  

Emerging Financial Partners Ltd  0,96%  

Antonis Yerolemou  0,12%  

Panikos Katsouris  0,12%  

  

On 29 January, 2019 the Central Bank of Cyprus suspended the voting rights of Loramina Trading Ltd 

and Dayarona Trading Ltd on the basis of the fit and proper criteria. 
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41.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

THE GROUP AND THE BANK 

Fees and emoluments of members of the Management Body and key management personnel 

 

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Director emoluments   

Executives   

Salaries  184   225  

Employers contributions for social insurance, etc   15   18  

Retirement benefits  2   14  

Compensation for terminations  165   -  

  366   257  

Non-executives   

  Fees  207   249  

  573   506  

 

Key management personnel emoluments   

Salaries  254   247  

Employers contributions for social insurance, etc   19   18  

Retirement benefits  23   22  

  296   287  

Total  869   793  

 

Key management personnel 

Key management personnel emoluments for 2018 include the remuneration of the General Manager 

Administration and General Manager Banking.  

Key management personnel emoluments for 2017 include the remuneration of the Acting Chief 

Executive Officer for the period of his appointment and the General Manager Administration.  

 

Members of the Management Body and connected persons  

Connected persons include spouses, minor children and companies in which members of the 

Management Body, hold directly or indirectly, at least 20% of the voting rights in a general meeting, or 

act as directors of the entities concerned or have guaranteed credit exposures of such entities. 
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 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Loans and advances  204   293  

Deposits  438   631  

Unutilised limits  57   63  

Interest income for the year  10   11  

Interest expense for the year  3   7  

 

All transactions with members of the Management Body and their connected persons are made on 

normal business terms. 

Key Management personnel who are not Directors and their connected persons  

Connected persons include spouses, minor children and companies in which the key management 

personnel who were not Directors hold, directly or indirectly, at least 20% of the voting rights in a 

general meeting, or act as directors of the entities concerned or have guaranteed credit exposures of 

such entities. 

 2018 2017 

 €'000 €'000 

Loans and advances  193   238  

Deposits  137   53  

Guarantees and unutilised limits  41   16  

Interest income for the year  1   1  

Interest expense for the year  3   5  

 

Transactions with key management personnel are made according to the terms applicable to the rest of 

the personnel of the Bank. 

Balances and transactions with subsidiary companies are disclosed under notes 22 and 23 to the 

financial statements. 
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42.  LITIGATION  

The Bank operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a heightened element of 

litigation risk inherent to its operations.  As at 31 December 2018, there were pending litigations against 

the Bank arising in the ordinary course of the Bank’s business as well as a legal action by two of the 

Bank’s shareholders.  While the outcome of these matters is inherently uncertain the Bank considers, 

based on the information available, that the probability of outflow is remote and therefore no provision 

was recorded against these cases. 

43.  OPERATING ENVIRONMENT  

Cyprus economy continued its positive trajectory in 2018 marking positive economic performance for 

sixteen consecutive quarters since the unprecedented economic crisis of 2013.  For 2018, GDP continued 

expanding albeit with a marginal slowdown and is expected to reach y-o-y 3,8% driven by positive 

developments in domestic demand. A rate that is among the highest in the euro area.  

GDP growth was mainly driven by the strong performance of private consumption and large private 

investments in construction and infrastructure projects, a significant proportion of which is financed by 

foreign capital. During 2018, private consumption grew an annual 3,7%. Over the same period, public 

consumption grew an annual 4,3% while investment in construction increased an annual 19,5%. 

From a sectoral perspective, growth has been broad-based. The sectors with the most important 

contribution to GDP growth in 2018 were trade, transportation, hotels and restaurants construction and 

professional, scientific and administrative activities. The only exception is the financial and insurance 

activities sector reflecting the ongoing deleveraging of loans as the private sector’s balance sheet 

consolidation process continues. The latter has also a positive effect since the deleveraging of loans helps 

reduce high private debt. Among the sectors which contribute to growth, but nevertheless need careful 

monitoring is the real estate sector, especially in Limassol, where prices and rents have been moving at a 

different speed compared to the other areas of Cyprus.  

Public finances have been consolidated to a large extent to secure the sustainability of public debt. The 

fiscal balance recorded a surplus of €344 million (1,8% of GDP) for 2017 compared with a surplus of €59 

million (0,3% of GDP) in the corresponding period in 2016. The preliminary General Government fiscal 

results for 2018, include the fiscal burden of €1,7 billion, that was the result of the sale of the ex-CCB to 

Hellenic Bank, and indicate a deficit of €1,1 billion (-5,1% of GDP) for 2018, as compared to a surplus of 

€344 million for 2017 (1,8% of GDP). Excluding the fiscal burden of ex-CCB, the fiscal balance would 

register a surplus of €611 million (+2,9% of GDP). The fiscal performance of Cyprus, in terms of overall 

and primary balance is currently regarded as satisfactory. The positive outcome reflects the prudent 

execution of the state budget, in line with increased revenues due to the growth of economic activity and 

other non-recurring revenue that resulted from the tax arrears scheme. However, any increase in 

expenditures must be controlled and targeted to avoid fiscal deterioration. 

In line with the positive macroeconomic developments and according to data from the Labour Force 

Survey, unemployment decreased to 7,3% compared with 17,6% in 2015, when it peaked. This is the first 

time  since  2011 Q4  that a  single-digit  unemployment  rate has been recorded.  At  the  same  time,  
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43.  OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (continued) 

employment continues to show strong positive growth. The continued expanding employment across all 

sectors and moderate rising compensation per employee benefitted private consumption. 

The real estate sector impacted positively by recovery of the wider economy and the ongoing 

consolidation of the banking sector continued to show signs of recovery for ten consecutive quarters, 

following a marked drop of 30% peak-to-trough.  The real estate sector at this stage is funded mainly by 

foreign investment (including pre-sales) and partly by new sustainable lending. Demand rose notably in 

the first half of 2018, recording the highest rate since 2013 (3,6%) and prices recorded relatively small 

increases, with the exception of Limassol where apartment prices rose significantly.  The contribution of 

the construction sector to GDP corresponded to 4,4%. 

Inflation continues to remain positive, although at subdued levels at around 0,7%. Inflation reflects, the 

significant increases in energy, unprocessed food and services prices as well as the strong performance 

of tourism related categories.  For 2018 revenue from tourism is estimated at €2,7 billion compared to 

€2,6 billion in the corresponding period of 2017, recording an increase of 2,7%. Inflation remains 

subdued primarily due to significant annual declines in the prices of non-energy industrial goods, from 

increased competition and the ongoing general corrective pattern in the prices of various products.  

The satisfactory performance of the economy is also reflected in the recent upgrade of Cyprus’ sovereign 

rating to investment grade by three international rating agencies. In September 2018, Standard and 

Poor’s upgraded Cyprus’ long-term credit rating “BBB-”, placing the economy on an investment grade 

after six years. Subsequently, in October 2018, Fitch upgraded the rating for the Cyprus sovereign to 

“BBB-” from “BB+”. In July 2018, Moody’s Ratings upgraded the rating for Cyprus sovereign to “Ba2” 

from “Ba3”, two notches below investment grade. Taking advantage of the stable market backdrop and 

the recent rating upgrades, in February 2019, the Republic of Cyprus tapped the international capital 

markets, with an issue of a fifteen-year bond of €1 billion at a yield of 2,75%. 

The banking sector in Cyprus was significantly reformed in 2018 after the business transfer agreement 

between the CCB and Hellenic Bank. The remaining entity of the CCB has been transformed into a 

cooperative asset management company (SEDIPES), a legal entity without a banking license. The balance 

sheet items of the CCB that remained in SEDIPES and are outside the banking system include about one 

third of the NPEs of the total banking sector. This development coupled with the recent sales of loan 

portfolios by other Banks such as Bank of Cyprus and Hellenic Bank, the improvement of the relative 

legislative framework and the implementation of the ESTIA scheme, is expected to place the banking 

sector on a healthier base, contributing further to the consolidation of the banks’ balance sheets. The 

main challenges that the banking sector continues to face, are the relatively high stock of NPEs and their 

negative impact on credit supply, low interest rates and the high operating expenses. However, the 

historically low interest rates environment that is expected to continue prevailing is positive for the 

restructuring of both performing and non-performing loans and the deleveraging efforts of the private 

sector as well as banks’ to balance sheets consolidation, which continues to progress steadily. 

Despite the important steps taken towards restoring the positive economic climate, some degree of 

uncertainty remains. Downside risks to economic growth are associated with a slower-than-projected 

decline in the high level of NPEs, high level of private debt which constrains, to some extent, the granting  
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43.  OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (continued) 

of new loans, high levels of public debt and demand by various groups for higher public spending.  In 

addition, a number of external risks might impact negatively the economic outlook including possible 

deterioration in external demand for services (because of the unfavourable economic situation that may 

prevail due to a hard Brexit), negative economic developments in countries with which Cyprus has strong 

economic tights, negative developments in Italy with spill over effects on other European Countries with 

high public debt, strengthening of the euro against foreign currencies, such as the rouble and sterling, a 

slower than expected growth in Europe and adverse geopolitical developments in the eastern 

Mediterranean region and the Middle East which could negatively affect the prospects of the tourism and 

professional services sectors and foreign investments and therefore economic activity.  
 

Under the baseline scenario, the Cyprus economy is expected to register significant, albeit slightly 

decelerating, annual increases in the period 2019-2021. GDP is expected to grow by 3,7% in 2019, 3,2% in 

2020 and 3,3% in 2021.  The  positive  developments in domestic  economic  conditions, particularly in the 

service sectors, as well as the expected continued gradual increase in wages, are expected to result in 

gradual price increases over the next few years. The GDP growth path mainly reflects the good perfor-

mance of key economic sectors and forecasted growth in domestic demand resulting from increasing 

private consumption due to recovery in disposable income and reduction in unemployment as well as 

rising gross fixed capital formation which is driven by improvement in investors’ expectations regarding 

the investment prospects opening up in the areas of energy, tourism and transport. Improved 

expectations regarding the investment prospects in different sectors, confirm the positive expectations 

regarding the economy’s performance. 

 

 

44.  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD  

Increase of issued share capital 

On 12 March 2019 an Extraordinary General Meeting of the shareholders of the Bank was held, whereby 

a resolution for an increase of the Bank’s Capital by €4,3 million was approved.  On 22 March 2019 the 

Bank’s shareholders subscribed to an amount of €3,3 million towards the Bank’s capital.  The remaining 

unallocated capital of €1 million was committed and subscribed through a private placement by a local 

institutional investor on 12 June 2019. Details are presented in note 33 and 40 to the financial 

statements. 

Changes in the structure of authorised and issued share capital 

At the Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders at 12 March 2019 resolutions were also proposed 

and approved for the conversion of all the Bank’s shares to a single class of ordinary shares in order for 

the Bank’s share capital structure to be simplified.  Subject to the approval of the Court, which was 

obtained on 6 May 2019, the resolutions provided amongst others the reduction of the authorised and 

issued share capital of the Bank as follows:   
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44.  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued) 

A. Reduction of the authorised share capital from €171.000.000 to €140.969.917; and 

B. Reduction of the issued share capital from €35.163.915 to €5.192.271. The amount of €29.971.644 

corresponding to the amount of the reduction of the Company’s issued share capital will be applied 

for writing off accumulated losses of the Bank and the remaining amount will be transferred to a 

capital redemption reserve account in accordance with the provisions of section 64(1)(e) of the 

Companies Law, Cap. 113. 

The authorised and issued share capital of the Bank following completion of all the resolutions proposed 

and approved at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Bank’s shareholders dated 12 March 2019, is 

presented in note 33 to the financial statements. 

 

The consolidated and standalone financial statements were approved and authorised for issue on 28 

June 2019. 
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